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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 

"Common Shares" means the common shares in the capital of the Issuer as constituted on 
October 27, 2021. 

"CEO" means chief executive officer. 

"CFO" means chief financial officer. 

"Issuer", "ThreeD" or “Company” means ThreeD Capital Inc.  

"CSE" means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

“MD&A” means Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
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2. Corporate Structure 

 

2.1 The Issuer's full name is ThreeD Capital Inc. The head and registered office is 
located at 130 Spadina Avenue, Suite 401, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5V 2L4. 

 
2.2 The Issuer was incorporated under the name “Brownstone Resources Inc.” in 1987 

under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. On December 23, 2003, the Issuer 
changed its name to “Brownstone Ventures Inc.” On January 18, 2011, the Issuer 
changed its name to “Brownstone Energy Inc.” The Issuer was continued under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act on December 1, 2011. On June 27, 2016, the 
Issuer changed its name to the current name of the Issuer, “ThreeD Capital Inc.”, and 
consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of 1 “new” 
Common Share for every 10 “old” common shares of the Issuer then issued and 
outstanding. On May 14, 2019, the Issuer consolidated its issued and outstanding 
common shares on the basis of 1 “new” Common Share for every 3 “old” common 
shares of the Issuer then issued and outstanding. On April 27, 2020, the Issuer 
consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of 1 “new” 
Common Share for every 4 “old” common shares of the Issuer then issued and 
outstanding. All figures and comparative figures contained in this Form 2A reflect all 
stock consolidations, retroactively. There have not been any other material 
amendments to the articles or other constating documents of the Issuer. 

 
2.3 As at June 30, 2021, the Issuer has three wholly owned, inactive subsidiaries: 

Blockamoto.io Corp., Brownstone Ventures (Barbados) Inc. and 2121197 Ontario 
Ltd. The corporate organization chart for the Issuer is as follows:   

 
ThreeD Capital Inc.  

(Canada) 

 

 
 

Brownstone  Blockamoto.io Corp.  2121197 Ontario 
Ventures  (Ontario)  Ltd. 

(Barbados) Inc.    (Ontario) 
(Barbados)     

  

 
2.4 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
2.5 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
 

100% 100% 100% 
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3. General Development of the Business 

 
3.1 Details of the events that have influenced the general development of the business 

over the last three completed financial years are provided below. These events include 
past activities of the Issuer as an oil and gas company. The Issuer has since divested 
itself of all of its oil and gas interests and has become an investment, financial advisory 
and venture capital firm focused on opportunistic investments in companies in the 
Junior Resources, Artificial Intelligence and Blockchain sectors. ThreeD’s investment 
strategy is to invest in multiple private and public companies across a variety of 
sectors globally. ThreeD seeks to invest in early stage, promising companies and initial 
coin offerings where it may be the lead investor and can additionally provide investees 
with advisory services, mentoring and access to the Company’s ecosystem. Additional 
information concerning the Issuer's current business is provided in the section entitled 
"Narrative Description of the Business". 

  
 The Issuer used to be a diversified international oil and gas company focused on 

unlocking the value of high-impact projects. All of the Issuer's oil and gas activities 
were conducted jointly with others by entering into exploration agreements with other 
parties, pursuant to which the Issuer would have earned interests in the underlying 
exploration and evaluation of assets by issuing Common Shares, making cash 
payments and/or incurring expenditures in varying amounts by varying dates. Over the 
three most recently completed financial years, the Issuer held interests in Brazil and 
Canada, all as further described below. The Issuer no longer has any exploration and 
evaluation assets. In January 2018, the Issuer commenced its investments in digital 
assets. As at June 30, 2021, the Company held digital assets at fair value less cost to 
sell (“FVLCTS”) totaling $216,635. 

 
Exploration Property Interests 

Brazil 

The Issuer was involved in on-shore Brazil since 2006 when it was awarded the Tucano 
blocks. Since then, the Issuer has had interests in several other on-shore Brazilian blocks. 
During the last several years, the Issuer had limited activity in Brazil and in January 2018, the 
Issuer wound-up its subsidiary in Brazil. 

Canada 

In fiscal year 2005, the Issuer entered into an agreement with Marksmen Energy Limited to 
acquire a 7.0% working interest in a certain petroleum and natural gas well located in the 
Namao South Area of Alberta, Canada. The Issuer believes there is a low probability of 
realization of the asset from the successful development of the property. The well has been 
shut-in for the past several years and the Issuer expects the well to remain shut-in until the 
operator and partners have the available funds to complete needed repairs, do additional 
engineering and operational reviews, and until economic conditions improve. 
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The Issuer previously held a 50% interest in the exploration licenses of the Rimouski and 
Rimouski North properties in the St. Laurent Lowlands, Quebec, which it sold in December 
2016 for gross proceeds of $10,000.  Included in the consolidated statement of income and 
comprehensive income for the year ended June 30, 2017 is other income of $9,997 on the 
sale of the exploration licenses.  In June 2018, the Company was notified that the exploration 
licenses sold in December 2016 were returned to the Company for non-payment of license 
renewals to the Quebec ministry. The Company had no intention of retaining its interest by 
paying the license renewals and as a result, the Company relinquished its 50% interest in the 
exploration licenses of the Rimouski and Rimouski North properties to its 50% partner for nil 
proceeds.  

As at June 30, 2021, the Company has no exploration and evaluation assets. 

Investment Interests 
 

Contemporaneously with the sale of certain property interests in May, 2015, the Issuer 
transitioned from an oil and gas company to an investment, financial advisory and venture 
capital firm with a focus on investing in small companies in the junior resource, technology 
and biotechnology markets. In this regard, the Issuer purchases and sells investments on a 
regular basis both through the public markets and by way of private placements. Investments 
may consist of equity, debt and/or convertible securities, which the Issuer may acquire with a 
view to long-term capital appreciation and/or shorter-term gains, depending on the nature of 
the investment, general economic conditions, and other factors which the Issuer deems 
relevant from time to time.  

 
On November 25, 2020, the Company acquired 1,500,000 units of St-Georges Eco-Mining 
Corp. (“St-Georges”) (CSE: “SX”) at a price of $0.10 per unit for a total cost of $150,000. In 
consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 300,000 common shares of the Company 
at a deemed price of $0.48 per common share and made a cash payment in the amount of 
$6,000. Each unit of St-Georges consists of one common share and one common share 
purchase warrant of St-Georges, with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one 
additional share at an exercise price of $0.185 for a period of two years following the date of 
issuance. 
 
On December 30, 2020, the Company invested US$450,000 in Wuhan General Group (China) 
Inc. (OTC PINK:”WUHN”) (“Wuhan”), a bioceutical company focused on alternative 
plant‐based cannabinoids and psilocybin medical research. The Company acquired 1,500,000 
units at a price of US$0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share of Wuhan and 
one common share purchase warrant exercisable at US$0.30 per warrant. The warrants 
expire three years from the date of issuance. 
 
On January 5, 2021, through two transactions, the Company invested a total of $530,000 in 
Electric Metals (USA) Ltd. (“EML”), a multi-commodity US-based resource company focused 
on their 100% owned Corcoran Canyon Silver Project in Nevada and Emily Manganese 
Project in Minnesota. In the first transaction, the Company acquired 1,000,000 shares of EML 
at a price of $0.20 per share for total proceeds paid of $200,000. In the second transaction the 
Company acquired 1,000,000 subscription receipts of EML at a price of $0.33 per subscription 
receipt for total cost of $330,000. Each subscription receipt entitled the Company to receive 
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one common share of EML and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, with each 
whole warrant exercisable at $0.60 per warrant. The warrants expire two years from the date 
of issuance. EML signed a definitive scheme implementation agreement (the “Agreement), 
effective December 31, 2020, with NBS Capital Inc. (“NBS”). Pursuant to the Agreement, NBS 
acquired all of the shares of EML via share exchange for an equivalent number of NBS 
shares, which resulted in EML becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of NBS. Upon closing of 
the Agreement, NBS changed its name to Nevada Silver Corporation (“Nevada Silver”) 
(TSXV: “NSC”), reflecting the focus of EML on its principal Nevada silver asset. Additionally, 
the CEO of the Company agreed to become Chairman of the Board of Directors of Nevada 
Silver, which took effect during the year ended June 30, 2021 when the Agreement closed. 

 
On January 7, 2021, the Company acquired 600,000 units of ZeU Technologies Inc. (CSE: 
“ZEU”) at a price of $0.25 per unit. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 
185,185 common shares of the Company at a deemed price of $0.81 per common share for 
total value of $150,000. Each unit of ZeU consists of one common share of ZeU and one 
common share purchase warrant of ZeU, with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one 
additional common share of ZeU at an exercise price of $0.35 for a period of two years 
following the date of issuance. 
 
On February 4, 2021, the Company invested $450,000 in Nirvana Life Sciences Inc. 
(“Nirvana”), a life sciences company focused on developing medical products and regimens 
that address addiction. The Company acquired 3,000,000 shares at a price of $0.15 per 
share. As well, the CEO of the Company agreed to become an advisor to Nirvana. 
 
On February 12, 2021, the Company invested in Carl Data Solutions Inc. (“Carl”) (CSE: 
“CRL”), an Industrial IoT (IIoT) and Big Data as a Service (BDaaS) company that provides 
next generation collection, storage, and analytics solutions for data‐centric organizations. The 
Company acquired 2,000,000 units at a price of $0.15 per unit for aggregate proceeds of 
$300,000. Each unit consists of one common share of Carl and one common share purchase 
warrant, exercisable at a price of $0.25 per warrant. The warrants expire two years from the 
date of issuance. 
 
On February 18, 2021, the Company invested in Intellabridge Technology Corporation 
(“Intellabridge”) (CSE: “INTL”) a blockchain technology company focused on developing 
decentralized finance technology solutions. The Company acquired 2,500,000 units at a price 
of $0.15 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $375,000. Each unit consists of one common 
share of Intellabridge and one common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of 
$0.45 per warrant. The warrants will expire two years from the date of issuance. 
 
On March 10, 2021, the Company invested in ePlay Digital Inc. (“ePlay”) (CSE: “EPY”), a 
company focused on developing augmented reality games for sports, esports, and 
entertainment. The Company acquired 3,000,000 units at a price of $0.10 per unit for 
aggregate proceeds of $300,000. Each unit consisted of one common share of ePlay and one 
common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of $0.20 per warrant. The warrants 
expire one year from the date of issuance. The CEO of the Company has also agreed to 
become an advisor to ePlay. 
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On March 10, 2021, the Company invested in AMPD Ventures Inc. (“AMPD”) (CSE: “AMPD”), 
a company that provides high-performance cloud and computing solutions for low-latency 
applications, including video games and eSports, digital animation and visual effects, and big 
data collection, analysis, and visualization. The Company acquired 3,500,000 units at a price 
of $0.15 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $525,000. Each unit consists of one common 
share of AMPD and one common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of $0.25 per 
warrant. The warrants expire three years from the date of issuance. The CEO of Company 
has also agreed to become an advisor to AMPD. 
 
On March 18, 2021, the Company invested in Windfall Geotek Inc. (“Windfall”) (TSXV: WIN), a 
mining technology company and a leader in the use of Artificial Intelligence (AI) and advanced 
knowledge-extraction techniques since 2005 in the mining sector. The Company acquired 
1,000,000 units at a price of $0.35 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $350,000. Each unit 
consisted of one common share of Windfall and one common share purchase warrant, 
exercisable at a price of $0.50 per warrant. The warrants expire two years from the date of 
issuance. 
 
On March 19, 2021, the Company acquired 10,000,000 common shares of Birchtree 
Investments Ltd, a privately held corporation existing under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia, at a price of $0.05 per share. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate 
434,782 common shares of the Company at a price of $1.15 per common share for a total 
value of $500,000. 

 
On August 17, 2020, the Common Shares of the Company commenced trading on the 
OTCQB Venture Market (“OCTQB”). On June 21, 2021, the Company upgraded from the 
OTCQB to the OTCQX Best Market (“OTCQX”), trading under the symbol “IDKFF”. 
 
The Issuer’s investment portfolio is currently comprised of securities of private issuers (30.9%) 
and public issuers (69.1%). The Issuer continues to seek to identify compelling investment 
opportunities in different sectors to offer increase value to shareholders.  
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The fair value and cost of investments are as follows as at June 30, 2021:   
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The fair value and cost of investments are as follows as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Investee Note (a) Description of holdings Cost Fair Value % of Fair 
Value

Imagination Park Technologies Inc. (CSE: IP)

(ii)

1,626,000 common shares
$200,000 convertible debenture
1,500,000 warrants expire May 16, 2021
900,000 warrants expire Aug 24, 2021
4,750,000 warrants expire Oct 5, 2021           295,515        4,684,944             33.9 

GoldSpot Discoveries Corp. (ii) 2,720,941 common shares           213,583           395,489               2.9 
One Bullion Limited (private) (ii) 4,000,000 common shares             53,000           384,100               2.8 
Premium Nickel Resources Corporation 
(private) (ii) 4,086,748 common shares             77,735           254,337               1.8 
SciCann Therapeutics Inc. (private) (ii) 16,000 common shares

1,554 options expire Dec 23, 2024           100,000             86,269               0.6 
Pluto Network Operations Canada Inc. 
(private) (ii) 21,299 common shares             45,154                     -                  -   
Other publicly traded investments        3,493,919        5,183,735             37.6 
Other private investments        2,903,146        2,819,279             20.4 

 $    7,182,052  $  13,808,153           100.0  
 
(a) The Company includes the following investments in its investment disclosure: 
 

(i) Investments in which it is subject to insider or early warning (s101) reporting requirements; or 
(ii) Investments in which one or more of the Issuer’s management and/or director(s) is a director of the investee; or 
(iii) Private investments in which the Issuer owns greater than 10% of the investee. 

 
As at June 30, 2021, the fair value of investments exceeded original cost by $23,474,844 as 
compared to $6,626,101 as at June 30, 2020. As at June 30, 2021, total investments included 
securities of private companies with a fair value totalling $16,954,437 (30.9% of total fair value 
of the Company’s investments; cost of $7,733,813). As at June 30, 2020, total investments 
included securities of private companies with a fair value totalling $5,983,529 (43% of total fair 
value of the Company’s investments; cost of $3,479,035). The fair value was determined in 
accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for private company investments. The 
amounts at which the Company’s private company investments could be disposed of currently 
may differ significantly from their carrying values since there is no active market to dispose of 
these investments. 
 
Digital assets 
 
Digital assets consist of the following: 
 
a. electronic currency, coins, or alternative cryptocurrency coins (altcoins) - a type of 
currency only available in digital form; 
 
b. digital tokens – a representation of a particular asset or utility which are created and 
distributed to the public through an Initial Coin Offering (“ICO”). ICO is a means of 
crowdfunding, though the release of a new token to fund project development similar to an initial 
public offering for stocks; and 

 
c. Simple Agreement for Future Tokens (“SAFT”) – an agreement with a promise to distribute 
tokens to investors in the future (a token presale and not an ICO).  
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Purchases and sales of digital assets are recognized on the day in which the Company and the 
counterparty consummates the transaction. The Company also accepts and receives digital 
currency as consideration for services and in private placement financings. The digital assets 
are recorded on the statement of financial position, as digital assets, at their fair value less cost 
to sell and re-measured at each reporting date.  
 
Realized gains and losses on disposal of digital assets and unrealized gains and losses in the 
value of digital assets are reflected in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss. Upon disposal of a digital currency, previously recognized unrealized gains or losses are 
reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of disposition. Digital 
assets which are traded on an exchange but which are escrowed or otherwise restricted as to 
sale or transfer are recorded at amounts discounted from market value to a maximum of 10%.  
In determining the discount for such digital currency, the Company considers the nature and 
length of the restriction. SAFTs are initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value 
at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of a SAFT may 
(depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more valuation indicators.   
 
All transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of digital currency are 
expensed to the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss as incurred. The 
Company records the revaluation of gains and losses in profit and loss because this is 
considered to be the most fair and accurate presentation of the Company’s operations to the 
users of the financial statements. 
 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting frameworks 
for the accounting for the purchase, sale or exchange of digital assets and management has 
exercised significant judgement in determining appropriate accounting treatment for the 
recognition of revenue transactions in digital assets. In the event authoritative guidance is 
enacted by the IASB, the Company may be required to change its policies which could result in 
a change in the Company’s financial position and earnings. The digital assets are initially 
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at 
each reporting period, the fair value of an investment may (depending upon the circumstances) 
be adjusted using one or more valuation indicators. 
 
The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets as at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 

Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $ 87              $ 1,204         
Digital tokens 822,029    215,431    
SAFTs 1,191,609 -             

$ 2,013,725 $ 216,635     
 
The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets as at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 
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Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $ 91                $ 141              
Digital tokens 767,414       255,769       
SAFTs 1,191,609    -              

$ 1,959,114    $ 255,910        
 
The cost and FVLCTS of the digital assets over $1,000 as at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 

Digital currency Type Quantity Cost Fair Value less 
cost to sell

% of 
FVLCTS

Sense Tokens 32,771,592 223,811$      215,431$       99.4    
Other digital assets under $1,000 1,789,914     1,204              0.6      

2,013,725$   216,635$       100.0   
 
The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets over $1,000 as at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 
 

Digital currency Type Quantity Cost Fair Value less 
cost to sell

% of 
FVLCTS

Sense Tokens 27,056,445 169,197$         255,414$          99.8      
Other digital assets under $1,000 1,789,917        496                   0.2        

1,959,114$      255,910$          100.0     
 
 
3.2 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
3.3 The investments operation of the Issuer’s business involves the purchase and sale of 

securities and digital assets and, accordingly, a significant portion of the Issuer’s 
assets are currently comprised of financial instruments. The use of financial 
instruments can expose the Issuer to several risks inherent to investing, including 
market, credit, and liquidity risks which could have a material adverse effect on the 
value of the Issuer’s assets. 

 
 In addition, there are inherent and higher risks to digital assets including the risk 

associated with traditional securities, which include significant price volatility, the loss 
of the digital assets, fraud and high transaction fees. Digital currency prices are 
affected by various forces including global supply and demand, interest rates, 
exchange rates, inflation or deflation and the global political and economic conditions. 
Digital assets have a limited history and the fair value historically has been very 
volatile. The Company may not be able to liquidate its inventory of digital currency at 
its desired price if required. The Company invests in SAFTs which is an agreement 
with a promise by the company to distribute tokens to investors in the future (ie: a 
token presale and not an ICO). There may be no resale of the SAFT and a 
considerable period of time may elapse between the payment of the SAFT and the 
receipt of the tokens, if at all.  SAFTs are subject to high risks. 
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 The Issuer generates revenue and cash flows primarily from its proceeds from the 

disposition of its investments/digital assets, in addition to interest and dividend income 
earned on the Issuer’s investments. The availability of these sources of funds and the 
amount of funds generated from these sources are dependent upon various factors, 
most of which are outside of the Issuer’s direct control.  

 
 The Issuer acquires securities of public and private companies from time to time, 

which are primarily in the start-up and early stages across various resource and 
technology sectors. The market values of these securities can experience significant 
fluctuations in the short and long term due to factors beyond the Issuer’s control. 
Market value can be reflective of the actual or anticipated operating results of the 
companies and/or the general market conditions as a whole, such as fluctuations in 
commodity prices and global political and economical conditions. The Issuer’s 
investments are carried at fair value, and unrealized gains/losses on the securities and 
realized losses on the securities sold could have a material adverse impact on the 
Issuer’s operating results. In recent years equity markets have experienced extreme 
price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations have had a substantial effect on 
market prices, often unrelated to the operating performance of the specific companies. 

 
 The Issuer invests in securities of private issuers. Investments in private issuers 

cannot be resold without a prospectus, an available exemption or an appropriate ruling 
under relevant securities legislation and there may not be any market for such 
securities. These limitations may impair the Issuer’s ability to react quickly to market 
conditions or negotiate the most favourable terms for exiting such investments. 
Investments in private issuers may offer relatively high potential returns, but will also 
be subject to a relatively high degree of risk.  There can be no assurance that a public 
market will develop for any of the Issuer’s private investments or that the Issuer will 
otherwise be able to realize a return on such investments. The Issuer also invests in 
illiquid securities of public issuers. A considerable period of time may elapse between 
the time a decision is made to sell such securities and the time the Issuer is able to do 
so, and the value of such securities could decline during such period. Illiquid 
investments are subject to various risks, particularly the risk that the Issuer will be 
unable to realize the Issuer’s investment objectives by sale or other disposition at 
attractive prices or otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy. In some cases, 
the Issuer may be prohibited by contract or by law from selling such securities for a 
period of time or otherwise be restricted from disposing of such securities.  
Furthermore, the types of investments made may require a substantial length of time 
to liquidate. 

 
 In March 2020, the global outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the 

World Health Organization. COVID-19 continues to evolve and has had a significant 
impact on businesses through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial 
and municipal governments regarding travel, business operations and 
isolation/quarantine orders. To date, the Company’s operations have not been 
significantly affected by COVID-19 or the restrictions put in place to fight the virus. 
Throughout the year ended June 30, 2021, ThreeD’s employees have worked from 
home and the Company has kept in close contact with its investees to evaluate the 
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impacts of COVID-19 on ThreeD’s investments. While measures, such as vaccines, 
are being used to combat COVID-19, it is still unknown the true extent of the impact 
the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Company as this will depend on future 
developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence. 
These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the ultimate geographic spread of 
the disease, and the duration of the outbreak, including the duration of travel 
restrictions, the effect on investees and business closures or disruptions, and 
quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may be put in place by Canada 
and other countries. The Company continues to monitor its investment and digital 
assets portfolio and assess the impact COVID-19 will have on its business activities. 

 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 

 
4.1 The Issuer previously operated as an oil and gas company since its inception, and in 

the 2015 fiscal year had divested itself of its remaining significant oil and gas interests 
for proceeds of approximately US$1.9 million. Following this divesture, the Issuer's 
primary business is that of an investment, financial advisory and venture capital firm 
focused on investing in small companies in the junior resource, technology and 
biotechnology markets. See 3.1 above. 

 
The Issuer primarily invests in junior opportunities where it can have the greatest 
impact through support mechanisms. From resource investments through to the 
disruptive technologies that are at the forefront of innovation, the Issuer aims to be 
positioned at the earliest possible stage and work with the investee’s management to 
launch concepts from design to reality. 
 
On a going-forward basis, the Issuer anticipates investing primarily in equity, as well as 
digital assets, debt and convertible securities, to hold both longer-term capital 
appreciation and shorter-term gains.  

The milestones set out below must be accomplished to meet the Issuer's business 
objective of becoming a diversified investment company. 

Identify Potential Investments 

The Issuer first identifies junior companies that demonstrate potential, have strong 
management teams and/or are involved with a segment of the market that is 
consistent with or otherwise complimentary to the Issuer's macro position.  

Conduct Due Diligence 

After identifying junior companies that demonstrate investment potential, the Issuer 
conducts due diligence on the individual companies to ensure a strong management 
team is in place. During the due diligence stage, the Issuer evaluates securities of a 
company using an evaluation method consistent with the method used to evaluate 
securities of other issuers in the same industry. In selecting securities for its portfolio, 
the following factors in relation to any particular issuer, are considered: 
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• inherent value of its resource assets or intellectual property (in the case of a 
technology or biotechnology issuer); 

• proven management, clearly-defined management objectives and strong 
technical and professional support; 

• future capital requirements to develop the full potential of its business and the 
expected ability to raise the necessary capital; 

• anticipated rate of return and the level of risk; 
• financial performance; and 
• exit strategies and criteria. 

The diligence review takes place on an ongoing basis as new investment 
opportunities arise. 

Invest 

The final milestone that must be achieved is investing in a company that is 
complimentary to the Issuer's macro position.  

Available Funds 

The costs related to investing consist of internal management and administrative 
costs only. As at June 30, 2021, the Issuer had approximately $53,543,931 in 
working capital that is primarily invested in investments and digital assets. The 
Company may be required to secure additional funding and/or sell some 
investments (some of which are not readily convertible to cash) to continue as a 
going concern and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 

Investment Approach 

The Issuer's investment activities are primarily focused on precious metals and 
disruptive technology. The Issuer will also take advantage of special situations and 
opportunities, as they arise, and make investments in other sectors which the Issuer 
identifies from time to time as offering particular value. The weighing of investments 
among various sectors may change over time, with a view to maximizing the total 
value of the portfolio. The Issuer's investment approach is to develop a macro view of 
a sector, build a position consistent with this view by identifying micro-cap 
opportunities within that sector and devise an exit strategy designed to maximize its 
relative return in light of changing fundamentals and opportunities. 
 
The Issuer’s investment strategy is to invest in multiple private and public companies 
across a variety of sectors primarily in North America. The Issuer seeks to invest in 
early stage, promising companies where it may be the lead investor and can 
additionally provide investees with advisory services, mentoring and access to the 
Issuer’s network in order to earn increases to the Issuer’s equity stake. 
 
Generally, investment activities are passive. However, the Issuer may, from time to 
time, take an active role in the business of companies in which it has equity 
positions, through the provision of strategic advice, board representation and/or 
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other means. The Issuer anticipates that in certain circumstances, it will work with 
management of a portfolio company to help it best take advantage of its prospective 
or currently estimated resources or intellectual property by providing strategic 
counsel in areas such as financing and capital structure, potential acquisitions and 
exit strategies. Occasionally, the Issuer may structure an investment to take an 
initial interest of 20% or more in a company which may or may not also involve the 
provision of advice to management and/or board participation, but does not 
anticipate acquiring an interest of 50% or more in any single company. 

The Issuer generates revenue primarily from gains realized on dispositions of its 
investments/digital assets. Revenue may also be generated from consulting and 
advisory activities, administrative office rental fees, and as dividend and interest 
income earned on investments. 

The objective of the Issuer is to develop an investment portfolio which is comprised 
of securities of public and private issuers primarily in the start-up and early stages 
across various resource and technology sectors. In the natural resource sector, the 
Issuer invests in securities of issuers which have quality proven or prospective 
resources in locations which the Issuer believes is, or will become, amenable to 
development of the resource. In the other sectors, the Issuer invests in securities of 
issuers which it believes has breakthrough intellectual property and other competitive 
advantages in an area with a large potential market. In each case, the Issuer looks 
for seasoned and capable management to be in place. 

Specialized Skills and Knowledge 

The Issuer's business requires specialized skills and knowledge including knowledge 
and experience in the areas of investing, technology, biotechnology and resource 
sectors. The Issuer's directors and management are composed of a team of 
individuals who have extensive expertise in these areas and knowledge in managing 
and investing in companies as the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer of the Issuer are Chartered Accountants and Chartered Professional 
Accountants and the Controller of the Issuer is also a Chartered Professional 
Accountant. The Issuer's performance will be largely dependent on the talents, efforts 
and performance of its senior management and key technical personnel. 

Employees 

As at June 30, 2021, the Issuer had seven individuals who perform management, 
executive and administrative functions.  

Competitive Condition 

The Issuer is neither a mutual fund nor an investment fund but does compete with 
these investment vehicles (for the purposes of investment opportunities), in addition 
to hedge funds, other institutional investors and corporate buyers. Many of these 
competitors have greater financial, technical and other resources than the Issuer. 
However, the Issuer believes that the Issuer's competitive position vis-à-vis these 
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other players is enhanced by virtue of its network of business contacts, the collective 
experience of its management team and its overall entrepreneurial approach, all of 
which contribute to its ability to source, identify and capitalize upon investment 
opportunities relatively quickly. 

4.2  This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

4.3  This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

4.4  This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 

5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Please see the Annual Consolidated Financial Statements of the Issuer for the years 

ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 attached hereto as Appendix A; the Annual 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Issuer for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 
2019 attached hereto as Appendix B. The Issuer has not completed its Interim 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2021 but will 
have it completed by the end of November 2021. 

  The following chart sets forth summary financial data concerning the Issuer for the 
periods noted below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2 Quarterly financial information for each of the Issuer’s eight most recently completed 
financial quarters is summarized below and should be read in conjunction with the 
respective interim consolidated financial statements. The Issuer’s interim consolidated 
financial statements have been posted to the Listings Disclosure Hall on the CSE 
website (www.thecse.ca), filed with regulators and are available for viewing with the 
Issuer’s other public disclosure documents at the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com).   

http://www.cnsx.ca/
http://www.sedar.com/
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5.3 The Issuer has no restrictions on paying dividends. As of the date hereof, the Issuer has 

not declared any cash dividends to its shareholders as part of its capital management 
program and has no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Subject to the 
Canada Business Corporations Act, the directors may from time to time declare and 
authorize payments of dividends as they may deem advisable. All dividends on shares of 
any class or series of shares must be declared and paid according to the number of 
such shares held. 

 
5.4 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 
6.1-6.14 Please refer to Appendix C for the Issuer's Management's Discussion and 

Analysis for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, dated October 27, 2021. 

6.15-6.21 The Issuer has not completed its interim MD&A for September 30, 2021 but will do 
so by the end of November 2021. 

 
7. Market for Securities 

 
7.1 The Common Shares are publicly-traded on the CSE under the symbol "IDK" and on 

the OTCQX Best Market under the stock symbol "IDKFF". 
 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 In July 2021, 82,000 Common Shares, which were bought back during the year ended 

June 30, 2021 were cancelled under the Company’s normal course issuer bid 
(“NCIB”). 

 
 On July 15, 2021, the Company announced its intention to effect a new NCIB (“2021 

NCIB”) through the facilities of the CSE. Pursuant to the NCIB, the Company may, 
during the twelve-month period commencing July 21, 2021, and ending July 20, 2022, 
purchase on the CSE up to 2,316,827 common shares in total, representing 
approximately 5% of the common shares issued and outstanding as of July 15, 2021. 
The price which ThreeD will pay for any such shares will be the market price at the 
time of acquisition. The actual number of common shares which may be purchased 
and the timing of any such purchases will be determined by ThreeD. As at the date of 
this Listing Statement, a total of 1,236,400 common shares have been repurchased 
and cancelled by ThreeD under the 2021 NCIB at an average costs of $1.12 per share 
for total cost of $1,384,584. 

 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, 16,666 and 20,000 stock options with expiration dates 
of May 12, 2025 and September 15, 2025 respectively, were exercised for proceeds of 
$7,667, resulting in the Company issuing 36,666 common shares. 
 
Subsequent to the year ended June 30, 2021, 1,622,000 warrants with an expiration 
date of May 31, 2022, were exercised for total proceeds received of $648,800, 
resulting in the Company issuing 1,622,000 common shares. 

 
As of the date of this updated Listing Statement, the Issuer has 46,758,818 common 
shares issued and outstanding. 
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9. Options to Purchase Securities 

 
9.1 As of the date of this Listing Statement, the following stock options to purchase 

Common Shares are outstanding:  
 

Holder Number of 
Common  

Shares Under  
Option 

Date of Grant Expiry Date Exercise 
Price ($) 

Fair Value of  
Common Shares 
on Date of Grant 

($) 
(1)  All (2) executive 125,000 Jan 16, 2017 Jan 16, 2022 1.80 1.62 

officers and past  
executive officers  
of the Issuer, as 

a group 

125,000 
500,000 
166,666 
138,888 
166,666 
250,000 

1,000,000 
1,000,000 
200,000 

 

       Nov 30, 2017 
Mar 1, 2018 

Sep 14, 2018 
Dec 14, 2018 
Apr 11, 2019 

May 12, 2020 
Sept 15, 2020 
Jan 15, 2021 
Mar 26, 2021 

Nov 30, 2022 
Mar 1, 2023 

Sept 14, 2023 
Dec 14, 2023 
April 11, 2024 
May 12, 2025 
Sept 15, 2025 
Jan 15, 2026 
Mar 26, 2026 

2.52 
1.92 
1.20 
1.20 
1.20 
0.10 
0.30 
0.75 
1.25 

2.52 
1.92 
1.08 
0.84 
0.90 
0.08 
0.25 
0.72 
0.99 
 
 
 

All (5) directors      
and past (2) 
directors (who 
are not also  
executive 
officers) 

31,943 
229,166 
20,833 
62,500 
108,334 
130,000 
300,000 
200,000 

 
 

Jan 16, 2017 
Mar 1, 2018 
Apr 11, 2019 
Sept 18, 2019 
May 12, 2020 
Sept 15, 2020 
Jan 15, 2021 
Mar 26, 2021 

 
   

   
   
   
   
   
   

Jan 16, 2022 
Mar 1, 2023 

Sept 11, 2024 
Sept 18, 2024 
May 12, 2025 
Sept 15, 2025 
Jan 15, 2026 
Mar 26, 2026 

 

1.80 
1.92 
1.20 
0.40 
0.10 
0.30 
0.75 
1.25 

 

1.62 
1.92 
0.90 
0.22 
0.08 
0.25 
0.72 
0.99 

 All executive N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
officers and 
past executive 
officers of the 
subsidiaries of 
the Issuer, as 
a group 

     

All (4) other 
employees and 
past employees 
of the Issuer as 
a group 

 
4,166 
4,166 
9,583 
68,749 
10,416 
30,000 

 

Jan 16, 2017 
Oct 12, 2017 
Nov 16, 2017 

Mar 1, 2018 
Dec 14, 2018 
Sept 15, 2020 

Jan 16, 2022 
Oct 12, 2022 
Nov 16, 2022 
Mar 1, 2023 

Dec 14, 2023 
Sept 15, 2025 

 
1.80 
1.20 
2.40 
1.92 
1.20 
0.30 

 

 
1.62 
1.20 
2.34 
1.92 
0.84 
0.25 
 All other 

employees and 
past employees 
of subsidiaries 
of issuer 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
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All (4) 
consultants of 
the Issuer as a 
group 

 
41,666 
16,666 
50,000 
100,000 
200,000 
300,000 
100,000 

 

 
Jan 16, 2017 
Nov 30, 2017 
Sept 15, 2020 
Nov 19, 2020 

        Mar 26, 2021 
       Aug 11, 2021 

Sep 9, 2021 
 
 

Jan 16, 2022 
Nov 30, 2022 
Sept 15, 2023 
Nov 19, 2023 
Mar 26, 2026 
Aug 11, 2023 
Sep 9, 2024 

1.80 
2.52 
0.30 
0.40 
1.25 
1.13 
1.30 

1.62 
 2.52 
0.26 
0.38 
0.99 
1.02 
1.30 

All other 
persons, as a 
group  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 (1)  The closing price of the Common Shares on the CSE on October 26, 2021 (the last trading date prior to the date of this 

Listing Statement) was $0.93.  
 

 
10. Description of the Securities 

 
10.1  The Issuer's authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares 

without par value. The holders of such Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of 
and to one vote per share at all meetings of shareholders of the Issuer. The Common 
Shares are entitled to dividends in such amounts as the board of directors may from time 
to time declare and in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of 
such are entitled to share pro rata in the assets of the Issuer. 

 
10.2 This does not apply to the Issuer 
 
10.4  This does not apply to the Issuer.  
 
10.5 This does not apply to the Issuer. 

10.6 This does not apply to the Issuer. 
 
10.7  The following table provides a summary of the securities issued by the Issuer during the 

12 months period preceding the date of this Listing Statement.  
 

Date of issue Securities issued Price 
November, 2020 300,000 Common Shares (1) 

December, 2020 1,346,153 Common Shares (2) 

January, 2021 6,683,967Common Shares (3) 

January, 2021 185,185 Common Shares (4) 

February, 2021 5,237,820 Common Shares (5) 

February, 2021 860,248 Common Shares (6) 

March, 2021 434,782 Common Shares (7) 

April, 2021 25,000 Common Shares (8) 

(1) In November 2020, the Company acquired 1,500,000 units of St-Georges Eco-Mining Corp. (CSE: SX) at a price of 
$0.10 per unit for a total cost of $150,000. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 300,000 common 
shares of the Company at a deemed price of $0.48 per common share and made a cash payment in the amount of 
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$6,000. Each unit of St-Georges Eco-Mining Corp. consists of one common share and one common share purchase 
warrant of St-Georges Eco-Mining Corp., with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one additional share at an 
exercise price of $0.185 for a period of two years following the date of issuance. 

(2) The Company issued an aggregate of 1,346,153 Common Shares for the exercise of 1,346,153 warrants with an exercise 
price of $0.40 per warrant for total proceeds received of $538,461.  

(3) The Company issued an aggregate of 6,683,967 Common Shares for the exercise of 6,683,967 warrants with exercise 
prices ranging from $0.15 - $0.40 per warrant for total proceeds received of $1,718,567. 

(4) In January 2021, the Company acquired 600,000 units of ZeU Technologies Inc. (CSE: ZEU) at a price of $0.25 per unit. 
In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 185,185 common shares of the Company at a deemed price of 
$0.81 per common share for total value of $150,000. Each unit of ZeU consists of one common share of ZeU and one 
common share purchase warrant of ZeU, with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one additional common share of 
ZeU at an exercise price of $0.35 for a period of two years following the date of issuance 

(5) The Company issued an aggregate of 5,237,820 Common Shares for the exercise of 5,237,820 warrants with exercise 
prices of $0.20 and $0.40 per warrant for total proceeds received of $1,066,795 

(6) The Company issued an aggregate of 860,248 Common Shares for the exercise of 860,248 stock options with exercise 
prices ranging from $0.10 - $1.80 per option for total proceeds received of $615,947. 

(7) In March 2021, the Company acquired 10,000,000 common shares of Birchtree Investments Ltd, a privately held 
corporation existing under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, at a price of $0.05 per share. In consideration, the 
Company issued an aggregate 434,782 common shares of the Company at a price of $1.15 per common share for a total 
value of $500,000. 

(8) The Company issued an aggregate of 25,000 Common Shares for the exercise of 25,000 stock options with an exercise 
price of $0.10 per option for total proceeds received of $2,500. 

 
The following table provides a summary of the securities sold by the directors and officers of 
the Issuer during the 12 months period preceding the date of this Listing Statement(1). 
 

Month  Total Number of Common Shares Sold Price Range 
January 2021 298,749 $0.71 - $1.25 
February 2021 112,766 $1.17 
March 2021 53,900 $1.31 
May 2021 25,000 $0.74 
September 2021 27,400 $1.07 - $1.41 

(1)  The information concerning such sales, not being within the knowledge of the Issuer, has been obtained from SEDI at 
www.sedi.ca. 

 
The following table provides a summary of the securities sold by the Related Persons (as 
defined in the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange) of the Issuer during the 12 
months period preceding the date of this Listing Statement(1). 
 

Month  Total Number of Common Shares Sold Price Range 
September 2020 757,000 $0.25 – $0.35 
October 2020 400,000 $0.30 
November 2020 150,000 $0.295 - $0.30 
December 2020  915,000 $0.66 - $0.77 
February 2021 648,900 $1.45 - $1.60 
March 2021 421,700 $1.285 - $1.44 

(1)  The information concerning such sales, not being within the knowledge of the Issuer, has been obtained from SEDI at 
www.sedi.ca. 

 
10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year end, the Common 
Shares were listed and posted for trading on the CSE under the symbol “IDK”. 
 



 
 

 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Update - October 2021 
Page 23 

 
  

 
 

 

The following table provides a summary of trading of the Common Shares on the CSE on a 
monthly basis for each month of the current quarter and the immediately preceding quarter, and 
on a quarterly basis for the next preceding seven quarters:  
 

 Price Range and Trading Volume 
 High ($) Low ($) Volume 

October 1 — October 26, 2021 $1.08 $0.93 1,308,430 
September 2021 $1.56 $0.98 2,528,321 
August 2021 $1.42 $0.72 3,002,131 
July 2021 $0.77 $0.55 1,568,486 
Quarter ended June 30, 2021 $0.99 $0.67 4,900,887 
Quarter ended March 31, 2021 $2.36 $0.70 20,995,424 
Quarter ended December 31, 2020 $0.79 $0.18 13,686,601 
Quarter ended September 30, 2020 $0.63 $0.11 20,367,359 
Quarter ended June 30, 2020 $0.14 $0.04 20,311,510 
Quarter ended March 31, 2020 $0.55 $0.01 63,925,225 
Quarter ended December 31, 2019 $0.065 $0.02 13,619,882 

 
11. Escrowed Securities 

 
11.1 As at the date of this Listing Statement, there are no securities of the Issuer in escrow. 
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12. Principal Shareholders  

 
12.1 As at the date of this Listing Statement, and to the knowledge of the directors and 

officers of the Issuer, the only persons or companies who or which beneficially own, 
directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, 10% (on partially-diluted basis) 
or more of the outstanding Common Shares are as follows:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Name 

 
 
 
 

Number of 
securities 

 
 
 
 

Type of ownership 

 
 
 

Percentage of 
Common Shares  

Percentage of 
ownership on a 

fully-diluted 
basis, assuming 

the exercise of all 
warrants and 

options 

Sheldon Inwentash 

4,041,266 
Common Shares 
249,999 warrants 
3,472,220 stock 
options 

 
 
 

Beneficially 
and of record 8.6% 

 
 

13.2% 

Raquel Inwentash 

4,217,131 
Common Shares 
942,102 warrants 

 
 
 

Beneficially 
and of record 9.0% 

 
 

8.7% 

Nicole Inwentash 

5,102,769 
Common Shares 
150,000 warrants 

 
 
 

Beneficially 
and of record 10.9% 

 
 

8.9% 

Lynn Factor 

2,788,000 
Common Shares 
2,104,166 
warrants 

 
 
 
 

Beneficially 
and of record 6.0% 

 
 

8.3% 

 
As at the date of this Listing Statement, to the knowledge of the Issuer, there are no 
voting, trust, or other similar agreements in place. 
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13 Directors and Officers 

 
13.1 The following table sets forth the name and municipality of residence of each director 

and executive officer of the Issuer, position with the Issuer, principal occupation within 
the five preceding years and the number and percentage of securities held by the 
directors and officers of the Issuer. The term of office of each director will expire at the 
end of the next annual meeting of shareholders of the Issuer which is expected to be 
held in June 2021.  

 

Name and Municipality of  
Residence and position with 

Issuer 
Director  

Since 
Principal Occupation for  

Last Five Years 

Number and 
percentage of 
Common Shares 

Beneficially 
Owned or 
Controlled 
directly or 
indirectly(1) 

Sheldon Inwentash, CPA, CA  

Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Chairman and Director 

1988 Chief Executive Officer of the 
Issuer; 
Formerly Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of Pinetree 
Capital Ltd., a Toronto-based 
venture capital company 

4,041,266 (8.6%) 

Alan Myers, F.C.A. (UK) 
Thornhill, Ontario, Canada(2)(3) 
Director 

 

2018 President of Mancunian 
Computer Accounting Inc., an 
accounting firm 

Nil 

Steven Gray 
Kirkland Lake, Ontario, Canada(2)(3) 
Director 

2020 Superintendent of 
Exploration, Detour 
Exploration Project for 
Kirkland Lake Gold Inc.; 
Professional Geoscientist 
operating a mining and 
geological services company;  
Formerly Vice President of 
Northern Sphere Mining Corp, 
a mining company; Director 
and ownership partner of IPR 
Mining Corporation, a mining 
and exploration company. 

9,266 (less than 1%) 
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Wayne V. Isaacs 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada(2)(3) 
Director 

2020 Director & Chief Executive 
Officer of Green Stripes 
Naturals Ltd., a medical 
cannabis company 

Nil 

Jakson Inwentash, 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
Director 

2019 Senior Analyst of the Issuer; 
Formerly an Investment 
Business Analyst at Gravitas 
Securities Inc.; Formerly a 
Wealth Management 
Associate at the Bank of 
Montreal 

3,195,832 (6.8%) 

Gerald Feldman, CPA, CA 
Thornhill, Ontario, Canada 
Director 
 

2021 Managing partner of DNTW 
Toronto LLP, an accounting 
firm; 
Director of GoldSpot 
Discoveries Corp.; 
Former Chief Financial Officer 
and Corporate Secretary of 
the Issuer 

Nil 

Lynn Chapman, CPA, CA 
Calgary, Alberta, Canada 
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate 
Secretary 
 

N/A Chief Financial Officer and 
Corporate Secretary of the 
Issuer 

Nil  

Notes: 
(1) The information as to Common Shares beneficially owned or over which the individual exercise control or 
direction has been provided by the respective directors individually. Based on 46,758,818 Common Shares issued 
and outstanding as of the date hereof. 
(2) Member of the audit committee.  
(3) Member of the compensation committee.  

The directors and officers of the Issuer, as a group, beneficially own, directly or 
indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, an aggregate of 7,237,098 Common 
Shares, representing approximately 15.5% of the issued and outstanding Common 
Shares as of the date of this Listing Statement.   

13.2 Please refer to Section 13.1 for this information. 

13.3 Please refer to Section 13.1 for this information. 

13.4 Please refer to Section 13.1 for this information. 

13.5 Please refer to Section 13.1 for this information. 
 
13.6 This does not apply to the Issuer.  
 
13.7 This does not apply to the Issuer. 
 
13.8 This does not apply to the Issuer. 
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13.9 This does not apply to the Issuer. 
 
13.10 This does not apply to the Issuer. 
 
13.11 Management: 

Sheldon Inwentash – Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director (Age: 66) 

Mr. Inwentash is Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and a director, and has been a 
senior officer with the Issuer for over 26 years. Mr. Inwentash is a Chartered 
Accountant and Chartered Professional Accountant who has over 40 years of 
experience in the investment industry and a deep understanding of progressive 
investment and financial management strategies. Mr. Inwentash estimates he 
devotes approximately 75% of his working time to the affairs of the Issuer. Mr. 
Inwentash has not entered into a non-competition nor a non-disclosure agreement 
with the Issuer.  Mr. Inwentash is an independent consultant of the Issuer. 

Lynn Chapman – Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary (Age: 40) 

Mr. Chapman is a Chartered Accountant and Chartered Professional Account with 
over 13 years of experience in international business in various industries with 
disciplines in finance, accounting, and financial reporting. He has over 10 years of 
experience as a Controller and/or Chief Financial Officer with Canadian public 
companies with international operations. Mr. Chapman is the managing director of 
Lancaster Capital Advisory Corp., where he and his team provide business 
management, accounting, financial reporting and advisory support to a number of 
publicly-listed issuers on the TSX, TSX Venture Exchange, Canadian Stock 
Exchange, and the NEO Exchange as well as to non-listed companies. Currently, Mr. 
Chapman also acts as the Chief Financial Officer of ROK Resources Inc. 
(TSXV:ROK). Mr. Chapman is an independent consultant of the Issuer. 

 
Please also refer to Section 13.1 for further information. 

 
 

14. Capitalization 

14.1 Common Shares as at the date of this Listing Statement:  
 
 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 

%of Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  46,758,818 59,009,648 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
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Related Person of the Issuer, 
or by persons or companies 
who beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position 
in the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than 
a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held)(1) (B) 

 
 
19,354,264 

 
 
32,184,811 

 
 

41.4% 

 
 

54.5% 
 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 27,404,554 26,824,837 58.6% 45.5% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by pooling 
or other arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C)  

 
 
 
- 

 
 
 
- 
 

 
 
 

0.0% 

 
 
 

0.0% 

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 46,758,818 59,009,648 100% 100% 
Note: 
 (1) The information as to Common Shares beneficially owned or over which the individual exercises control or 
direction has been provided by the respective directors, officers, shareholders and employees individually. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 
Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other 
than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders 
only. 
 
The following information is taken from the Issuer’s Registered Holder List as at   
October 22, 2021 as maintained by its registrar and transfer agent:  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  45  618 
     
100 – 499 securities  2  708 
     
500 – 999 securities  1  833 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  1  1,666 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  1  2,500 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  1  3,333 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 
     
5,000 or more  securities  4  27,378,230 
     
  55  27,404,554 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial – includes registered and non-registered) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For 
the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by 
number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific 
beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will 
not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such 
intermediaries in the last line. 
 
The following information is as at October 22, 2021, when a shareholder distribution 
inquiry of intermediaries was carried out on behalf of the Issuer:  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  1,307  42,865 
     
100 – 499 securities  992  239,910 
     
500 – 999 securities  430  291,313 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  568  721,318 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  273  615,520 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  171  560,470 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  112  483,615 
     
5,000 or more  securities  647  38,695,881 
     
Unable to confirm    5,107,926 
     
  4,500  46,758,818 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  
 
The following information is as at October 22, 2021:  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  0  0 
     
100 – 499 securities  0  0 
     
500 – 999 securities  0  0 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  0  0 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  0  0 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  0  0 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 
     
5,000 or more  securities  6  19,354,264 
     
  6  19,354,264 

 
14.2 Securities convertible into Common Shares 
 
Description of Security (include 
conversion / exercise terms, 
including conversion / exercise 
price) 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

Stock options (see section 9) 5,690,408 5,690,408 
Warrants (see section 10) 6,560,422 6,560,422 
 
14.3 Not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
 



 
 

 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Update - October 2021 
Page 32 

 
  

 
 

 

 
15. Executive Compensation 

 

15.1 Please see pages 7 - 14 of the Issuer's Notice of Annual and Special Meeting and 
Management Information Circular dated May 17, 2021 and attached hereto as 
Appendix D.   

 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

 
16.1-16.2 No director, officer, employee, or former director, officer or employee of the Issuer 

or any of its subsidiaries, nor any of their associates or affiliates, since the 
commencement of Issuer's last completed financial year, is or has been indebted to 
the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, nor were any of these individuals indebted to any 
other entity which indebtedness was the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, 
letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding provided by Issuer, including 
any securities purchase or other program.  

 
17.  Risk Factors 

 
17.1-17.3  Please see pages 21 — 29 of the Issuer's Management's Discussion and Analysis 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 dated October 27, 2021, attached hereto as 
Appendix C.   

 
18. Promoters  

 
18.1 Not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
18.2 Not applicable to the Issuer. 
 

19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Directorate General of Hydrocarbons, Government of India  
 

In April 2006, the Company entered into a farm-in agreement with Canoro Resources 
Ltd. (“Canoro”), whereby it acquired a 15% interest in block AA-ONN-2003/2, in 
Arunachal Pradesh, northwest India. During 2009, the parties completed the 
interpretation of the 3-D seismic program. The consortium partners in the block are: 
ThreeD - 15%, Canoro - 15%, National Thermal Power Corporation - 40%, and 
Geopetrol International Inc. - 30%. 
 
On April 8, 2010, the Production Sharing Contract (the “PSC”) with the Government of 
India, through the Directorate General of Hydrocarbons (the “DGH”) expired and as a 
result, the DGH called the Company’s letter of guarantee totaling US$1,395,000 issued 
by Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”). The DGH’s position is that the Issuer and its partners 
failed to meet certain terms of the PSC governing their commitments on exploration 
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block AA-ONN-2003/2. The Issuer and its partners have disputed certain terms of the 
PSC, including its expiry on the basis of force majeure.  As at June 30, 2010, the Issuer 
wrote-off all of its oil and gas properties and related expenditures in India.   
 
In January 2015, the Issuer received notice from the DGH that it denied the request for 
non-levy of the cost of the unfinished PSC and demanded payment of the outstanding 
balance of US$14,054,284 (ThreeD’s share – US$1,423,510). There has been no further 
correspondence from the DGH since January 2015. 
 
The Issuer considers the claim to be completely without merit and will defend itself 
vigorously. No provision has been made for the claim in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at June 30, 2021. 

 
New Found Gold Corp. 
 
The Issuer previously reported in its continuous disclosure documents that it had sold, 
pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated November 15, 2019, an aggregate of 
13,500,000 common shares (the “Subject Shares”) of New Found Gold Corp. (“NFG”) to 
a third party purchaser at a price of $0.08 per share for aggregate proceeds of 
$1,080,000. The Issuer believes that the purchaser was in possession of information 
material to the transaction that was not disclosed at the time. As a private company with 
restrictions on the transfer of the Subject Shares, NFG had to approve the proposed 
transfer, which it did by a consent resolution of its board of directors.  
 
Accordingly, the Issuer subsequently commenced the legal action on March 10, 2020, 
against Collin Kettell, Palisades Goldcorp Ltd. (“Palisades”) and NFG (collectively, the 
“Defendants”) claiming rescission of the transaction or, in the alternative, damages in the 
approximate amount of $16,000,000 or the present value of the Subject Shares. The 
Issuer has also made specific claims for (i) a declaration that Palisades and Collin 
Kettell, as shareholder or director and/or officer of NFG, have acted in a manner that is 
oppressive, unfairly prejudicial or unfairly disregarded its interests, (ii) a declaration that 
Palisades and Collin Kettell engaged in insider trading contrary to section 138 of the 
Securities Act (Ontario), (iii) unjust enrichment and (iv) interests and costs. 

 
NFG filed a statement of defence in response to the Issuer’s statement of claim on June 
12, 2020. Mr. Kettell and Palisades filed a statement of defence on June 18, 2020 and 
the action has now progressed through the production of documents and oral 
examinations for discovery stages. On July 12, 2021, the Issuer asked the Defendants to 
consent to amendments to the statement of claim to broaden its claims to include direct 
claims of oppressive conduct on the part of NFG, and to increase the damages sought 
against all of the parties in respect of the Subject Shares to approximately 
$176,600,000. The Defendants have consented to the amendments provided that they 
be allowed to serve amended statements of defence and that the parties undergo 
another round of discoveries related specifically to the amendments to the pleadings 
 
It is not determinable whether the Company will be successful in its claim, or, if 
successful, the amount of damages that may be awarded, if any. 
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The Issuer does not have any: 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against it by a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three 
years immediately preceding the date hereof; 
 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against it; or 
 
(c) settlement agreements it entered into before a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three 
years immediately preceding the date hereof. 

 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

 
20.1 Within the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, no director, 

executive officer or person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner 
of, or who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class or 
series of your outstanding voting securities of the Issuer, or any associate or 
affiliate of the foregoing has or had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any 
transaction or any proposed transaction which has materially affected or will 
materially affect the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, nor is any such person 
expected to have any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction or any 
proposed transaction which has materially affected or will materially affect the 
Issuer. 

 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

 
21.1 The auditor of the Issuer is MNP LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, 111 

Richmond Street West, Suite 300, Toronto, ON, M5H 2G4. 
 
21.2 The registrar and transfer agent of the Common Shares of the Issuer is TSX Trust 

Company, Suite 301, 100 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5H 4H1. 
 

The Issuer acts as the registrar and transfer agent of the Issuer’s outstanding stock 
options and share purchase warrants. 
 

22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 There are no material contracts of the Issuer entered into outside of the ordinary 

course of business, within the two years before the date of this this Listing Statement.  
 
22.2 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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23 Interest of Experts 
 
23.1-23.3  MNP, LLP, Chartered Accountants, prepared the auditor's report for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements of the Issuer for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 
2020 attached hereto as Appendices A and B, respectively. 

 
To the knowledge of the Issuer, neither MNP LLP nor its associates or affiliates, 
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, any securities of the Issuer, received or will 
receive any direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or is expected to be 
elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee of the Issuer or any 
associate or affiliate thereof.  
 
The Issuer’s auditors MNP, LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, have advised that 
they are independent with respect to the Issuer within the meaning of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. 

 
23.4 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 

24. Other Material Facts 
 
24.1 This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 

25. Financial Statements  

25.1  Please refer to Appendix A for the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Issuer for 
the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and Appendix B for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Issuer for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. 

 
25.2 This does not apply to the Issuer.  
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The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
ThreeD Capital Inc. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state 
a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is 
made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario 

this 27th day of October, 2021. 

SHELDON INWENTASH 
Chief Executive Officer 

LYNN CHAPMAN 
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate 
Secretary 

STEVEN GRAY 
Director 

WAYNE V. ISAACS 
Director 

ALAN MYERS 
Director 

JAKSON INWENTASH 
Director 

GERRY FELDMAN 
Director 
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/s/ "Steven Gray"
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APPENDIX A: Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
Consolidated Financial Statements of 
 
 

 
 
 
Years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Prepared in Canadian dollars) 
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  Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Shareholders of ThreeD Capital Inc.:  

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ThreeD Capital Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company"), which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, and the consolidated 
statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Company as at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. We obtained Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other 
information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 



 

 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audits. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Marufur Raza. 

Toronto, Ontario 
October 27, 2021 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 

Christine.Lupton
MNP



 THREED CAPITAL INC. 

 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 June 30,  June 30, 
 Notes 2021 2020

 Assets 
 Cash 7  $ 205,425               $ 69,730           
 Due from brokers 7 21,679                 50,426           
 Prepaids and receivables 7, 8(g) 101,829               279,239         
 Advances made on investments 5(c) 857,199               -                
 Investments, at fair value 5(a, b) 54,910,872         13,808,153     
 Digital assets, at fair value less cost to sell 6 216,635               255,910         
 Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 9 321,990               480,972         

 $ 56,635,629         $ 14,944,430     

 Liabilities and Equity 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7, 8(h)  $ 1,406,226           $ 465,148         
 Due to brokers 7 324,042               850,698         
 Unearned advisory revenue 92,750                 -                
 Lease liabilities 3, 7, 18 294,325               396,522         
 Advances from officer 7, 8(i) 652,365               -                

2,769,708           1,712,368       

 Equity 
 Share capital 10(a) 114,641,585       110,877,572   
 Contributed surplus 10(b, c) 32,046,230         27,613,093     
 Warrants  10(d) 2,016,505           4,236,465       
 Foreign currency translation reserve 876,834               875,180         
 Deficit (95,715,233)        (130,370,248)  

53,865,921         13,232,062     
 $ 56,635,629         $ 14,944,430     

 Commitments 18
 Contingent liability 19
 Subsequent events 20

 On behalf of the Board: 

 "Sheldon Inwentash"  Director 

 "Alan Myers"  Director 

 Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 As at June 30, 2021 and  2020 

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 



 THREED CAPITAL INC. 
 Consolidated Statements of Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 Notes 2021 2020

 Net investment and digital asset gains (losses) 
 Net realized gains (losses) on disposal of investments $ 22,052,810 $ (1,887,709)   
 Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments 17,696,058 (6,328,026)   
 Net realized gains (losses) on disposal of digital assets (49)               (112,934)      
 Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on digital assets (93,887)       101,183       

39,654,932 (8,227,486)   
 Consulting, administrative, and rental income 288,769       261,938
 Other income  24,236         36,598         

39,967,937 (7,928,950)   

 Expenses 
 Operating, general and administrative 8, 13 5,192,421   2,491,999
 Finance expenses 14      120,501       104,829       

5,312,922   2,596,828

 Income (loss) before income taxes 34,655,015 (10,525,778) 

 Income tax expense 11      -               -              

 Net income (loss) for the year 34,655,015 (10,525,778) 

 Other comprehensive income 
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 1,654           (726)            

 Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year $ 34,656,669 $ (10,526,504) 

 Earnings (loss) per common share based   10(e) 
 on net income (loss) for the year 
 Basic $ 0.92             $ (0.43)           
 Diluted $ 0.76             $ (0.43)           

 10(e) 
 Basic 37,839,654 24,731,904  
 Diluted 45,798,311 24,731,904  

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding 



 THREED CAPITAL INC. 

 Number of 
shares  Share capital 

 Shares to 
be issued  Warrants  

 Contributed 
surplus 

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve  Deficit  Total equity  

Balance as at June 30, 2019  Notes 15,566,696    109,261,469$     660,728$   3,496,833$    27,141,069$     875,906$     (119,844,470)$   21,591,535$     
 Net loss for the year -               -                   -           -               -                  -             (10,525,778)      (10,525,778)     
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations -               -                   -           -               -                  (726)           -                   (726)                

 Total comprehensive loss for the year -               -                   -           -               -                  (726)           (10,525,778)      (10,526,504)     
 Stock-based compensation expense  10(b) -               -                   -           -               222,470           -             -                   222,470           
 Reallocation of expired warrants  10(d) -               -                   -           (249,554)       249,554           -             -                   -                  
 Issued pursuant to private placements, net  10(a) 16,039,672    1,566,383          (660,728)   989,186        -                  -             -                   1,894,841        
 Issued pursuant to marketing services  10(a) 282,519        49,720              -           -               -                  -             -                   49,720             

Balance as at June 30, 2020 31,888,887    110,877,572$     -$         4,236,465$    27,613,093$     875,180$     (130,370,248)$   13,232,062$     
 Net income for the year -               -                    -           -               -                  -             34,655,015     34,655,015    
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations -               -                    -           -               -                  1,654         -                   1,654              

 Total comprehensive income for the year -               -                    -           -               -                  1,654         34,655,015     34,656,669    
 Stock-based compensation expense  10(b) -               -                    -           -               1,384,563      -             -                   1,384,563      
 Cancellation of normal course issuer buy back 
shares  10(a) (673,500)     (2,259,521)      -           -               2,080,858      -             -                   (178,663)        

 Issued pursuant to exercise of stock options   8(e), 10(b) 885,248      1,004,281        -           -               (385,834)        -             -                   618,447         
 Reallocation of expired warrants  10(d) -               -                    -           (1,353,550)  1,353,550      -             -                   -                  
 Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants  8(f), 10(d) 13,267,940 4,190,253        -           (866,410)     -                  -             -                   3,323,843      
 Issued pursuant to acquisition of investments  10(a) 919,967      794,000           -           -               -                  -             -                   794,000         
 Issued pursuant to marketing services  10(a) 48,010         35,000             -           -               -                  -             -                   35,000            

Balance as at June 30, 2021 46,336,552 114,641,585$ -$        2,016,505$ 32,046,230$  876,834$  (95,715,233)$ 53,865,921$  

 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 



 THREED CAPITAL INC. 
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 Notes 2021 2020

 Cash flows used in operating activities 
 Net income (loss) for the year 34,655,015$   (10,525,778)$  
 Items not affecting cash 

 Net realized losses (gains) on disposal of investments (22,052,810)    1,887,709       
 Net change in unrealized losses (gains) on investments (17,696,058)    6,328,026       
 Net realized losses on disposal of digital assets 49                     112,934         
 Net change in unrealized losses (gains) on digital assets 93,887             (101,183)        
 Issue of share capital pursuant to marketing services  10(a) 35,000             49,720           
 Stock-based compensation expense  10(b) 1,384,563        222,470         
 Depreciation expense 9         148,012           176,546         
 Finance expense 51,481             60,777           

(3,380,861)      (1,788,779)     
 Changes in non-cash working capital balances 

 Proceeds on disposal of investments  56,023,558      10,015,291     
 Purchases of investments (56,392,144)    (11,115,358)   
 Advances made on investments not yet closed (857,199)         -                
 Proceeds on disposal of digital assets 96,720             1,605,667       
 Purchases of digital assets (151,381)         (1,127,528)     
 Recognition of unearned revenue (98,515)            -                
 Decrease in prepaids and receivables 177,410           119,744         
 Decrease (increase) in due from brokers 28,747             (50,174)          

941,078           330,103         
 Increase (decrease) in due to brokers (526,656)         523,717         

(4,139,243)      (1,487,317)     

 Cash flows from financing activities 
 Proceeds pursuant to private placement financings, net  10(a) -                   1,644,841       
 Proceeds pursuant to exercise of stock options  8(e), 10(b) 618,447           -                
 Proceeds pursuant to the exercise of warrants  8(f), 10(d) 3,323,843        -                
 Advances received from officer  8(i) 4,537,173        -                
 Repayments on advances received from officer  8(i) (3,884,808)      (60,000)          

 Principal payments of lease liabilities, net (135,305)         (164,150)        
4,280,687        1,420,691       

 Cash flows used in investing activities 
 Purchase of property, equipment and right-of-use-assets 9         (7,403)              -                

(7,403)              -                

 Net increase (decrease) in cash during the year 134,041           (66,626)          

 Exchange rate changes on foreign currency cash balances 1,654               (726)              

 Cash, beginning of year 69,730             137,082         

 Cash, end of year 205,425$         69,730$         

 Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Purchase of shares cancelled under the normal course issuer 
bid 

(178,663)          10(a) -                
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1.     Nature of business 
 
ThreeD Capital Inc. (“ThreeD” or the “Company”) is a publicly-traded Canadian-based venture 
capital firm focused on opportunistic investments in companies in the junior resources and 
disruptive technologies sectors. ThreeD’s investment strategy is to invest in multiple private and 
public companies across a variety of sectors globally. ThreeD seeks to invest in early stage, 
promising companies where it may be the lead investor and can additionally provide investees with 
advisory services and access to the Company’s ecosystem. The Company was continued under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act on December 1, 2011 and its common shares are publicly-traded 
on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol “IDK” and on the OTCQX Best 
Market under the symbol “IDKFF”. The Company is domiciled in the Province of Ontario and its 
head office is located at 130 Spadina Ave., Suite 401, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.   
 
On April 27, 2020, the Company consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the 
basis of one new common share for every 4 existing common shares. All figures and comparative 
figures reflect the stock consolidations, retroactively. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Company’s board of 
directors on October 27, 2021. 
 
 

2. Basis of preparation 
 
(a) Statement of compliance: 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions used or 
exercised by management in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
presented below.  

 
(b) Basis of presentation: 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 
convention except for certain financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.   
 
All monetary values referenced in these notes are expressed in Canadian dollar amounts (“$”), 
unless otherwise stated.  
 

(c) Basis of consolidation: 
 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of ThreeD and its 
wholly-owned inactive subsidiaries: Blockamoto.io Corp., Brownstone Ventures (Barbados) 
Inc. and 2121197 Ontario Ltd.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, 
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being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until 
the date that such control ceases. 
 
The Company controls an investee if the Company has: 
 
(i) power over the investee; 

 
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 
(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including but not limited to: 
 
(i) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 

 
(ii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 
(iii) the Company’s potential voting rights. 
 
The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in comprehensive income 
from the date that the Company gains control until the date that the Company ceases to 
control the subsidiary. 

 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as 
the Company’s reporting period using consistent accounting policies. All inter-company 
account balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. 

 
(d) Critical accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions: 

 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated statements and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions 
are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates and assumptions could result 
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in future periods. 
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The information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and judgment considered 
by management in preparing the consolidated financial statements is as follows:  
 
(i) Fair value of investments in securities not quoted in an active market:  

 
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the 
consolidated statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, 
they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these 
models are derived from observable market data where possible, but where 
observable market data are not available, judgment is required to establish fair values. 
Changes in estimates and assumptions about these inputs could affect the reported 
fair value. Refer to Note 5(b) for further details. 
 

(ii) Fair value of financial derivatives:  
 
The Company measures financial instruments, such as warrants, options, and 
restricted shares, of investees at fair value at each consolidated statement of financial 
position date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. Investments in 
warrants and options that are not traded on a recognized securities exchange do not 
have a readily available market value. When there are sufficient and reliable 
observable market inputs, an option pricing model is used; if no such market inputs 
are available, the warrants and options are valued using alternative methods 
representing fair value. Changes in estimates and assumptions about these inputs 
could affect the reported fair value. Refer to Note 5(b) for further details. 

 
(iii) Measurement of digital assets, at fair value less cost to sell:  

 
Digital assets consist of the following:  
 

a. electronic currency, coins, or alternative cryptocurrency coins (altcoins) - a 
type of currency only available in digital form;  
 

b. digital tokens – a representation of a particular asset or utility which are 
created and distributed to the public through an Initial Coin Offering (“ICO”). 
ICO is a means of crowdfunding, through the release of a new token to fund 
project development similar to an initial public offering for stocks; and 

 
c. Simple Agreement for Future Tokens (“SAFT”) – an agreement with a 

promise to distribute tokens to investors in the future (a token presale and 
not an ICO). 
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There are inherent and higher risks to digital assets including the risk associated with 
traditional securities, which include significant price volatility, the loss of the digital 
assets, fraud and high transaction fees.  
 
Where the fair values of digital assets recorded on the consolidated statements of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a 
variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from 
observable market data where possible, but where observable market data are not 
available, judgment is required to establish fair values. Changes in estimates and 
assumptions about these inputs could affect the reported fair value. Refer to Note 
6(b) for further details. 
 

(iv) Stock-based compensation expense:  
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value 
of options in order to calculate stock-based compensation expense. The Black-Scholes 
model involves six key inputs to determine the fair value of an option: risk-free interest 
rate, exercise price, market price at the date of issue, expected dividend yield, 
expected life, and expected volatility. Certain inputs are estimates that involve 
considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are 
out of the Company’s control. The Company is also required to estimate the future 
forfeiture rate of options based on historical information in its calculation of stock-
based compensation expense. Refer to Note 10(b) for further details. 
 

(v) Warrants:  
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the value of 
warrants issued as part of the Company’s private placements. The Black-Scholes 
model requires six key inputs to determine a value for a warrant: risk free interest 
rate, exercise price, market price at date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected 
life and expected volatility. Certain inputs are estimates which involve considerable 
judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are out of the 
Company’s control.  Refer to Note 10(d) for further details. 

 
The information about significant areas of judgment considered by management in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements are as follows:  

 
(i) Determination of functional currency:  

 
The effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ (IAS 21) defines the functional 
currency as the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity 
operates. The determination of functional currency, which is performed on an entity 
by entity basis, is based on various judgmental factors outlined in IAS 21.  
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(ii) Deferred tax assets: 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary 
differences to the extent it is probable that taxable income will be available against 
which the losses can be utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon the likely timing and level of 
future taxable income together with future tax planning strategies. Refer to Note 11 
for further details. 

 
(iii) Significant influence: 

 
Management determines its ability to exercise significant influence over an investee 
by looking at its percentage interest and other qualitative factors including but not 
limited to its voting rights, representation on the board of directors, participation in 
policymaking processes, material transactions between the Company and the 
investee, interchange of managerial personnel, provision of essential technical 
information and operating involvement. 

 
As at June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had no percentage holdings greater than 
20% and determined that it had no ability to exercise significant influence over any 
investee. 

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies 

 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented. 
 
(a) Financial investments: 

 
(i) Classification: 

 
All financial assets not classified at amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are measured at fair value through profit and loss 
(“FVTPL”). On initial recognition, the Company can irrevocably designate a financial 
asset at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated at FVTPL: 
 
• It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial asset to 

collect the contractual cash flows associated with the financial asset instead of 
selling the financial asset for a profit or loss; 

• Its contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest. 
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All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the consolidated 
statements of financial position. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is 
based on their classification. Financial assets and liabilities classified at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized in the consolidated 
statements of net loss and comprehensive loss for the year. Financial assets classified 
at amortized cost and financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
The following table summarizes the classification and measurement changes under IFRS 
9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) for each financial instrument: 
 

Classification IFRS 9 
Cash  FVTPL 
Investments, at fair value FVTPL 
Accounts receivables (excluding sales tax receivables) Amortized Cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized Cost 
Due from (to) brokers Amortized Cost 
Advances from officer Amortized Cost 
Lease liabilities Amortized Cost 

 
(ii) Recognition, de-recognition and measurement: 

 
     Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date. 
 

Investments at FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value where reliable basis for 
determination exists. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the consolidated 
statement of net income and comprehensive income. Investments are derecognized when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the Company has 
transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition in accordance with 
IFRS 9. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, all investments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss 
category are presented in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive 
income within net change in unrealized gains or losses on investments in the period in which 
they arise. 

 
(iii) Reclassification of investments: 

 
The Company would only reclassify a financial asset when the Company changes its business 
model for managing the financial asset. Reclassifications are recorded at fair value at the 
date of reclassification, which becomes the new carrying value. 
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(iv) Determination of fair value: 

 
The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, where 
available and appropriate. At the end of each financial reporting period, the Company’s 
management estimates the fair value of investments based on the criteria below and reflects 
such valuations in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Company is also required to disclose details of its investments (and other financial assets 
and liabilities reported at fair value) within three hierarchy levels (Level 1, 2, or 3) based on 
the transparency of inputs used in measuring the fair value, and to provide additional 
disclosure in connection therewith (see Note 5(b)). 
 
1. Publicly-traded investments: 
 

a. Securities, including shares, options, and warrants that are traded in an active 
market (such as on a recognized securities exchange) and for which no sales 
restrictions apply are presented at fair value based on quoted closing trade prices 
at the consolidated statements of financial position date or the closing trade price 
on the last day the security traded if there were no trades at the consolidated 
statements of financial position date. These investments are included in Level 1 in 
Note 5(b). 

 
b. Securities that are traded on a recognized securities exchange, but which are 

escrowed or otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at amounts 
discounted from market value to a maximum of 25%, using Finnerty’s put option 
model. In determining the discount for such investments, the Company considers 
the nature and length of the restriction. These investments are included in Level 2 
in Note 5(b). 

 
c. For options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities exchange, 

no market value is readily available. When there are sufficient and reliable 
observable market inputs, an option pricing model is used; if no such market inputs 
are available, the warrants and options are valued using alternative methods 
representing fair value. These investments are included in Level 2 in Note 5(b). 

 
d. Convertible debentures and loans of public companies are initially recorded at the 

transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at the 
end of each financial reporting period, the combined instrument is adjusted to fair 
value based on alternative methods. These investments are included in Level 2 in 
Note 5(b). 
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2. Private company investments: 
 
All privately-held investments (other than options and warrants) are initially recorded at 
the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each 
reporting period, the fair value of an investment may, depending upon the circumstances, 
be adjusted using one or more of the valuation indicators described below. These 
investments are included in Level 3 in Note 5(b). 
 
The determinations of fair value of the Company’s privately-held investments at other   
than initial cost are subject to certain limitations. Financial information for private 
companies in which the Company has investments may not be available and, even if 
available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable. Use of the valuation approach 
described below may involve uncertainties and determinations based on the Company’s 
judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be realized or realizable. 
 

Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair value of a 
privately-held investment should be adjusted upward or downward at the end of each 
reporting period. In addition to company-specific information, the Company will take into 
account trends in general market conditions and the share performance of comparable 
publicly-traded companies when valuing privately-held investments. 
 
The absence of the occurrence of any of these events, any significant change in trends in 
general market conditions, or any significant change in share performance of comparable 
publicly-traded companies indicates generally that the fair value of the investment has not 
materially changed. 
 
The fair value of a privately-held investment may be adjusted if: 
 

a. there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside 
investors at a valuation different than the current value of the investee company, in 
which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value at which that financing 
took place; 
 

b. there have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting the 
investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a material impact on the 
investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value. In these circumstances, 
the adjustment to the fair value of the investment will be based on management’s 
judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable; 

 
c. the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy; 

 
d. based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent to 

the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able to continue as a going 
concern; 

 



 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
June 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Prepared in Canadian dollars) 
 

 
16 

 

e. share price, enterprise value, or other valuations indicators of peer companies 
comparable to the Company’s investee significantly changes; 

 
f. receipt/denial by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal or 

similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed/prohibit with its 
project(s); 

 
g. filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101 technical report in 

respect of a previously non-compliant resource; 
 

h. release by the investee company of positive/negative exploration results; and 
 

i. important positive/negative management changes by the investee company that the 
Company’s management believes will have a very positive/negative impact on the 
investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build value for shareholders. 

 
Adjustments to the fair value of a privately-held investment will be based upon 
management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable. The 
resulting values for non-publicly traded investments may differ from values that would be 
realized if a ready market existed. In addition, the amounts at which the Company’s 
privately-held investments could be disposed of currently may differ from the carrying 
value assigned. 
 

(b) Financial assets other than investments at fair value: 
 

Financial assets that are managed to collect contractual cash flows made up of principal and 
interest on specified dates are classified as loans and receivable. They are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost. All other financial assets are designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss. All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of 
financial assets classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost are measured at initial cost plus interest calculated using 
the effective interest rate method less cumulative repayments and cumulative impairment 
losses. 
 
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset. 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. For amounts deemed to be impaired, the impairment provision 
is based upon the expected credit loss. 
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(c) Digital assets at fair value less cost to sell (“FVLCTS”): 
 
Digital coins and digital tokens held by the Company are carried at fair value less cost to sell 
for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements. The Company determines the fair 
value of such digital coins and digital tokens using the closing price on the valuation date 
price provided by the crypto exchange that the Company considers the principal market. 
 
To determine which exchange is the principal market for the purpose of calculating the fair 
value less cost to sell of a particular digital asset, the Company considers only those 
exchanges that are available to be used by the Company, have an online trading platform and 
published transaction price and volume data. The determination of principal market is specific 
to a particular digital asset. Based on these requirements, the Company prepares a list of 
eligible crypto exchanges and consider the following criteria to select the principal market: (i) 
whether it contains the crypto trading pairs that Company transacts with; (ii) the volume of 
digital coins and digital tokens traded on such exchange in the prior twelve month. 
 
The Company evaluates the principal markets annually and conducts a quarterly analysis to 
determine if any changes in principal market required. 

 
Digital Coins and tokens which are not actively traded and purchases under SAFTs are initially 
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, 
at each reporting period, the fair value (depending upon the circumstances) maybe adjusted 
using one or more valuation indicators (refer to the accounting policy for the fair value of a 
privately-held investments). These are included in Level 3. 
 

(d) Revenue recognition: 
 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and when the right to receive the 
dividend has been established. Interest income and other income are recorded on an accrual 
basis when performance obligations, if any, have been achieved. 

 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date. Realized gains 
and losses on disposal of investments and unrealized gains and losses in the value of 
investments are reflected in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive 
income. Upon disposal of an investment, previously recognized unrealized gains or losses are 
reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of disposition. All 
transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of investments are expensed 
to the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income as incurred.  
 
Purchases and sales of digital assets are recognized on the day in which the Company and 
the counterparty consummates the transaction. The Company also accepts and receives 
digital currency as consideration for services and in private placement financings. The digital 
assets are recorded on the statement of financial position, as digital assets, at their fair value 
less cost to sell and re-measured at each reporting date. 
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Realized gains and losses on disposal of digital assets and unrealized gains and losses in the 
value of digital assets are reflected in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss. Upon disposal of a digital currency, previously recognized unrealized 
gains or losses are reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of 
disposition. Digital assets which are traded on an exchange but which are escrowed or 
otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at amounts discounted from market 
value to a maximum of 25%. In determining the discount for such digital currency, the 
Company considers the nature and length of the restriction. SAFTs are initially recorded at 
the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each 
reporting period, the fair value of a SAFT may (depending upon the circumstances) be 
adjusted using one or more valuation indicators. 
 
All transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of digital currency are 
expensed to the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss as incurred. The 
Company records the revaluation of gains and losses in profit and loss because this is 
considered to be the most fair and accurate presentation of the Company’s operations to the 
users of the financial statements. 

 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting frameworks 
for the accounting for the purchase, sale or exchange of digital assets and management has 
exercised significant judgement in determining appropriate accounting treatment for the 
recognition of revenue transactions in digital assets. In the event authoritative guidance is 
enacted by the IASB, the Company may be required to change its policies which could result 
in a change in the Company’s financial position and earnings. The digital assets are initially 
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, 
at each reporting period, the fair value of an investment may (depending upon the 
circumstances) be adjusted using one or more valuation indicators. 
 

(e) Foreign currency: 
 
(i) Functional currency: 

 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is 
the Company’s functional currency. Each subsidiary of the Company determines its 
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency. The functional currency of Brownstone 
Ventures (Barbados) Inc. is U.S. dollars. The functional currency of 2121197 Ontario 
Ltd.  and Blockamoto.io Corp. is Canadian dollars. 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances: 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at 
the rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate 
of exchange in effect at the reporting date. 
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Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. 
 

(iii) Translation of foreign operations: 
 
The results and financial position of ThreeD’s subsidiaries that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows: 
 
1. Assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position 

presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of 
financial position; 
 

2. Share capital is translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; 
 

3. Revenue and expenses for each consolidated statement of net income and 
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates; and 

 
4. All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of 

equity and as an exchange difference on translation of foreign operations in other 
comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of net income and 
comprehensive income. 

 
The Company treats specific inter-company loan balances that are not intended to be 
repaid in the foreseeable future as part of its net investment in a foreign operation, 
which is recorded as an exchange difference on translation of foreign operations in 
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of net income and 
comprehensive income. 

 
When a foreign entity is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to income or 
loss in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income as part 
of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and translated at the closing rate. 

 
(f) Offsetting of financial instruments: 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statements of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
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(g) Non-monetary transactions: 
 
Transactions in which shares or other non-cash consideration are exchanged for assets or 
services are valued at the fair value of the assets or services involved. 
 

(h) Leases: 
 
Effective July 1, 2019, the Company has adopted amendments to IFRS 16, Leases, using the 
modified retrospective approach.  IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 replacing the previous 
lease standard, International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 17, Leases, and related 
interpretations. The new standard requires lessees to recognize right‑of‑use assets and lease 
liabilities for most leases and recognize the associated expenses to depreciation and interest 
expense, respectively.  

 
The following table reconciles the aggregate future minimum lease payments as at July 1, 
2019, the effective date that IFRS 16 was adopted. 

 
Future minimum annual lease as at June 30, 2019 $      975,200 
Lease payments adjusted for additional rent for operating costs (249,360) 
Lease payments adjusted for deposits made (56,758) 
Gross lease liabilities as at July 1, 2019 669,082 
Discount at effective interest rates of 10.0% to 15.0% (169,187) 
Net lease liabilities as at July 1, 2019      499,895 

 
The following table shows the right-of-use assets balance on transition to IFRS 16 and 
amortization recorded during the period. 
 
Net lease liabilities as at July 1, 2019 $     499,895 
Prepaid rent deposits  56,758 
Right-of-use assets as at July 1, 2019 $     556,653 

 
The Company determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 
 
A lease liability is recognized at the commencement of the lease term at the present value of 
the lease payments. Lease liabilities include the net present value of fixed payments, variable 
lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid by the 
lessee under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments of penalties for terminating the 
lease, less any lease incentives receivable. Payments are discounted using the implicit rate 
within the lease, when readily available, or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate when 
the rate implicit is not known. The Company applies a single discount rate for a portfolio of 
leases with reasonably similar characteristics. 
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The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The 
liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change 
in an index or rate, if there is a change in the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or if there is a change in the assessment of whether the Company will 
exercise a purchase, extension, or termination option that is within the Company’s control. 
The Company recognizes the amount of any remeasurement of a lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right-of-use-asset. If the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is 
a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Company shall recognize any 
remaining amount of the remeasurement in the statement of income and comprehensive 
income. 
 
Upon recognition of a lease liability at the lease commencement date, a corresponding right-
of-use asset is recognized at the amount equal to the lease liability. Depreciation is recognized 
on the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis, over the shorter of the estimated useful life 
of the asset or the lease term. The Company presents right-of-use assets in ‘Property, 
equipment and right-of-use assets’ and lease liabilities in ‘Lease liabilities’ in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

 
Leases with terms of less than twelve months and leases for which the underlying asset is of 
low value (US$5,000) are recognized as an expense in the consolidated financial statements 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
(i) Income taxes: 

 
(i) Current income tax: 

 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off the amounts, and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current income tax relating 
to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not through profit 
or loss. 
 

(ii) Deferred tax: 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which the 
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deductible temporary difference and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date. Deferred tax relating to items 
recognized directly in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated 
statement of net income and comprehensive income. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not offset unless a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated statement 
of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized. 
 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 
The Company does not record deferred tax assets to the extent that it considers 
deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses cannot be utilized. 
 

(j) Stock-based compensation plan: 
 
The Company has a stock option plan that is described in Note 10(b). Employees (including 
officers), directors, and consultants of the Company receive remuneration in the form of stock 
options granted under the plan for rendering services to the Company. Any consideration 
received by the Company on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital. The 
cost of options is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus, 
over the period in which the corresponding performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant optionee becomes fully entitled to the award 
(“vesting date”). 
 
The cumulative expense recognized for option grants at each reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the portion of the vesting period that passed and the Company’s best estimate 
of the number of options that will ultimately vest on the vesting date. The Company records 
compensation expense and credits contributed surplus for all stock options granted, which 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of 
that period. 
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Stock options granted during the period are accounted for in accordance with the fair value 
method of accounting for stock-based compensation.  The fair value for these options is 
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company is 
also required to estimate the expected future forfeiture rate of options in its calculation of 
stock-based compensation expense. 
 
Where the terms of a stock option award are modified, the minimum expense recognized in 
compensation expense is the expense as if the terms had not been modified. An additional 
expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the option, or 
is otherwise beneficial to the optionee as measured at the date of modification. 
 
Where an option is cancelled, any expense not yet recognized for the vested options on the 
date of cancellation is recognized immediately. 

 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share. 
 

(k) Earnings (loss) per common share: 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is determined by dividing net profit (loss) attributable 
to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is calculated in accordance with 
the treasury stock method and based on the weighted average number of common shares 
and dilutive common share equivalents outstanding. 
 

(l) Financial liabilities:  
 
Financial liabilities are presented at amortized cost except for financial derivatives and certain 
financial liabilities that from inception were designated at fair value through profit or loss. All 
financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction 
costs, except for those designated at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of net loss 
and comprehensive loss. 
 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently recognized at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis. The 
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period. 
 

(m)  Financial derivatives – options and warrants: 
 

A financial derivative such as a warrant or option that will be settled with the issuing entity’s 
own equity instruments will be classified as an equity instrument if the derivative is used to 
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acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of Canadian 
dollars.  
 
A financial derivative will be considered as a financial liability at fair value through profit or 
loss if it is used to acquire either a variable number of equity instruments or consideration in  
a foreign currency and the options and warrants were not offered pro rata to all existing 
owners of the same class of non-derivative equity instruments. 
 

(n) Segment reporting: 
 
Reportable segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate 
financial information is available, that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision 
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. During the year 
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s operations primarily relate to investing. The 
Company’s management is responsible for the Company’s entire investment and digital assets’ 
portfolios and considers the business to have a single operating segment. 
 

(o) Provisions:  
 
Provisions are recognized when (a) the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event that is independent of future action by the Company, 
and (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as 
a finance cost. 
 

(p) Property, equipment and right-of-use-assets: 
 
Property, equipment, and right-of-use assets are recorded at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is provided at rates 
designed to amortize the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

Rate Basis
Furniture and equipment 20% Declining balance
Leasehold improvements 5 years Over the term of the lease
Computer equipment 30% Declining balance
Right-of-use assets 1.5-5 years Over the term of the lease  

 
The carrying values of property equipment and right-of-use assets are assessed for 
impairment when indicators of such impairment exist, or when annual impairment testing for 
an asset is required. 
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If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount is 
calculated. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the fair value less costs of 
disposal for the asset and the asset’s value in use. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is deemed impaired, and an impairment loss is charged to 
the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. A previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The 
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognized in the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. 

 
 
4. Changes in accounting policies 
 

Effective July 1, 2020, the Company adopted amendments to International Accounting Standards 
(“IAS”) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors which were issued in October 2018. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020 and are to be applied prospectively. The amendments 
update the definition of material.  
 
The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
 
5. Investments at fair value and financial instruments hierarchy 
 

(a) The fair value and cost of investments are as follows as at June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Fair Value Cost
June 30, 2021 $ 54,910,872     $ 31,436,028    
June 30, 2020 13,808,153        7,182,052          

 
(b) Financial instruments hierarchy: 

 
The fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The level in the hierarchy within which the fair 
value measurement is categorized is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels: 

 
(i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 
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(ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
(Level 2). 

 
(iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 
 

For financial instruments that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.  The following table presents 
the Company’s financial instruments, measured at fair value and categorized into levels of the 
fair value hierarchy on the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2021 
and 2020: 
 

Level 1

Quoted market 
price

Level 2
Valuation technique - 

observable market 
inputs

Level 3
Valuation technique - 

non-observable 
market inputs Total

June 30, 2021 18,917,811$      19,038,624$            16,954,437$             54,910,872$    
June 30, 2020 3,781,687$           4,042,937$                 5,983,529$                 13,808,153$       

Investments, 
at fair value

 
 

Level 2 includes warrants of public issuers and common stock of public issuers, whose resale 
is currently restricted. These securities typically have up to a maximum of 120-day hold period 
and are valued by applying a discount against the price of the unrestricted public stock price.  
Once the restriction has elapsed, these securities will become Level 1 securities. 
 
In addition, investments which are in Level 3 and become public issuers during the period are 
transferred to Level 1 or 2. During the year ended June 30, 2021, level 2 investment 
amounting $2,578,586 was transferred to level 1 investment. 

 
The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements of financial instruments 
classified as Level 3 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.  These financial instruments 
are measured at fair value utilizing non-observable market inputs based on specific company 
information and general market conditions. The net change in unrealized gains (losses) are 
recognized in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.  
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Balance as at June 30, 2019 $ 14,306,703       
Purchases 1,170,886         
Proceeds on disposals (1,504,285)        
Realized losses on disposals (283,347)           
Transfer to Level 1 (4,180,800)        
Transfer to Level 2 (885,962)           
Net unrealized losses (2,639,666)        
Balance as at June 30, 2020 $ 5,983,529         
Purchases 6,864,936      
Proceeds on disposals -                  
Realized losses on disposals (45,154)          
Transfer to Level 1 (3,370,797)     
Transfer to Level 2 (207,074)        
Net unrealized gains 7,728,997      
Balance as at June 30, 2021 $ 16,954,437     
 

Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 3 investments 
were: 
 

Description
Fair value at 

June 30, 2021
Valuation technique / 
Unobservable inputs

% of 
investments Volatility

Unlisted private 
equities 9,390,676$      Recent transaction

Calibration 17.1             
Recent transaction 
price
Market trends

Unlisted private 
equities 7,335,088        New investment 13.4             Recent transaction 

price

Unlisted 
convertible 
debentures

154,253           

Black Scholes and discounted cash 
flow
Market prices, volatility, discount 
rate

0.3               178% volatility

Unlisted warrants 74,420             
Black Scholes
Market prices, volatility, discount 
rate

0.1               110% volatility

16,954,437$   30.90            
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Description
Fair value at 

June 30, 2020
Valuation technique / 
Unobservable inputs

% of 
investments Volatility

Unlisted private 
equities 2,738,033$      Recent transaction price

Calibration 19.8             
Recent transaction 
price
Market trends

Unlisted private 
equities 2,439,544        New investment 17.7             Recent transaction 

price

Unlisted 
convertible 
debentures

793,379           

Black Scholes and discounted cash 
flow
Market prices, volatility, discount 
rate

5.7               100% volatility

Unlisted warrants 12,573             
Black Scholes
Market prices, volatility, discount 
rate

0.1               110% volatility

5,983,529$      43.30            
 

For investments valued based on trends in comparable publicly traded companies, general 
market conditions and specific company information, the inputs used can be highly 
judgmental. A +/- 25% change on the fair value (i.e. recent transaction price) of this 
investment will result in a corresponding +/- $4,238,609 (June 30, 2020 - $1,495,882) change 
in the total fair value of the investments. While this illustrates the overall effect of changing 
the values of the unobservable inputs by a set percentage, the significance of the impact and 
the range of reasonably possible alternative assumptions may differ significantly between 
investments, given their different terms and circumstances.   

 
The sensitivity analysis is intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the valuation of these 
investments under current market conditions, and its results cannot be extrapolated due to 
non-linear effects that changes in valuation assumptions may have on the fair value of the 
investments. 
 
Furthermore, the analysis does not indicate a probability of such changes occurring and it 
does not necessarily represent the Company’s view of expected future changes in the fair 
value of this investment. Any management actions that may be taken to mitigate the inherent 
risks are not reflected in this analysis. 

 
(c)   Advances made on Investments: 

 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company participated in private placement 
financings and advanced $857,199 (June 30, 2020 - $nil) towards investments for which the 
financing had not closed by June 30, 2021. As a result, the Company had not received its 
share certificates by June 30, 2021, and thus has presented the advances made on the 
consolidated statement of financial position as “Advances made on investments”. 
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6. Digital assets at fair value less cost to sell 
 

(a) The fair value and cost of digital assets are as follows as at June 30, 2021: 
 

Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $ 87              $ 1,204         
Digital tokens 822,029    215,431    
SAFTs 1,191,609 -             

$ 2,013,725 $ 216,635     
 

The fair value and cost of digital assets are as follows as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $ 91                $ 141              
Digital tokens 767,414       255,769       
SAFTs 1,191,609    -              

$ 1,959,114    $ 255,910        
 

Digital currency prices are affected by various forces including global supply and demand, 
interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation and the global political and economic 
conditions. Digital assets have a limited history and the fair value historically has been very 
volatile. The Company may not be able to liquidate its inventory of digital currency at its 
desired price if required. The Company invests in SAFTs which is an agreement with a promise 
by the company to distribute tokens to investors in the future (ie: a token presale and not an 
ICO). There may be no resale of the SAFT and a considerable period of time may elapse 
between the payment of the SAFT and the receipt of the tokens, if at all. SAFTs are subject 
to high risks.  

 
(b) The following table presents the Company’s digital assets, measured at fair value less cost to 

sell and categorized into levels of the fair value hierarchy on the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at June 30, 2021: 

 

Digital assets, at fair 
value less cost to sell

Level 1

Quoted 
market price

Level 2
Valuation technique 

- observable 
market inputs

Level 3
Valuation technique 

- unobservable 
market inputs Total

Digital coins -$            1,204$                    -$                        1,204$      
Digital tokens -               215,431                  -                          215,431   
SAFTs -               -                          -                          -            

-$            216,635$               -$                        216,635$  
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The following table presents the Company’s digital assets, measured at fair value less cost to 
sell and categorized into levels of the fair value hierarchy on the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at June 30, 2020: 

 

Digital assets, at fair 
value less cost to sell

Level 1

Quoted market 
price

Level 2
Valuation technique - 

observable 
market inputs

Level 3
Valuation technique - 

unobservable 
market inputs Total

Digital coins -$              141$                         -$                          141$           
Digital tokens -                255,769                    -                            255,769      
SAFTs -                -                            -                            -              

-$              255,910$                  -$                          255,910$     
 
Transfers between Levels are deemed to have occurred at the date of event. The transfer out 
of Level 3 consists of digital assets (primarily SAFTs) that become actively traded on a digital 
exchange during the year or when tokens are received from SAFTs. 
 
There were no changes to the fair value measurements of digital assets classified as Level 3 
for the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.   

 
 
7. Financial assets and liabilities other than investments at fair value: 
 

Financial assets and liabilities other than investments at fair value are as follows as at June 30: 
 

2021 2020
Cash $ 205,425      $ 69,730         
Due from brokers 21,679        50,426         
Receivables (excluding sales tax receivables) 14,955        131,791       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,406,226) (465,148)     
Due to brokers (324,042)     (850,698)     
Lease liabilities (294,325)     (396,522)     
Advances from officer (652,365)     -              

$ (2,434,899) $ (1,460,421)   
 
The carrying values of cash, due from brokers, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
due to brokers, and advances from officer approximate their fair values due to the short term to 
maturity for these instruments. Lease liabilities carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of 
its fair value as it is present valued at the discount rate implicit in the lease, or using the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate. As at June 30, 2021 and 2020, there were no expected credit losses 
on the outstanding receivables. 
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8. Related party transactions 
 

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations and are 
recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to 
by the related parties. 
 
(a) Compensation to key management personnel and directors during the years ended June 30 

were as follows:  
 

2021 2020
Salaries and consulting fees 1,803,421$  737,000$     
Other short-term benefits 14,719          21,097         
Stock-based compensation expense 1,058,514    219,029       
Total 2,876,654    977,126        

 
Key management personnel includes the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the 
Chief Financial Officer/Corporate Secretary (“CFO”) of the Company. Included in salaries and 
consulting fees is a performance bonus accrual for the CEO of $1,022,608. 

 
(b) During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company completed eight non-brokered private 

placements as described in Note 10(a). On July 2, 2019, two directors and a close family 
member of the CEO subscribed for 817,237 units for gross proceeds of $212,482.  On August 
20, 2019, close family members of the CEO subscribed for 1,275,000 units for gross proceeds 
of $255,000. On September 13, 2019, the CEO and a director subscribed for 1,300,000 units 
for gross proceeds of $260,000.  On November 22, 2019, a close family member of the CEO 
subscribed for 1,250,000 units for gross proceeds of $165,000. On January 28, 2020, a director 
and close family members of the CEO subscribed for 3,891,666 units for gross proceeds of 
$467,000. On February 24, 2020, close family members of the CEO subscribed for 2,500,000 
units for gross proceeds of $300,000. On May 8, 2020, the CEO subscribed for 1,000,000 units 
for gross proceeds of $100,000. 

 
(c) On September 18, 2019, 62,500 stock options were granted to a director of the Company, 

exercisable at a price of $0.40 per share, expiring on September 18, 2024. On May 12, 2020, 
450,000 stock options were granted to directors of the Company, exercisable at a price of $0.10 
per share, expiring on May 12, 2025. 
 

(d) On September 15, 2020, 1,400,000 stock options were granted to directors and officers of the 
Company, exercisable at a price of $0.30 per share, expiring on September 15, 2025. On 
January 15, 2021, 1,400,000 stock options were granted to directors and officers of the 
Company, exercisable at a price of $0.75 per share, expiring on January 15, 2026. On March 
26, 2021, 400,000 stock options were granted to directors and officers of the Company, 
exercisable at a price of $1.25 per share, expiring on March 26, 2026. 
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(e) During the year ended June 30, 2021, directors and officers of the Company exercised 656,082 
stock options (June 30, 2020 – nil stock options) at an average price of $0.69 per share and 
received 656,082 common shares (June 30, 2021 – nil common shares) of ThreeD Capital Inc. 

 
(f) During the year ended June 30, 2021, directors, officers, and close family members of the CEO 

of the Company exercised 9,675,249 warrants (June 30, 2020 – nil warrants) at an average 
price of $0.22 per warrant and received 9,675,249 common shares (June 30, 2020 – nil 
common shares) of ThreeD capital Inc. 

 
(g) As at June 30, 2021, included in prepaids and receivables is $nil (June 30, 2020 - $94,167) in 

prepaid consulting fees to Park Place Limited, a private company controlled by the CEO.  As at 
June 30, 2021, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $47,420 due to Park Place 
Limited (June 30, 2020 - $11,023) relating to unpaid consulting fees and reimbursement of 
expenses. 
 

(h) As at June 30, 2021, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $nil (June 30, 2020 
- $62,150) due to a company controlled by the former CFO relating to unpaid consulting fees 
owing to him. 

 
(i) As at June 30, 2021, the Company had advances from the CEO of the Company of $652,365 

(June 30, 2020 - $nil) which were payable on demand, unsecured and interest free. These 
advances were used for general working capital. See also Note 20(b). 
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9. Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 
 

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets are as follows as at June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 
 

Cost Furniture 
and fixtures

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
equipment

Right-of-
use assets Total

Balance – June 30, 2019 $99,720 $31,813 $15,815 $                - $147,348
Right-of-use additions (non-
cash) - - - 556,653 556,653

Balance – June 30, 2020 99,720 31,813 15,815 556,653 704,001
Additions - - 7,403 - 7,403
Dispositions - - - (80,843)    (80,843)       
Balance – June 30, 2021 $99,720 $31,813 $23,218 $475,810 $630,561  
 
 

Accumulated 
Amortization

Furniture and 
fixtures

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
equipment

Right-of-
use assets Total

Balance – June 30, 2019 $36,151 $3,712 $6,620 $                - $46,483
Amortization 12,714 6,362 5,058 152,412 176,546
Balance – June 30, 2020 $48,865 $10,074 $11,678 $152,412 $223,029
Amortization 10,171 6,363 4,788 126,690 148,012
Dispositions - - - (62,470)     (62,470)    
Balance – June 30, 2021 $59,036 $16,437 $16,466 $216,632 $308,571  
 
 

Carrying Value Furniture and 
fixtures

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
equipment

Right-of-
use assets Total

Balance - June 30, 2020 $50,855 $21,739 $4,137 $404,241 $480,972
Balance – June 30, 2021 $40,684 $15,376 $6,752 $259,178 $321,990

 
 
10. Equity 

 
(a) Authorized: unlimited number of common shares (no par value). 

 
On April 27, 2020, the Company consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on 
the basis of one new common share for every four existing common shares. All figures and 
comparative figures reflect the stock consolidation, retroactively. 
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The following table summarizes the issuances and cancellation of the Company’s common 
shares as at June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Number of 
common shares Share capital

Opening balance, as at June 30, 2019 15,566,696 109,261,469$     
Issued pursuant to private placements(1) 16,039,672        1,566,383           
Issued pursuant to marketing services(2) 282,519             49,720                

Ending balance, as at June 30, 2020 31,888,887 110,877,572
Issued pursuant to acqusition of 
investments(3) 919,967 794,000           

Issued pursuant to marketing services(4) 48,010 35,000              
Shares repurchased and cancelled(5) (591,500)         (2,056,644)       
Issued purusant to the exercise of stock 
options(6) 885,248           1,004,281        

Issued purusant to the exercise of 
warrants(6) 13,267,940     4,190,253        

Ending balance, as at June 30, 2021 46,418,552 114,844,462$ 
Shares held in treasury to be cancelled(5) (82,000)           (202,877)          

46,336,552 114,641,585$ Ending balance, as at June 30, 2021, net of 
shares to be cancelled  

 
(1) During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company did not complete any private placements. 

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company completed eight non-brokered private 
placements as follows: 

July 2, 2019  $     662,482  $         2,521 2,548,006 2,548,006  $     0.40 July 2, 2022
August 20, 2019 255,000 3,171 1,275,000 1,275,000 0.40 August 20, 2022
September 13, 2019 260,000 3,951 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.40 September 13, 2022
November 22, 2019 165,000 2,627 1,250,000 1,250,000 0.20 November 22, 2022
December 23, 
2019(i) 250,000 6,208 1,250,000 - - -

January 28, 2020 590,000 2,073 4,916,666 4,916,666 0.20 January 28, 2023
February 24, 2020 300,000 4,261 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.20 February 24, 2023
May 8, 2020 100,000 2,103 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.15 May 8, 2023
Total  $  2,582,482  $       26,915 16,039,672 14,789,672

Expiry date of 
warrantsDate Total gross 

proceeds
Issuance 

costs

Number 
common 
shares

Number of 
warrants

Exercise 
price 

warrants

 
 

(i) On December 23, 2019, the Company acquired 3,000,000 units of St-Georges at a price 
of $0.10 per unit.  In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,250,000 
common shares of the Company at a fair market value of $0.20 per common share and 
made a cash payment in the amount of $50,000.  
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There were no purchase warrants issued during the year ended June 30, 2021. The purchase 
warrants issued during the year ended June 30, 2020, were valued using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions:  
 

July 2, 2019 144.31 0 1.43 3 0.11
August 20, 2019 144.94 0 1.29 3 0.08
September 13, 2019 136.18 0 1.58 3 0.08
November 22, 2019 137.05 0 1.56 3 0.05
January 28, 2020 159.67 0 1.46 3 0.05
February 24, 2020 165.42 0 1.30 3 0.05
May 8, 2020 184.62 0 0.26 3 0.05

Fair value per 
warrant issued, 

net of share 
issuance costs

Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used:

Expected 
volatility (%)

Expected 
dividend yield 

(%)

Risk-free 
interest rate 

(%)

Expected 
option life 
in years

 
 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the warrants 
at the Company’s share price. The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and 
has no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The risk-free interest rate is 
based on the yield of Canadian Benchmark Bonds with equivalent terms. The expected 
warrant life in years represents the period of time that the warrants are expected to be 
outstanding based on historical warrants issued.  The total value (net of share issuance costs) 
assigned to the purchase warrants was $989,186. 

 
(2) On May 27, 2020, the Company renewed its agreement with Agora Internet Relations Corp. 

(“Agora”) pursuant to which Agora provides marketing, advertising and related services to 
the Company for a fee of $60,000 plus harmonized sales tax for one year to be paid by the 
issuance of common shares of the Company. The fee is payable in five installments of $12,000 
plus applicable sales tax each with the first installment payable on commencement of the 
new term on May 27, 2020, and the subsequent installments to become payable at the end 
of each three-month period thereafter. The price of the common shares to be issued as 
payment for each installment will be set at the closing price of the common shares on the 
date which such installment becomes payable. On June 10, 2020, the first installment was 
paid by the issuance of 142,736 common shares at a price of $0.095 per share for an 
aggregate price of $13,560. The Company also issued 139,783 common shares to Agora in 
payment for four final installment payments pursuant to the October 2018 agreement. 

 
(3) On November 25, 2020, the Company acquired 1,500,000 units of St-Georges Eco-Mining 

Corp. (“St-Georges”) (CSE: “SX”) at a price of $0.10 per unit for a total cost of $150,000.  In 
consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 300,000 common shares of the Company 
at a fair market value of $0.48 per common share, for total share value of $144,000, and 
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made a cash payment in the amount of $6,000. Each unit of St-Georges consists of one 
common share and one common share purchase warrant of St-Georges, with each warrant 
being exercisable to acquire one additional share at an exercise price of $0.185 for a period 
of two years following the date of issuance. 

 
On January 7, 2021, the Company acquired 600,000 units of ZeU Technologies Inc. (CSE: 
“ZEU”) at a price of $0.25 per unit. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 
185,185 common shares of the Company at a deemed price of $0.81 per common share for 
total value of $150,000. Each unit of ZeU consists of one common share of ZeU and one 
common share purchase warrant of ZeU, with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one 
additional common share of ZeU at an exercise price of $0.35 for a period of two years 
following the date of issuance. 
 
On March 19, 2021, the Company acquired 10,000,000 common shares of Birchtree 
Investments Ltd, a privately held corporation existing under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia, at a price of $0.05 per share. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate 
434,782 common shares of the Company at a price of $1.15 per common share for a total 
value of $500,000. 

 
(4) On February 2, 2021, the Company issued 48,010 common shares at a deemed price of 

$0.729 per share to satisfy certain marketing services provided to the Company by North 
Equities Corp. (“North”) which are valued at $35,000. The shares were issued pursuant to an 
agreement (the “Agreement”) between the Company and North which provides for two stages 
of marketing services, in consideration of (i) a payment of $35,000 in respect of the first 
phase (which has been fully satisfied by issuance of the 48,010 shares); and (ii) a payment 
of $15,000 in respect of the second phase. All payments due under the Agreement shall be 
satisfied by the issuance of common shares of the Company at a deemed price per share 
equal to the seven (7) day average trading price of such common shares as at the close of 
business on the invoice date, excluding non-trading holidays, in each case subject to the 
approval of the Canadian Securities Exchange. 
 

(5) On July 9, 2020, the Company announced its intention to effect a normal course issuer bid 
(“NCIB”) through the facilities of the CSE. The NCIB commenced on July 15, 2020 and ended 
on July 14, 2021 and the Company was entitled to purchase on the CSE up to 1,594,444 
common shares in total, representing approximately 5% of the common shares issued and 
outstanding on July 9, 2020. The price which the Company was permitted to pay for any such 
shares will be the market price at the time of acquisition. During the year ended June 30, 
2021, the Company has repurchased and cancelled 591,500 common shares at an average 
cost of $0.20 per share for total cost of $118,304. As at June 30, 2021, 82,000 common 
shares repurchased under the NCIB for total cost of $60,359 were held in treasury for the 
purpose of cancellation. Subsequent to June 30, 2021, all of the shares held in treasury were 
cancelled (Note 20(d)). 

 
(6) During the year ended June 30, 2021, 885,248 common shares were issued for the exercise 

of 885,248 stock options (see Note 10(b) for further details). Additionally, during the year 
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ended June 30, 2021, 13,267,940 common shares were issued for the exercise of 13,267,940 
warrants (see Note 10(d) for further details) 

 
(b) Stock options: 

 
The Company grants stock options to eligible directors, officers, key employees and 
consultants under its 2006 stock option plan to enable them to purchase common shares of 
the Company. Under the terms of the plan, the number of common shares that may be issued 
pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the plan may not exceed 20% of the 
number of common shares outstanding at the time of grant. 
 
The exercise price of an option granted under the plan cannot be less than the closing price 
of the common shares on the last day on which the common shares trade prior to the grant 
date of the option. An individual can receive grants of no more than 10% of the outstanding 
shares of the Company on a yearly basis and options are exercisable over a period not 
exceeding five years.  Stock options granted generally vest at the rate of 1/6 of the grant 
every three months over an 18-month period.  Options granted are accounted for by the fair 
value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. The Company records 
compensation expense and credits contributed surplus for all options granted.   

 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company granted 4,230,000 stock options to 
directors, officers, employees, and consultants of the Company, exercisable at prices between 
$0.30 and $1.25 per share expiring between August 24, 2021, and March 26, 2026. See Note 
8(d). 

 
The fair value of the options granted during the year ended June 30, 2021, was estimated at 
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following 
assumptions: 
 
Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used
      Expected volatility 178.7%-251.9% 
      Expected dividend yield 0%
      Risk-free interest rate 0.23%-0.45%
      Expected option life in years 1-3.3 years
Expected forfeiture rate 5.5%-6.0%
Fair value per stock option granted on August 24, 2020 $0.30
Fair value per stock option granted on September 15, 2020 $0.22
Fair value per stock option granted on November 19, 2020 $0.34
Fair value per stock option granted on January 15, 2021 $0.65
Fair value per stock option granted on March 26, 2021 $0.85

 
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company granted 512,500 stock options to 
directors of the Company, exercisable at an average price of $0.14 per share expiring between 
September 18, 2024 and May 12, 2025. See Note 8(c). 
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The fair value of the options granted during the year ended June 30, 2020 was estimated at 
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following 
assumptions: 
 

Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used 
      Expected volatility 112.66%-182.74% 
      Expected dividend yield 0%
      Risk-free interest rate 0.29%-1.51%
      Expected option life in years 3.5 years
Expected forfeiture rate 6.9%-7.1%
Fair value per stock option granted on September 18, 2019 $0.14
Fair value per stock option granted on May 12, 2020 $0.09  

 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the option 
at ThreeD’s share price. The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and has 
no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  
 
The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of Canadian Benchmark Bonds with equivalent 
terms. The expected option life in years represents the period of time that options granted 
are expected to be outstanding based on historical options granted. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, included in operating, general and administrative expenses 
is stock-based compensation of $1,384,563 (June 30, 2020 - $222,470) relating to the stock 
options granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company.  
 
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options as at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 
2020 and changes during the periods then ended is presented below: 

 

# of options # of options

Stock options
Outstanding, at 
beginning of period 2,837,179 $1.44 2,385,793 $1.72

Granted 4,230,000 0.63 512,500 0.14
Exercised/Released (885,248)   0.70               -                            -   
Cancelled/forfeited (733,331)   0.91 (61,114)     1.40
Expired (121,526)   3.03 - -
Outstanding, at end of 
period 5,327,074 $0.95 2,837,179 $1.44

Exercisable, at end of 
period 3,743,737 $0.97 2,293,432 $1.72

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
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The weighted average stock price at the time that stock options were exercised during the 
year ended June 30, 2021 was $1.99 per share (June 30, 2020 - $nil). As at June 30, 2021, 
the weighted average remaining life of outstanding options was 3.50 years (June 30, 2020 – 
3.08 years) 
 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable 
as at June 30, 2021: 

 

Number of options 
outstanding

Number of options 
exercisable

Exercise 
price Expiry date

202,775 202,775 $1.80 January 16, 2022
4,166 4,166 1.20 October 12, 2022
9,583 9,583 2.40 November 16, 2022

141,666 141,666 2.52 November 30, 2022
797,915 797,915 1.92 March 1, 2023
166,666 166,666 1.20 September 14, 2023

50,000 50,000 0.30 September 15, 2023
100,000 100,000 0.40 November 19, 2023
149,304 149,304 1.20 December 14, 2023
187,499 187,499 1.20 April 11, 2024

62,500 62,500 0.40 September 18, 2024
375,000 375,000 0.10 May 12, 2025

1,180,000 1,180,000 0.30 September 15, 2025
1,300,000                  216,665               0.75 January 15, 2026

600,000                    99,998               1.25 March 26, 2026
5,327,074 3,743,737  

 
 

(c) Contributed surplus comprised the following as at June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Stock-based compensation, net of exercises $ 13,919,685         $ 12,920,955  
Expired warrants and broker warrants 16,019,423         14,665,874  

2,101,497           20,639         

Value of cancelled escrowed shares 5,625                   5,625           
$ 32,046,230         $ 27,613,093  

Cancellation of common shares under 
normal course issuer bid
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(d) The summary of the status of the Company’s warrants as at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 
and the changes during the years then ended are as follows: 

 

# of warrants # of warrants
Warrants
Outstanding, at beginning 
of period 23,450,199   $0.69 9,182,358 $1.48

Issued -                                          -   14,789,672 0.27
Exercised (13,267,940)  0.25                  -                         -   
Expired (1,999,837)    2.39 (521,831)     2.11
Outstanding, at end 
of period 8,182,422 $1.00 23,450,199 $0.69

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Weighted 

average exercise 
price 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price

 
 

On February 18, 2021, the Company announced the extension of the term of certain existing 
share purchase warrants of the Company as follows: 

 
Date of Issuance Number of Warrants Original Expiry Date New Expiry Date
April 13, 2018 1,066,661                 April 13, 2021 April 13, 2022
August 23, 2018 1,101,662                 August 23, 2021 August 23, 2022
October 30, 2018 904,164                    October 30, 2021 October 30, 2022  
 
The following table summarizes information about warrants exercisable and outstanding as at 
June 30, 2021: 
 
Number of warrants 
outstanding Exercise price ($) Expiry date Warrant Value ($)

416,666                          1.80 March 1, 2022 173,195
1,066,661                          1.80 April 13, 2022 509,678
2,143,269                          0.40 May 31, 2022 220,791

625,000                          0.40 July 2, 2022 70,360
1,275,000                          0.40 August 20, 2022 106,033
1,101,662                          1.80 August 23, 2022 489,982

650,000                          0.40 September 13, 2022 52,311
904,164                          1.80 October 30, 2022 394,155

8,182,422                     2,016,505  
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(e) Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share based on net income (loss) for years 
ended June 30: 

 

Numerator:
Net income (loss) for the year ended June 30 34,655,015$ (10,525,778)$  

2021 2020

 
 

Denominator: 2021 2020
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 37,839,654   24,731,904 
Weighted average effect of diluted stock options and warrants (i) 7,958,657      -              

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 45,798,311   24,731,904  
 

2021 2020
Basic 0.92$            (0.43)$          
Diluted 0.76              (0.43)            

Earnings (loss) per common share based on net loss for 
the year:

    
 
The determination of the diluted weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding excludes 2,759,754 (June 30, 2020 – 2,837,179) and 3,489,153 (June 30, 
2020 – 23,450,199) shares related to stock options and warrants respectively that were 
anti-dilutive for the year ended June 30, 2021. 
 

(f) Maximum share dilution: 
 
The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all 
outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised as at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 
2020: 

 
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Common shares outstanding 46,336,552  31,888,887  
Warrants to purchase common shares 8,182,422    23,450,199  
Stock options to purchase common shares 5,327,074    2,837,179    

59,846,048  58,176,265   
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11.   Income tax expense and deferred taxes 
 

(a) Income tax expense attributable to income before income taxs differs from the amounts 
computed by applying the combined federal and provincial tax rate of 26.50% (June 30, 2020 
- 26.50%) of pre-tax income as a result of the following: 
 

2021 2020
Net Income (loss) before income taxes 34,655,015$  (10,525,778)$   
Tax rate 26.50% 26.50%
Computed expected income taxes 9,183,579      (2,789,331)       

Increase (decrease) in taxes:
(Non-taxable)/non-deductible portion of capital losses realized (199,301)        224,233           
Unrealized fair value (gain)loss on investments (352,942)        1,492,481        
Stock based compensation expense 366,909          58,954             
Permanent and other differences 318                 2,007               
Reclassification of investments (577,692)        (367,770)          
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets (8,420,871)     1,379,426        

-$                -$                  
 

(b) The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax for the years ended June 30: 
 

Deferred tax 2021 2020
Capital loss 926,669$           -$                    
Non-capital losss 4,363,370          1,905,642           
Resource pool 302,574             -                      
Property and equipment and right-of-use assets (73,614)              (112,124)             
Investments (business) (4,592,330)         (1,793,518)          
Investments (capital) (926,669)            -                      
Income tax recovery -$                    -$                     
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(c) Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the 
differences between the income tax values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. 
The following deductible temporary differences are not recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements due to the unpredictability of future income.  

2021 2020
Capital losses carry-forward 30,906,496$    39,404,384$       
Non-capital losses carry-forward -                    26,235,345         
Exploration and evaluation assets tax pools 17,982,874      19,125,000         
Investments/digital assets (capital) 1,798,207        1,843,892           
Lease liability 294,325           396,523              
Share issuance costs and other differences 29,614              54,575                
Tax losses - Barbados 57,213,089      63,292,039         

108,224,605$ 150,351,758$      
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company has approximately $744,000 (June 30, 2020 - $827,000) 
of Canadian resource deductions and $17,239,000 (June 30, 2020 - $18,298,000) of foreign 
resource deductions available that have an unlimited carry-forward period to reduce future 
years’ income for tax purposes, the benefit of which has not been recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company has approximately $30,906,000 of capital losses (June 30, 
2020 - $39,404,000) and $nil (June 30, 2020 - $26,235,000) of Canadian non-capital losses 
available to reduce future years’ income for tax purposes, the benefit of which has not been 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Company has unclaimed non-capital losses of approximately US$46,161,924 in Barbados 
that expires from 2022 to 2025 
 
 

12.   Segmented information 
 

Reportable segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial 
information is available, that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in 
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.   
 
The Company’s operations primarily relate to investing. The Company’s management is responsible 
for the Company’s entire investment portfolio and considers the business to have a single operating 
segment. Management’s investment decisions are based on a single, integrated investment 
strategy and the performance is evaluated on an overall basis.  
 
All of the Company’s revenues are earned in Canada and all of the Company’s property, equipment 
and right-of-use assets are located in Canada and no segmented information has been disclosed 
as at and for the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
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13.   Operating, general, and administrative expenses 
 

Included in operating, general, and administrative expenses for the years ended June 30 are the 
following expenses: 

 
2021 2020

Salaries and consulting fees 2,330,908$     1,098,716$      
Stock-based compensation expense 1,384,563       222,470           
Transaction costs 528,048           147,655           
Other office and general 411,951           449,207           
Professional fees 285,154           302,569           
Shareholder relations, transfer agent and filing fees 99,751             43,367             
Operating lease payments 76,910             119,438           
Other employment benefits 52,630             53,061             
Travel and promotion 1,016               31,833             
Bad debts -                   13,750             
Foreign exchange loss 21,490             9,933               

5,192,421       2,491,999         
 

 
14.    Finance expenses 
 

Finance expenses consist of the following for the years ended June 30: 
 

2021 2020
Interest expense on margin borrowings 69,020$                 44,051$          
Interest on lease liabiliites 51,481                   60,778            
Total 120,501$              104,829$         

 
 
15.    Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information 
 

The following table shows the supplemental cash flow information for the years ended June 30: 
 

2021 2020
Finance expense paid 51,481$    44,051$       
Issue of share capital pursuant to investment activities 794,000    250,000       
Non-cash financing activities
   Issue of share capital pursuant to marketing services 35,000      49,720          
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16.    Management of capital 
 

The Company considers its capital to include equity which amounts to $53,865,921 on June 30, 
2021 (June 30, 2020 $13,232,062). The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 

(a) to ensure that the Company maintains the level of capital necessary to meet the requirements 
of its brokers; 
 

(b) to allow the Company to respond to changes in economic and/or marketplace conditions by 
maintaining the Company’s ability to purchase new investments and digital assets; 
 

(c) to give shareholders sustained growth in shareholder value by increasing shareholders’ equity; 
and  
 

(d) to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable levels 
of risk.  

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets. The Company maintains 
or adjusts its capital level to enable it to meet its objectives by: 
 

(a) realizing proceeds from the disposition of its investments and digital assets; and 
 

(b) raising capital through equity or debt financings. 
 

The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by any regulator other than to 
maintain its margin requirements by the brokers.  
 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended 
June 30, 2021. To date, the Company has not declared any cash dividends to its shareholders as 
part of its capital management program. The Company’s current capital resources are sufficient to 
discharge its liabilities as at June 30, 2021. 

 
 
17.   Management of financial risk 
 

The investment operations of ThreeD’s business involve the purchase and sale of securities and 
digital assets, and, accordingly, a portion of the Company’s assets are currently comprised of 
financial instruments. The use of financial instruments can expose the Company to several risks, 
including market, credit, and liquidity risks. Although digital assets are not considered financial 
instruments, they inherently have the similar risks as traditional investments. A discussion of the 
Company’s use of financial instruments and their associated risks is provided below. 

 
(a) Market risk:  
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Market risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows from the Company’s financial 
instruments will significantly fluctuate because of changes in the market prices. The value of 
the financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed to market risk in trading its 
investments/digital assets and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of 
investments/digital assets at less than favorable prices.  
 
Additionally, the Company adjusts its investments/digital assets to fair value at the end of 
each reporting period. This process could result in significant write-downs of the Company’s 
investments/digital currencies over one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods 
of overall market instability, which would have a significant unfavorable effect on ThreeD’s 
financial position.   

 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company held a total of $8,060,198 (June 30, 2020 - $5,637,557) 
in U.S. denominated investments. Additionally, the majority of the Company’s digital assets 
are denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company also held $69,713 (June 30, 2020 - $nil) in 
Australian-dollar denominated investments. Given the foreign denominated investments, 
market risk for the Company includes currency risk. 
 
There were no changes in the way the Company manages market risk during the year ended 
June 30, 2021. The Company manages its market risk by having a portfolio that is not 
singularly exposed to any one issuer or class/sector of issuers. 

 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2021, from a change in the closing trade price (or recent transaction 
price) of the Company’s investments and digital assets with all other variables held constant 
as at June 30, 2021:  

 
Change in after-tax net 

income from % change in 
closing trade price

2% 956,462$                             
4% 1,912,925                            
6% 2,869,387                            
8% 3,825,849                            
10% 4,782,311                            

Percentage of change in closing trade price 
(recent transaction price)

 
  

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2020, from a change in the closing trade price of the Company’s 
investments and digital assets with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2020:  
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Change in after-tax net 
income from % change in 

closing trade price
2% 244,011$                               
4% 488,023                                 
6% 732,034                                 
8% 976,046                                 
10% 1,220,057                              

Percentage of change in closing trade 
price (recent transaction price)

 
 

(b) Credit risk: 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the inability of a third party to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company is exposed to the risk that third parties owing it money or securities 
will not perform their underlying obligations. The Company may, from time to time, invest in 
debt obligations.  

 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company held two convertible debentures with a fair value of 
$1,396,253 (June 30, 2020 - $2,439,544). All funds in cash are held in financial institutions 
that have a credit rating above AA. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant 
loss. 
 
There were no changes to the way the Company manages credit risk during the year ended 
June 30, 2021. The Company is also exposed in the normal course of business to credit risk 
from the sale of its investments and advances to investee and joint arrangements. 

 
The following is the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at June 30: 
 

2021 2020
Cash 205,425$          69,730$              
Due from brokers 21,679               50,426                
Convertible debentures 1,396,253         2,439,544           
Receivables (i) 29,873               139,444              

1,653,230$       2,699,144$           
 

(i) As at June 30, 2021 and 2020, the receivables were from investees for monthly 
administrative and office rental fees. Although the Company has received monthly 
payments previously, the Company is exposed to credit risk relating to those 
receivables. As at June 30, 2021 the receivables balance included $14,918 (June 30, 
2020 - $7,653) relating to Harmonized Sales Tax input sales tax refunds. The Company 
believes it is not exposed to credit risk since the amount is fully collectible from the 
Canadian government.  

 
An aging of accounts receivable (excluding sales tax receivables), net of expected credit losses 
are as follows as at June 30: 
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2021 2020
Accounts receivable aging:
     0-30 days 14,955$             67,381$              
     31-60 days -                     5,650                  
     61-90 days -                     5,650                  
Greater than 90 days -                     53,110                

14,955$             131,791$            
Expected credit loss provision -                     -                      

14,955$             131,791$            
  

The Company does not have collateral to any of its receivable balances.  
 

(c) Liquidity risk: 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligation as they become due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may 
be adversely affected if the Company’s access to the capital markets is hindered, whether as 
a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to 
the Company, or if the value of the Company’s investments declines, resulting in losses upon 
disposition. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities and 
proceeds from the disposition of its investments/digital assets, in addition to interest earned 
on its investments.  
 
There were no changes to the way that the Company manages liquidity risk during the year 
ended June 30, 2021. The Company manages liquidity risk by reviewing the amount of margin 
available on a daily basis and managing its cash flow. The Company holds some 
investments/digital assets that can be converted into cash when required.  
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company was using net margin of $302,363 (June 30, 2020 - 
$800,272) and had advances from an officer of $652,365 (June 30, 2020 - $nil). 
 
The following table shows the Company’s liabilities and potential due dates to liquidity risk as 
at June 30, 2021 (see commitments Note 18): 
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Liabilities and obligations Total
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 years
4 - 5 
years 

After 5 
years

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 1,406,226$ 1,406,226$ -$         -$      -$   

Due to brokers 324,042       324,042       -           -        -     
Office lease payments 351,122       147,117       204,005   -        -     
Advance from officer 652,365       652,365       -           -        -     

2,733,755$ 2,529,750$ 204,005$ -$      -$   

Payments due by period

 
 
The following table shows the Company’s liabilities and potential due dates related to liquidity 
risk as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Liabilities and obligations Total Less than 1 year 1 - 3 years
4 - 5 
years 

After 5 
years

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 465,148$    465,148$         -$         -$       -$     

Due to brokers 850,698      850,698           -           -         -       
Office lease payments 741,548      239,900           431,325   70,323   -       

2,057,394$ 1,555,746$      431,325$ 70,323$ -$     

Payments due by period

 
 

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at June 30, 2021: 
 

Assets Total
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 years
After 4 
years

Non-liquid 
assets

Cash 205,425$      205,425$       -$               -$   -$         
Due to brokers 21,679           21,679           -                 -     -           
Prepaids and 
receivables 101,829         29,873           -                 -     71,956     

Advances made on 
investments 857,199         857,199         -                 -     -           

Investments, at fair 
value(i) 54,910,872   37,956,435    16,954,437   -     -           

Digital assets, at 
FVLCTS(i) 216,635         216,635         -                 -     -           

Property, 
equipment and right-
of-use assets

321,990         -                  -                 -     321,990   

56,635,629$ 39,287,246$ 16,954,437$ -$   393,946$ 

Liquidity by period
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(i) Private Company and SAFT investments are included in the 1-3 years category since 

they are not expected to be liquidated within 1 year. 
 

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Assets Total Less than 1 year 1 - 3 years
After 4 
years

Non-liquid 
assets

Cash 69,730$           69,730$            -$                 -$     -$           
Due to brokers 50,426             50,426              -                   -       -             
Prepaids and 
receivables 279,239           139,444            -                   -       139,795     

Investments, at fair 
value(i) 13,808,153      7,824,624         5,983,529        -       -             

Digital assets, at 
FVLCTS(i) 255,910           255,910            -                   -       -             

Property, 
equipment and right-
of-use assets

480,972           -                   -                   -       480,972     

14,944,430$    8,340,134$       5,983,529$      -$     620,767$   

Liquidity by period

 
 

(i) Private Company and SAFT investments are included in the 1-3 years category since 
they are not expected to be liquidated within 1 year. 

 
(d) Currency risk:  

 
The Company presently holds funds in Canadian dollars but some of its liabilities are 
denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to 
mitigate its foreign exchange risk. A change in the foreign exchange rate of the Canadian 
dollar versus another currency may increase or decrease the value of the Company’s financial 
instruments. The Company does not hedge its foreign currency exposure. 

 
The following assets and liabilities (excluding investments and digital assets) were 
denominated in foreign currencies: 
 

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Denominated in U.S. dollars:

Cash 36,934$             219$                   
Due from (to) brokers, net (37,168)             (399,574)             
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (20,967)             (18,282)               

Net assets (liabiilities) denominated in U.S. dollars (21,201)             (417,637)              
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The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2021 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which the 
Company has significant exposure with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2021:  
 

Percentage of change in U.S. dollar exchange rate

Change in after-tax net 
income from % change in 
the U.S. dollar exchange 

rate
2% 312$                                 
4% 623                                    
6% 935                                    
8% 1,247                                
10% 1,558                                 

 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2020 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which the 
Company has significant exposure with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2020:  

 

Percentage of change in U.S. dollar exchange rate

Change in after-tax net 
income from % change in 
the U.S. dollar exchange 

rate
2% 6,139$                                
4% 12,279                                
6% 18,418                                
8% 24,557                                
10% 30,696                                 

 
(e) Digital assets regulatory risk:  

 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the legality of SAFT investments in certain jurisdictions, as 
some SAFT investments might not be registered under the local securities law.  

 
(f) Novel corona virus (“COVID-19”): 

 
In March 2020, the global outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization. COVID-19 continues to evolve and has had a significant impact on 
businesses through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial and municipal 
governments regarding travel, business operations and isolation/quarantine orders. To date, 
the Company’s operations have not been significantly affected by COVID-19 or the restrictions 
put in place to fight the virus. Throughout the year ended June 30, 2021, ThreeD’s employees 
have worked from home and the Company has kept in close contact with its investees to 
evaluate the impacts of COVID-19 on ThreeD’s investments. While measures, such as 
vaccines, are being used to combat COVID-19, it is still unknown the true extent of the impact 
the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Company as this will depend on future developments 
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that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence. These uncertainties 
arise from the inability to predict the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, and the 
duration of the outbreak, including the duration of travel restrictions, the effect on investees 
and business closures or disruptions, and quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, 
or may be put in place by Canada and other countries. The Company continues to monitor its 
investment and digital assets portfolio and assess the impact COVID-19 will have on its 
business activities.  

 
 
18.   Commitments 

 
In April 2015, the Company signed a lease for premises which started May 1, 2015 for annual 
payments of approximately $82,875 ($6,906 monthly, increased to $7,166 effective January 1, 
2017) plus applicable taxes until April 30, 2018 and office equipment lease payments of $5,340 
annually ($445 monthly) plus applicable taxes until April 30, 2019.  During the year ended June 30, 
2018, the Company extended the lease on its premises to April 30, 2021 for annual payments of 
approximately $86,125.  Effective December 1, 2020, the Company has assigned the lease of its 
former premises to its subtenant. 
 
In September 2018, the Company signed a lease for new premises which started on December 1, 
2018 until November 30, 2023, for annual payments of approximately $190,974 (plus applicable 
taxes), increasing approximately 3.4% per year.   

 
As at June 30, 2021, future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases for premises 
and equipment are approximately as follows: 

 

2022 89,518$    
2023 214,224    
2024 218,057    
Prepaid rent and operating costs deposits (5,447)       
Total lease commitments 516,352    
Lease operating costs (165,230)   
Discount at effective interest rates of 10% - 15% (56,797)     
Lease liability, as at June 30, 2021 294,325$   

 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company had commitments to purchase investments totaling $350,000 
(June 30, 2020 - $122,250). 

 
 
19.   Contingent liability: 
  

In April 2006, the Company entered into a farm-in agreement with Canoro Resources Ltd. (“Canoro”), 
whereby it acquired a 15% interest in block AA-ONN-2003/2, in Arunachal Pradesh, northwest India.    
During 2009, the parties completed the interpretation of the 3-D seismic program. The consortium 
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partners in the block are: ThreeD - 15%, Canoro - 15%, National Thermal Power Corporation - 40%, 
and Geopetrol International Inc. - 30%.    

 
On April 8, 2010, the Production Sharing Contract (the “PSC”) with the Government of India, through 
the Directorate General of Hydrocarbons (the “DGH”) expired and as a result, the DGH called the 
Company’s letter of guarantee totaling US$1,395,000 issued by Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”). The 
DGH’s position is that the Company and its partners failed to meet certain terms of the PSC governing 
their commitments on exploration block AA-ONN-2003/2. The Company and its partners have 
disputed certain terms of the PSC, including its expiry on the basis of force majeure.  As at June 30, 
2010, the Company wrote-off all of its oil and gas properties and related expenditures in India.   

 
In January 2015, the Company received notice from the DGH that it denied the request for non-levy 
of the cost of the unfinished PSC and demanded payment of the outstanding balance of 
US$14,054,284 (ThreeD’s share – US$1,423,510). There has been no further correspondence from 
the DGH since January 2015. 
 
The Company considers the claim to be completely without merit and will defend itself vigorously. 
No provision has been made for the claim in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
June 30, 2021. 

 
 
20.   Subsequent events: 
 

(a) Subsequent to June 30, 2021, 16,666 and 20,000 stock options with expiration dates of May 
12, 2025 and September 15, 2025 respectively, were exercised for proceeds of $7,667, 
resulting in the Company issuing 36,666 common shares. 
 

(b) Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the Company received advances of $765,000 from the CEO of 
the Company and paid back the CEO $1,373,800 on previous advances received. The advances 
are payable on demand, unsecured and interest free. 
 

(c) Subsequent to June 30, 2021, 1,622,000 warrants with an expiration date of May 31, 2022, 
were exercised for total proceeds received of $648,800, resulting in the Company issuing 
1,622,000 common shares. 

 
(d) In July 2021, the 82,000 common shares held in treasury (Note 10(a)) were cancelled. 

 
(e) In July 2021, the Company announced its intention to effect a new NCIB (“2021 NCIB”) through 

the facilities of the CSE. Pursuant to the NCIB, the Company may, during the twelve-month 
period commencing July 21, 2021, and ending July 20, 2022, purchase on the CSE up to 
2,316,827 common shares in total, representing approximately 5% of the common shares 
issued and outstanding as of July 15, 2021. The price which ThreeD will pay for any such shares 
will be the market price at the time of acquisition. The actual number of common shares which 
may be purchased and the timing of any such purchases will be determined by ThreeD. As at 
the date of these Financial Statements, a total of 1,236,400 common shares have been 
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repurchased and cancelled by ThreeD under the 2021 NCIB at an average costs of $1.12 per 
share for total cost of $1,384,584. 
 

(f) In August 2021, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Florton Artias 
Consulting Inc. (the “Consultant”) pursuant to which the Consultant will provide investor 
awareness services to the Company. For these services, the Company issued 300,000 stock 
options exercisable into common shares of the Company at an exercise price of $1.13 per 
share. The options vest immediately and expire in two years from grant date. The contractual 
services of the Consultant will continue for a two-year period.  

 
(g) In September 2021, the Company issued 100,000 options for payment under a new advisory 

agreement. Each option is exercisable at a price of $1.30 per option for a period of three years 
from the date of issuance. The options will vest over 18 months with one-sixth of the options 
vesting every three months starting three months from the grant date. 
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Independent Auditor's Report 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of ThreeD Capital Inc.:  
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ThreeD Capital Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company"), which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, and the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Company as at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audits and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audits. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Marufur Raza. 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants 
October 27, 2020  Licensed Public Accountants 
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 THREED CAPITAL INC. 

 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 Notes 2020 2019

 Assets 
 Cash 7 $ 69,730            $ 137,082         
 Due from brokers 7 50,426            252               
 Prepaids and receivables 7, 8(g) 279,239          455,741         
 Investments, at fair value 5 13,808,153     20,673,821    
 Digital assets, at fair value less cost to sell 6 255,910          745,800         
 Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 4, 9 480,972          100,865         

$ 14,944,430     $ 22,113,561    

 Liabilities and Equity 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7, 8(h, i) $ 465,148          $ 135,045         
 Due to brokers 7 850,698          326,981         
 Lease liabilities 4, 7, 13 396,522          -                
 Advances from officer 8(k) -                 60,000           

1,712,368       522,026         

 Equity 
 Share capital 10 110,877,572   109,261,469   
 Shares to be issued 8(j) -                 660,728         
 Contributed surplus 10(e, f) 27,613,093     27,141,069    
 Warrants  10(b, c, g) 4,236,465       3,496,833      
 Foreign currency translation reserve 875,180          875,906         
 Deficit (130,370,248) (119,844,470) 

13,232,062     21,591,535    

$ 14,944,430   $ 22,113,561    

 Commitments 13
 Contingent liability 19

 On behalf of the Board: 

 "Sheldon Inwentash"  Director 

 "Alan Myers"  Director 

 Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 As at June 30, 2020 and 2019 

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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 THREED CAPITAL INC. 
 Consolidated Statements of Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss 

 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 Notes 2020 2019

 Net investment and digital asset loss 
 Net realized losses on disposal of investments $ (1,887,709)   $ (2,488,039)  
 Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments (6,328,026)   3,312,477   
 Net realized losses on disposal of digital assets (112,934)      (152,171)    
 Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on digital assets 101,183        (1,391,341)  

(8,227,486)   (719,074)
 Administrative and rental income 261,938        217,939
 Other income  36,598          120,552      

(7,928,950)   (380,583)    

 Expenses 
 Operating, general and administrative 8, 14 2,491,999     3,358,165
 Finance expenses 15 104,829        65,792       

2,596,828     3,423,957

 Loss before income taxes (10,525,778) (3,804,540)  

 Income tax expense 11 -               -            

 Net loss for the year (10,525,778) (3,804,540)  

 Other comprehensive income (loss) 
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (726)             109            

 Total comprehensive loss for the year $ (10,526,504) $ (3,804,431)  

 Loss per common share based   10(h) 
 on net loss for the year 
 Basic and diluted $ (0.43)            $ (0.32)          

 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  10(h) 
 Basic and diluted 24,731,904   11,816,915 

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
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 THREED CAPITAL INC. 

 Number of 
shares  Share capital 

Shares to be 
issued  Warrants  

 Contributed 
surplus 

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve  Deficit  Total equity  

Balance as at July 1, 2018  Notes 9,836,329        106,680,839$    -$              2,112,781$    26,574,558$    875,797$          (116,039,930)$     20,204,045$     
 Net loss for the year -                 -                   -                -               -                 -                  (3,804,540)          (3,804,540)       
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations -                 -                   -                -               -                 109                  -                     109                 
 Total comprehensive loss for the year -                 -                   -                -               -                 109                  (3,804,540)          (3,804,431)       
 Stock-based compensation expense -                 -                   -                -               646,001          -                  -                     646,001           
 Issued pursuant to exercise of stock options  111,111          212,823            -                -               (79,490)           -                  -                     133,333           
 Issued pursuant to private placements, net 5,594,038        2,331,647          -                1,384,052      -                 -                  -                     3,715,699        
 Issued pursuant to marketing services 25,218            36,160              -                -               -                 -                  -                     36,160             
  Shares to be issued -                 -                   660,728         -               -                 -                  -                     660,728           

Balance as at June 30, 2019 15,566,696    109,261,469$   660,728$      3,496,833$   27,141,069$   875,906$         (119,844,470)$    21,591,535$    
 Net loss for the year -                -                  -               -              -                -                 (10,525,778)     (10,525,778)  
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations -                -                  -               -              -                (726)               -                   (726)              
 Total comprehensive loss for the year -                -                  -               -              -                (726)               (10,525,778)     (10,526,504)  
 Stock-based compensation expense  10(e) -                -                  -               -              222,470        -                 -                   222,470         
 Reallocation of expired warrants -                -                  -               (249,554)     249,554        -                 -                   -                
 Issued pursuant to private placements, net 8(b), 10(b) 16,039,672   1,566,383       (660,728)      989,186      -                -                 -                   1,894,841      
 Issued pursuant to marketing services  10(d) 282,519        49,720            -               -              -                -                 -                   49,720           

 Balance as at June 30, 2020 31,888,887 110,877,572$ -$            4,236,465$ 27,613,093$ 875,180$       (130,370,248)$ 13,232,062$ 

 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
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 THREED CAPITAL INC. 
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
 (Prepared in Canadian dollars) 

 Notes 2020 2019

 Cash flows used in operating activities 
 Net loss for the year (10,525,778)$ (3,804,540)$  
 Items not affecting cash 

 Net realized losses on disposal of investments 1,887,709       2,488,039     
 Net change in unrealized losses (gains) on investments 6,328,026       (3,312,477)    
 Net realized losses on disposal of digital assets 112,934          152,171        
 Net change in unrealized losses on digital assets (101,183)        1,391,341     
 Issue of share capital pursuant to marketing services  10(d) 49,720            36,160          
 Stock-based compensation expense  10(e) 222,470          646,001        
 Depreciation 176,546          15,423          
 Finance expense 60,777            -               

(1,788,779)     (2,387,882)    
 Changes in non-cash working capital balances 

 Proceeds on disposal of investments  10,015,291     10,449,154   
 Purchases of investments (11,115,358)   (12,014,104)  
 Proceeds on disposal of digital assets 1,605,667       612,473        
 Purchases of digital assets (1,127,528)     (504,565)       
 Decrease (increase) in prepaids and receivables 119,744          (196,181)       
 Decrease (increase) in due from brokers (50,174)          302              
 Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 330,103          28,146          
 Increase (decrease) in due to brokers 523,717          (464,638)       

(1,487,317)     (4,477,295)    

 Cash flows from financing activities 
 Proceeds pursuant to private placement financings, net  10(b) 1,644,841       3,715,699     
 Proceeds pursuant to exercise of stock options -                 133,333        
 Proceeds from (repayment of) advances from officer (60,000)          60,000          
 Proceeds from shares to be issued -                 660,728        
 Principal payments of lease liabilities (164,150)        -               

1,420,691       4,569,760     

 Cash flows used in investing activities 
 Purchase of property, equipment and right-of-use-assets -                 (101,622)       

-                 (101,622)       

 Net decrease in cash during the year (66,626)          (9,157)          

 Exchange rate changes on foreign currency cash balances (726)              109            

 Cash, beginning of year 137,082          146,130        

 Cash, end of year 69,730$          137,082$      

 See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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1.     Nature of business: 
 

ThreeD Capital Inc. (“ThreeD” or the “Company”) is a publicly-traded Canadian-based venture 
capital firm focused on opportunistic investments in companies in the Junior Resources, Artificial 
Intelligence and Blockchain sectors.  ThreeD seeks to invest in early stage, promising companies 
and initial coin offerings where it may be the lead investor and can additionally provide investees 
with advisory services, mentoring and access to the Company’s ecosystem.  The Company was 
continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on December 1, 2011 and its common 
shares are publicly-traded on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol “IDK” and on 
the OTCQB Venture Market under the stock symbol "IDKFF". The Company is domiciled in the 
Province of Ontario and its head office is located at 69 Yonge St., Suite 1010, Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada.   
 
On May 14, 2019, the Company consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the 
basis of one new common share for every 3 existing common shares.  On April 27, 2020, the 
Company consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one new common 
share for every 4 existing common shares.  All figures and comparative figures reflect the stock 
consolidations, retroactively. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Company’s board of 
directors on October 27, 2020. 

 
2. Basis of preparation: 

 
(a) Statement of compliance: 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”).  Significant accounting estimates, judgments and assumptions used or 
exercised by management in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
presented below.   

 
(b) Basis of presentation: 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 
convention except for certain financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.   
 
All monetary references expressed in these notes are references to Canadian dollar amounts 
(“$”).  
 

(c) Basis of consolidation: 
 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of ThreeD and its 
wholly-owned, inactive subsidiaries: Blockamoto.io Corp., Brownstone Ventures (Barbados) 
Inc. and 2121197 Ontario Ltd.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition,  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 
 
being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until 
the date that such control ceases.  
 
The Company controls an investee if the Company has: 
 
(i) power over the investee; 

 
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 
(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including but not limited to: 
 
(i) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 

 
(ii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 
(iii) the Company’s potential voting rights. 
 
The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.  Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in comprehensive income 
from the date that the Company gains control until the date that the Company ceases to 
control the subsidiary. 

 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as 
the Company’s reporting period using consistent accounting policies.  All inter-company 
account balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. 

 
(d) Critical accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions:  

 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions 
are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates and assumptions could result 
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in future periods.   
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 
 
The information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements is as follows: 

 
(i) Fair value of investments in securities not quoted in an active market: 

 
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the 
consolidated statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, 
they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques.  The inputs to these models 
are derived from observable market data where possible, but where observable market 
data are not available, judgment is required to establish fair values.  Changes in 
estimates and assumptions about these inputs could affect the reported fair value.  Refer 
to Note 5(b) for further details. 
 

(ii) Fair value of financial derivatives: 
 
The Company measures financial instruments, such as warrants, at fair value at each 
consolidated statement of financial position date.  Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
Investments in options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities 
exchange do not have a readily available market value. When there are sufficient and 
reliable observable market inputs, an option pricing model is used; if no such market 
inputs are available, the warrants and options are valued using alternative methods 
representing fair value. Changes in estimates and assumptions about these inputs could 
affect the reported fair value. Refer to Note 5(b) for further details. 

 
(iii) Measurement of digital assets, at fair value less cost to sell: 

 
Digital assets consist of the following: 
 
a. electronic currency, coins, or alternative cryptocurrency coins (altcoins) - a type 

of currency only available in digital form; 
 

b. digital tokens – a representation of a particular asset or utility which are created 
and distributed to the public through an Initial Coin Offering (“ICO”).  ICO is a 
means of crowdfunding, though the release of a new token to fund project 
development similar to an initial public offering for stocks; and 

 
c. Simple Agreement for Future Tokens (“SAFT”) – an agreement with a promise to 

distribute tokens to investors in the future (a token presale and not an ICO).    
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 
 
There are inherent and higher risks to digital assets including the risk associated with 
traditional securities, which include significant price volatility, the loss of the digital 
assets, fraud and high transaction fees.   
 
Where the fair values of digital assets recorded on the consolidated statements of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a 
variety of valuation techniques.  The inputs to these models are derived from observable 
market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, 
judgment is required to establish fair values.  Changes in estimates and assumptions 
about these inputs could affect the reported fair value.  Refer to Note 6(b) for further 
details. 
 

(iv) Stock-based compensation expense: 
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value 
of options in order to calculate stock-based compensation expense.  The Black-Scholes 
model involves six key inputs to determine the fair value of an option: risk-free interest 
rate, exercise price, market price at the date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected 
life, and expected volatility. Certain of the inputs are estimates that involve   
considerable judgment and are or could be affected by significant factors that are out 
of the Company’s control.  The Company is also required to estimate the future forfeiture 
rate of options based on historical information in its calculation of stock-based 
compensation expense.  Refer to Note 10(e) for further details. 
 

(v) Warrants: 
 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the value of 
warrants issued as part of the Company’s private placements. The Black-Scholes model 
requires six key inputs to determine a value for a warrant: risk free interest rate, exercise 
price, market price at date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected life and expected 
volatility. Certain of the inputs are estimates which involve considerable judgment and 
are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are out of the Company’s control.  
For example, a longer expected life of the warrant or a higher volatility number used 
would result in an increase in the warrant value.  Refer to Note 10(b,c,g) for further 
details. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 
 
The information about significant areas of judgment considered by management in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 
(i) Determination of functional currency: 

 
The effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ (IAS 21) defines the functional 
currency as the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity 
operates. The determination of functional currency, which is performed on an entity by 
entity basis, is based on various judgmental factors outlined in IAS 21.  

 
(ii) Deferred tax assets: 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary 
differences to the extent it is probable that taxable income will be available against 
which the losses can be utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon the likely timing and level of 
future taxable income together with future tax planning strategies.  Refer to Note 11 
for further details. 
 

(iii) Significant influence: 
 
Management determines its ability to exercise significant influence over an investee by 
looking at its percentage interest and other qualitative factors including but not limited 
to its voting rights, representation on the board of directors, participation in policy-
making processes, material transactions between the Company and the investee, 
interchange of managerial personnel, provision of essential technical information and 
operating involvement.   
 
As at June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s percentage holding in its private investees 
which are greater than 20% were as follows: 
 

 Percentage Owned
Private investees: 2020 2019
Casino Gold Corp. 0% < 10%
New Found Gold Corp. 0% 23%
Radio Fuels Corp. 0% < 10%

 
As at June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not have the following: representation 
on the board, participate in the policy-making process, material transactions between 
the Company and investees, interchange of managerial personnel, provision of essential 
technical information and operating involvement.  Accordingly, the Company determined 
that it does not have significant influence in these investees. 
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3. Significant accounting policies: 
 

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented. 

 
(a) Financial investments: 

 
On July 24, 2014, the IASB issued the completed IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, (IFRS 9 
(2014)) to come into effect on January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted. 
 
IFRS 9 (2014) includes finalized guidance on the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified and measured either at amortized cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”) based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their 
contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: recognition and measurement, for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities. 
 
The Company adopted IFRS 9 in its consolidated financial statements on July 1, 2018. Due 
to the nature of its financial instruments, the adoption of IFRS 9 had no impact on the opening 
accumulated deficit balance on July 1, 2018. The impact on the classification and 
measurement of its financial instruments is set out below. 

 
(i) Classification: 

 
All financial assets not classified at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. On 
initial recognition, the Company can irrevocably designate a financial asset at FVTPL if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated at FVTPL: 
 
 It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial asset to 

collect the contractual cash flows associated with the financial asset instead of 
selling the financial asset for a profit or loss; 

 Its contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest. 

 
All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the consolidated 
statements of financial position. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is 
based on their classification. Financial assets and liabilities classified at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized in the consolidated 
statements of net loss and comprehensive loss for the year. Financial assets classified 
at amortized cost and financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

The following table summarizes the classification and measurement changes under IFRS 
9 for each financial instrument: 

 
Classification IAS 39 IFRS 9 

Cash  FVTPL FVTPL 
Investments, at fair value FVTPL FVTPL 
Accounts receivables Amortized Cost Amortized Cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized Cost Amortized Cost 
Due from (to) brokers Amortized Cost Amortized Cost 

 

The original carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments under IAS 39 has 
not changed under IFRS 9. 

 
(ii) Recognition, de-recognition and measurement: 

  
Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date.  
 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value where 
reliable basis for determination exists. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the 
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income.  Investments are 
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired 
or the Company has transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for 
derecognition in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) (2013). 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, all investments are measured at fair value. Gains and 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of the investments at fair value through 
profit or loss category are presented in the consolidated statement of income and 
comprehensive income within net change in unrealized gains or losses on investments 
in the period in which they arise.  

 
(iii) Reclassification of investments: 

 
The Company would only reclassify a financial asset when the Company changes its 
business model for managing the financial asset.  Reclassifications are recorded at fair 
value at the date of reclassification, which becomes the new carrying value.  

 
(iv) Determination of fair value: 
 

The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, 
where available and appropriate.  At the end of each financial reporting period, the 
Company’s management estimates the fair value of investments based on the criteria 
below and reflects such valuations in the consolidated financial statements.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

The Company is also required to disclose details of its investments (and other financial 
assets and liabilities reported at fair value) within three hierarchy levels (Level 1, 2, or 
3) based on the transparency of inputs used in measuring the fair value, and to provide 
additional disclosure in connection therewith (see Note 5(b)).  

 
1. Publicly-traded investments: 

 
a. Securities, including shares, options, and warrants that are traded in an 

active market (such as on a recognized securities exchange) and for which 
no sales restrictions apply are presented at fair value based on quoted 
closing trade prices at the consolidated statements of financial position date 
or the closing trade price on the last day the security traded if there were no 
trades at the consolidated statements of financial position date.  These 
investments are included in Level 1 in Note 5(b). 

 
b. Securities that are traded on a recognized securities exchange but which are 

escrowed or otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at 
amounts discounted from market value to a maximum of 10%.  In 
determining the discount for such investments, the Company considers the 
nature and length of the restriction. These investments are included in Level 
2 in Note 5(b). 
 

c. For options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities 
exchange, no market value is readily available. When there are sufficient and 
reliable observable market inputs, an option pricing model is used; if no such 
market inputs are available, the warrants and options are valued using 
alternative methods representing fair value. These investments are included 
in Level 2 in Note 5(b). 

 
d. For convertible debentures and loans that are not traded on a recognized 

securities exchange and no market value is readily available.  Convertible 
debentures and loans are initially recorded at the transaction price, being 
the fair value at the time of acquisition.  Thereafter, at the end of each 
financial reporting period, the combined instrument is adjusted to fair value 
based on alternative methods. These investments are included in Level 3 in 
Note 5(b). 

 
2. Private company investments: 

 
All privately-held investments (other than options and warrants) are initially 
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of 
acquisition.  Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of an investment  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 
may, depending upon the circumstances, be adjusted using one or more of the 
valuation indicators described below.  These investments are included in Level 3 
in Note 5(b).   
 
The determinations of fair value of the Company’s privately-held investments at 
other than initial cost are subject to certain limitations.  Financial information for 
private companies in which the Company has investments may not be available 
and, even if available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable.  Use of 
the valuation approach described below may involve uncertainties and 
determinations based on the Company’s judgment and any value estimated from 
these techniques may not be realized or realizable.   

 
Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair 
value of a privately-held investment should be adjusted upward or downward at 
the end of each reporting period.  In addition to company-specific information, the 
Company will take into account trends in general market conditions and the share 
performance of comparable publicly-traded companies when valuing privately-held 
investments.   

 
The absence of the occurrence of any of these events, any significant change in 
trends in general market conditions, or any significant change in share 
performance of comparable publicly-traded companies indicates generally that the 
fair value of the investment has not materially changed. 
 
The fair value of a privately-held investment may be adjusted if: 

 
a. there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside 

investors at a valuation different than the current value of the investee 
company, in which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value 
at which that financing took place;  

 
b. there have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting 

the investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a material impact 
on the investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value.  In these 
circumstances, the adjustment to the fair value of the investment will be 
based on management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be 
realized or realizable;  

 
c. the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy; 

 
d. based on financial information received from the investee company, it is 

apparent to the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able to 
continue as a going concern;  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

e. receipt/denial by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal 
or similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed/prohibit 
with its project(s); 

 
f. filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101 technical 

report in respect of a previously non-compliant resource; 
 

g. release by the investee company of positive/negative exploration results; 
and 

 
h. important positive/negative management changes by the investee company 

that the Company’s management believes will have a very positive/negative 
impact on the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build 
value for shareholders. 

 
Adjustments to the fair value of a privately-held investment will be based upon 
management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or 
realizable.  The resulting values for non-publicly traded investments may differ 
from values that would be realized if a ready market existed.   In addition, the 
amounts at which the Company’s privately-held investments could be disposed of 
currently may differ from the carrying value assigned. 

 
(b) Financial assets other than investments at fair value: 

 
Financial assets  that are managed to collect contractual cash flows made up of principal and 
interest on specified dates are classified as loans and receivable. They are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost.  All other financial assets are designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss. All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of 
financial assets classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, directly attributable 
transaction costs.   

 
Financial assets at amortized cost are measured at initial cost plus interest calculated using 
the effective interest rate method less cumulative repayments and cumulative impairment 
losses.    
 
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset. 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that 
a financial asset is impaired. For amounts deemed to be impaired, the impairment provision 
is based upon the expected credit loss. 

  



 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
June 30, 2020 and 2019 
(Prepared in Canadian dollars) 
 

18 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

(c) Digital assets at fair value less cost to sell (“FVLCTS”): 
 
Digital coins and digital tokens held by the Company are carried at fair value less cost to sell 
for the purposes of consolidated financial statements. The Company determines the fair value 
of such digital coins and digital tokens using the closing price on the valuation date price 
provided by the crypto exchange that the Company considers the principal market. 
 
To determine which exchange is the principal market for the purpose of calculating the fair 
value less cost to sell of a particular digital asset, the Company considers only those 
exchanges that are available to be used by the Company, have an online trading platform 
and published transaction price and volume data. The determination of principal market is 
specific to a particular digital asset. Based on these requirements, the Company prepares a 
list of eligible crypto exchanges and consider the following criteria to select the  principal 
market: (i) whether it contains the crypto trading pairs that Company transacts with; (ii) the 
volume of digital coins and digital tokens traded on such exchange in the prior twelve month. 
 
The Company evaluates the principal markets annually and conducts a quarterly analysis to 
determine if any changes in principal market required.  

 
Digital Coins and tokens which are not actively traded and purchases under SAFTs are initially 
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition.  Thereafter, 
at each reporting period, the fair value (depending upon the circumstances) maybe adjusted 
using one or more valuation indicators (refer to the accounting policy for the fair value of a 
privately-held investments). These are included in Level 3. 

 
(d) Revenue recognition: 
 

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and when the right to receive the 
dividend has been established.  Interest income and other income are recorded on an accrual 
basis. 
 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date.  Realized gains 
and losses on disposal of investments and unrealized gains and losses in the value of 
investments are reflected in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive 
income.  Upon disposal of an investment, previously recognized unrealized gains or losses are 
reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of disposition.  All 
transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of investments are expensed 
to the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income as incurred.   
 
Purchases and sales of digital assets are recognized on the day in which the Company and 
the counterparty consummates the transaction. The Company also accepts and receives 
digital currency as consideration for services and in private placement financings.  The digital 
assets are recorded on the statement of financial position, as digital assets, at their fair value 
less cost to sell and re-measured at each reporting date.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 
Realized gains and losses on disposal of digital assets and unrealized gains and losses in the 
value of digital assets are reflected in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.  Upon disposal of a digital currency, previously recognized unrealized 
gains or losses are reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of 
disposition.  Digital assets which are traded on an exchange but which are escrowed or 
otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at amounts discounted from market 
value to a maximum of 10%.  In determining the discount for such digital currency, the 
Company considers the nature and length of the restriction.  SAFTs are initially recorded at 
the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition.  Thereafter, at each 
reporting period, the fair value of a SAFT may (depending upon the circumstances) be 
adjusted using one or more valuation indicators.   

 
All transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of digital currency are 
expensed to the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss as incurred.  The 
Company records the revaluation of gains and losses in profit and loss because this is 
considered to be the most fair and accurate presentation of the Company’s operations to the 
users of the financial statements. 

 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting frameworks 
for the accounting for the purchase, sale or exchange of digital assets and management has 
exercised significant judgement in determining appropriate accounting treatment for the 
recognition of revenue transactions in digital assets. In the event authoritative guidance is 
enacted by the IASB, the Company may be required to change its policies which could result 
in a change in the Company’s financial position and earnings. initially recorded at the 
transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition.  Thereafter, at each reporting 
period, the fair value of an investment may (depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted 
using one or more valuation indicators.   

 
(e) Foreign currency:  

 
(i) Functional currency: 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
parent’s functional currency. Each entity in the group determines its own functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. The functional currency of Brownstone Ventures 
(Barbados) Inc. is U.S. dollars, the functional currency of 2121197 Ontario Ltd. is 
Canadian dollars. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances: 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the 
rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange 
in effect at the reporting date.    
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.   

 
(iii) Translation of foreign operations: 

  
The results and financial position of ThreeD’s subsidiaries that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows: 

 
1. Assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position 

presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of 
financial position; 

 
2. Share capital is translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; 

 
3. Revenue and expenses for each consolidated statement of income and 

comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates; and 
 

4. All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of 
equity and as an exchange difference on translation of foreign operations in other 
comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of income and 
comprehensive income. 

 
The Company treats specific inter-company loan balances that are not intended to be 
repaid in the foreseeable future as part of its net investment in a foreign operation, 
which is recorded as an exchange difference on translation of foreign operations in other 
comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive 
income.   
 
When a foreign entity is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to income or 
loss in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income as part of the 
gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a 
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 
the closing rate. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

(f) Offsetting of financial instruments: 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statements of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 
(g) Non-monetary transactions: 

  
Transactions in which shares or other non-cash consideration are exchanged for assets or 
services are valued at the fair value of the assets or services involved. 

 
(h) Leases: 

  
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement at the inception date. It requires consideration of whether the fulfilment 
of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific tangible asset or the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the tangible asset.  

 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in 
the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 

 
(i) Income taxes: 

 
(i) Current income tax: 

 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.   

 
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off the amounts, and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or to realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  Current income tax relating to items 
recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not through profit or loss. 

 
(ii) Deferred tax: 

 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
income will be available against which the deductible temporary difference and the 
carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date.  Deferred tax relating to items recognized directly 
in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statement of net loss 
and comprehensive loss.   
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not offset unless a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated statement 
of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized.  

 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  
 
The Company does not record deferred tax assets to the extent that it considers 
deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses cannot be utilized. 

 
(j) Stock-based compensation plan: 

 
The Company has a stock option plan that is described in Note 10(e).  Employees (including 
officers), directors, and consultants of the Company receive remuneration in the form of stock 
options granted under the plan for rendering services to the Company.  Any consideration 
received by the Company on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.  The cost 
of options is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus, over 
the period in which the corresponding performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant optionee becomes fully entitled to the award (“ vesting 
date”).  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

The cumulative expense recognized for option grants at each reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the portion of the vesting period that passed and the Company’s best estimate of 
the number of options that will ultimately vest on the vesting date. The Company records 
compensation expense and credits contributed surplus for all stock options granted, which 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of 
that period.   

 
Stock options granted during the period are accounted for in accordance with the fair value 
method of accounting for stock-based compensation.  The fair value for these options is 
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company is 
also required to estimate the expected future forfeiture rate of options in its calculation of 
stock-based compensation expense. 
 
Where the terms of a stock option award are modified, the minimum expense recognized in 
compensation expense is the expense as if the terms had not been modified.  An additional 
expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the option, or 
is otherwise beneficial to the optionee as measured at the date of modification. 

 
Where an option is cancelled, any expense not yet recognized for the vested options on the 
date of cancellation is recognized immediately.  

 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share. 

 
(k) Earnings (loss) per common share: 

 
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is determined by dividing net profit (loss) attributable 
to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year.  Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is calculated in accordance with 
the treasury stock method and based on the weighted average number of common shares 
and dilutive common share equivalents outstanding.   

 
(l) Financial liabilities: 

  
Financial liabilities are presented at amortized cost except for financial derivatives and certain 
financial liabilities that from inception were designated at fair value through profit or loss.  All 
financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction 
costs, except for those designated at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of net loss 
and comprehensive loss.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently recognized at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.  The 
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period. 

 
(m) Financial derivatives – options and warrants:  

 
A financial derivative such as a warrant or option that will be settled with the issuing entity’s 
own equity instruments will be classified as an equity instrument if the derivative is used to 
acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of Canadian 
dollars.  

 
A financial derivative will be considered as a financial liability at fair value through profit or 
loss if it is used to acquire either a variable number of equity instruments or consideration in 
a foreign currency and the options and warrants were not offered pro rata to all existing 
owners of the same class of non-derivative equity instruments.   

 
(n) Segment reporting: 

 
Reportable segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate 
financial information is available, that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision 
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  During the year 
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s operations primarily relate to investing. The 
Company’s management is responsible for the Company’s entire investment and digital assets’ 
portfolios and considers the business to have a single operating segment. 

 
(o) Provisions: 

 
Provisions are recognized when (a) the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event that is independent of future action by the Company, 
and (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as 
a finance cost. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
 

(p) Property, equipment and right-of-use assets: 
 

Property, equipment, and right-of-use assets are recorded at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.  Depreciation is provided at rates 
designed to amortize the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
 Rate Basis 
Furniture and equipment 20% Declining balance 
Leasehold improvements 5 years Over the term of the lease 
Computer equipment 30% Declining balance 
Right-of-use assets 1.5-5 years Over the term of the lease 

 
The carrying values of property equipment and right-of-use assets are assessed for 
impairment when indicators of such impairment exist, or when annual impairment testing for 
an asset is required. 

 
If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount is 
calculated. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the fair value less costs to 
sell for the asset and the asset’s value in use.  
 
If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is deemed 
impaired and an impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognized.  The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount 
of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statements of net 
loss and comprehensive loss. 

 
4. Changes in accounting polices: 
 

Effective July 1, 2019, the Company has adopted amendments to IFRS 16, Leases.   IFRS 16 was 
issued in January 2016 replacing the previous lease standard, International Accounting Standards 
(“IAS”) 17, Leases, and related interpretations. The new standard requires lessees to recognize 
right‐of‐use assets and lease liabilities for most leases and recognize the associated expenses to 
depreciation and interest expense, respectively. 
 
The Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the 
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17, Leases 
and IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease.   The Company used the 
following exemptions: 
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4.   Changes in accounting policies (continued): 
 

 the election is being taken to not reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at 
the date of initial application, and instead to only apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were 
in the scope of IAS 17;  

 the election is being taken to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with 
reasonably similar characteristics;  

 the election is being taken to rely on the IAS 37 assessment of whether leases are 
onerous instead of performing an impairment review;  

 the election is being taken to exclude leases for which the term ends within 12 months 
from July 1, 2019.  The Company recognizes the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term;  

 
The Company presents right-of-use assets in ‘Property, equipment and right-of-use assets’ and 
lease liabilities in ‘Lease liabilities’ in the consolidated statement of financial position.  Property, 
equipment and right-of-use assets include furniture and fixtures, leasehold improvements, 
computer equipment, and right-of-use assets. 
 
The following table reconciles the aggregate future minimum lease payments. 

 
Future minimum annual lease as at June 30, 2019 $      975,200
Lease payments adjusted for additional rent for operating costs (249,360)
Lease payments adjusted for deposits made (56,758)
Gross lease liabilities as at July 1, 2019 669,082
Discount at effective interest rates of 10.0% to 15.0% (169,187)
Net lease liabilities as at July 1, 2019      499,895
Principal payments of lease liabilities (164,150)
Finance expense 60,777
Net lease liabilities as at June 30, 2020 $     396,522

 
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded $60,777 in finance expenses related 
to lease liabilities.  
 
The following table shows the right-of-use assets balance on transition to IFRS 16 and amortization 
recorded during the period. (See Note 9 and 13) 

 
Net lease liabilities as at July 1, 2019 $     499,895
Prepaid rent deposits  56,758
Right-of-use assets as at July 1, 2019 $     556,653
Net accumulated depreciation (152,412)
Right-of-use assets as at June 30, 2020 $     404,241
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5. Investments at fair value and financial instruments hierarchy: 
 

(a) The fair value and cost of investments are as follows as at June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

 Fair Value Cost
2020 $   13,808,153 $  7,182,052
2019 $    20,673,821 $  7,709,810

 
(b) Financial instruments hierarchy: 

 
The fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements.  The level in the hierarchy within which the fair 
value measurement is categorized is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.  The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels: 

 
(i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 

 
(ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
(Level 2). 

 
(iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 
 

For financial instruments that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.  The following table presents 
the Company’s financial instruments, measured at fair value and categorized into levels of the 
fair value hierarchy on the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2020 
and 2019: 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  
 
 
Investments, at fair value 

Quoted 
market price 

Valuation technique 
– observable 

market inputs 

Valuation technique 
– non-observable 

market inputs 

 
 

Total 
2020 $  3,781,687 $       4,042,937  $      5,983,529 $   13,808,153
2019 $    2,945,855 $         3,421,263  $      14,306,703 $     20,673,821

 
Level 2 includes warrants of public issuers and common stock of public issuers, whose resale 
is currently restricted.  These securities typically have a 120-day hold period and are valued 
by applying a discount against the price of the unrestricted public stock price.  Once the 
restriction has elapsed, these securities will become Level 1 securities.   
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5.     Investments at fair value and financial instruments hierarchy (continued): 
 

In addition, investments which are in Level 3 and become public issuers during the period are 
transferred to Level 1 or 2. These represents the only type of transfer between Levels during 
the current year.    

 
The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements of financial instruments 
classified as Level 3 for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.  These financial instruments 
are measured at fair value utilizing non-observable market inputs based on specific company 
information and general market conditions.  The net change in unrealized gains (losses) are 
recognized in the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. 
 

 
 
 

Opening 
balance at 

July 1, Purchases 
Proceeds on 
dispositions 

Realized 
losses on 

dispositions 

 
 

Transfer to 
Level 1 or 2 

Net 
unrealized 

gains 
(losses) 

Ending 
balance 

2020 $ 14,306,703 $ 1,170,886 $ (1,504,285) $   (283,347) $ (5,066,762) $ (2,639,666) $    5,983,529
2019 $   12,459,467 $   2,679,581 $                   - $                  - $ (4,607,988) $   3,775,643 $    14,306,703 

 
Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 3 investments 
were: 
 

 
 
Description 

 
Fair value at  
June 30, 2020 

 
Valuation 
technique 

 
Unobservable 

input 

 
% of 

Investments 

Volatility to changes in 
significant unobservable 

inputs (%) 
 
 
 
Unlisted private 
equities 

 
 
 
 

$   2,738,033 

 
 
 
Grey market 
activity 

Recent 
transaction price 
and discount for 
lack of 
marketability 

 
 
 
 

19.8 
Additional grey market 

activity
Unlisted convertible 
debentures 

 
2,439,544 

Grey market 
activity 

New investment 
during the period 

 
17.7 

Additional grey market 
activity

Unlisted private 
equities 

 
793,379 

Grey market 
activity 

New investment 
during the period 

 
5.7 

Additional grey market 
activity

 
 
Unlisted warrants 

 
 

12,573 

 
 
Black Scholes 

Market prices, 
volatility, 
discount rate 

 
 

0.1 110% volatility
 $   5,983,529  43.3  
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5.     Investments at fair value and financial instruments hierarchy (continued): 
 
 
 
Description 

 
Fair value at  
June 30, 2019 

 
Valuation 
technique 

 
Unobservable 

input 

 
% of 

Investments 

Volatility to changes in 
significant unobservable 

inputs (%) 
 
 
 
Unlisted private 
equities 

 
 
 
 

$   10,941,120 

 
 
 
Grey market 
activity 

Recent 
transaction price 
and discount for 
lack of 
marketability 

 
 
 
 

52.9 
Additional grey market 

activity
 
Unlisted private 
equities 

 
 

2,184,461 

 
Grey market 
activity 

 
New investment 
during the period 

 
 

10.6 
Additional grey market 

activity
Unlisted convertible 
debentures 

 
806,822 

Grey market 
activity 

New investment 
during the period 

 
3.9 

Additional grey market 
activity

 
 
Unlisted warrants 

 
 

374,300 

 
 
Black Scholes 

Market prices, 
volatility, 
discount rate 

 
 

1.8 85%-253% volatility
 $   14,306,703  69.2  

 
For investments valued based on trends in comparable publicly traded companies, general 
market conditions and specific company information, the inputs used can be highly 
judgmental. A +/- 25% change on the fair value of this investment will result in a 
corresponding +/- $1,495,882 (2019 - $3,575,675) change in the total fair value of the 
investments. While this illustrates the overall effect of changing the values of the 
unobservable inputs by a set percentage, the significance of the impact and the range of 
reasonably possible alternative assumptions may differ significantly between investments, 
given their different terms and circumstances.   

 
The sensitivity analysis is intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the valuation of these 
investments under current market conditions, and its results cannot be extrapolated due to 
non-linear effects that changes in valuation assumptions may have on the fair value of this 
investment. 
 
Furthermore, the analysis does not indicate a probability of such changes occurring and it 
does not necessarily represent the Company’s view of expected future changes in the fair 
value of this investment. Any management actions that may be taken to mitigate the inherent 
risks are not reflected in this analysis. 
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6. Digital assets at fair value less cost to sell: 
 

(a) The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets are as follows as at June 30, 2020: 
 

 Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $              91 $             141
Digital tokens 767,414 255,769
SAFTs 1,191,609 -
 $   1,959,114 $    255,910
 

The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets are as follows as at June 30, 2019: 
 

 Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $      220,749 $        641,719
Digital tokens 1,137,828 104,081
SAFTs 1,191,609 -
 $   2,550,186 $        745,800
 

Digital currency prices are affected by various forces including global supply and demand, 
interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation and the global political and economic 
conditions.  Digital assets have a limited history and the fair value historically has been very 
volatile.  The Company may not be able to liquidate its inventory of digital currency at its 
desired price if required. The Company invests in SAFTs which is an agreement with a promise 
by the company to distribute tokens to investors in the future (ie: a token presale and not an 
ICO).  There may be no resale of the SAFT and a considerable period of time may elapse 
between the payment of the SAFT and the receipt of the tokens, if at all.  SAFTs are subject 
to high risks.  
 

(b) The following table presents the Company’s digital assets, measured at fair value less cost to 
sell and categorized into levels of the fair value hierarchy on the consolidated statements of 
financial position as at June 30, 2020: 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  
 
 
Digital assets, at fair 
value less cost to sell 

Quoted 
market price 

Valuation technique 
– observable 

market inputs 

Valuation technique 
– non-observable 

market inputs 

 
 

Total 

Digital coins $                  - $              141 $                      - $              141
Digital tokens - 255,769 - 255,769
SAFTs - - - -
 $                  - $      255,910 $                     - $      255,910
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6.     Digital assets at fair value less cost to sell (continued): 
 
The following table presents the Company’s digital assets, measured at fair value less cost to 
sell and categorized into levels of the fair value hierarchy on the consolidated statements of 
financial position as at June 30, 2019: 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  
 
Digital assets, at fair 
value less cost to sell 

Quoted market 
price 

Valuation technique – 
observable market 

inputs 

Valuation technique – 
non-observable 
market inputs 

 
 

Total 
Digital coins $                  - $      641,719 $                      - $      641,719
Digital tokens - 104,081 - 104,081
SAFTs - - - -
 $                  - $      745,800 $                      - $      745,800

 
Transfers between Levels are deemed to have occurred at the date of event.  The transfer 
out of Level 3 consists of digital assets (primarily SAFTs) that become actively traded on a 
digital exchange during the year. 

 
The following table presents the changes in FVLCTS measurements of digital assets classified 
as Level 3 for the year ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.  The net change in unrealized losses 
are recognized in the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. 
 

 
 
 

Opening 
balance at 

July 1, Purchases 
Transfer to 
level 1 or 2 

Net unrealized 
losses  Ending balance 

2020 $                 - $                    - $                    - $                       - $                    -
2019 $   1,771,824 $                    - $      (573,248) $      (1,198,576) $                   - 

 
All purchases in Level 3 were from SAFTs and once tokens are received the amounts are 
transferred to Level 1 or 2. Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement 
of Level 3 digital assets may include foreign exchange rate changes and the change in other 
digital currency rate equivalents. 
 

7. Financial assets and (liabilities) other than investments at fair value: 
 
Financial assets and liabilities other than investments at fair value are as follows as at June 30: 
 

  2020 2019 
Cash  $         69,730 $       137,082
Due from brokers 50,426 252
Receivables 139,444 53,575
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (465,148) (135,045)
Due to brokers (850,698) (326,981)
Lease liabilities (396,522) -
Advances from officer - (60,000)
 $   (1,452,768) $      (331,117)
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7.     Financial assets and (liabilities) other than investments at fair value (continued): 
 

The carrying values of cash, due from brokers, receivables, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, due to brokers, and advances from officer approximate their fair values due to the 
short term to maturity for these instruments.  As at June 30, 2020 and 2019, there were no 
expected credit losses for the receivables. 

 
8. Related party transactions: 

 
All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations and are 
recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to 
by the related parties. 
 
(a) Compensation to key management personnel, directors and other related parties were as 

follows during the years ended June 30:  
 

Type of expense  2020 2019 

Salaries and consulting fees  $      737,000  $      1,242,455  
Directors fees  - 75,000
Other short-term benefits  21,097 16,529
Stock-based compensation expense (10(c, d)) 219,029 1,445,978
  $      977,126 $      1,825,976

 
Key management personnel are the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief 
Financial Officer/Corporate Secretary (“CFO”) and directors of the Company.  During the year 
ended June 30, 2019, a cash bonus of $600,000 was paid to the CEO.   

 
(b) During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company completed eight non-brokered private 

placements as described in Note 10(b).  On July 2, 2019, two directors and a close family 
member of the CEO subscribed for 817,237 units for gross proceeds of $212,482.  On August 
20, 2019, close family members of the CEO subscribed for 1,275,000 units for gross proceeds 
of $255,000. On September 13, 2019, the CEO and a director subscribed for 1,300,000 units 
for gross proceeds of $260,000.  On November 22, 2019, a close family member of the CEO 
subscribed for 1,250,000 units for gross proceeds of $165,000. On January 28, 2020, a 
director and close family members of the CEO subscribed for 3,891,666 units for gross 
proceeds of $467,000. On February 24, 2020, close family members of the CEO subscribed 
for 2,500,000 units for gross proceeds of $300,000. On May 8, 2020, the CEO subscribed for 
1,000,000 units for gross proceeds of $100,000. 
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8.    Related party transactions (continued): 
 

(c) During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company completed four non-brokered private 
placements as described in Note 10(c).  On August 23, 2018, the CEO, other directors and 
close family members of the CEO subscribed for 466,665 units for gross proceeds of 
$560,000.  On October 30, 2018, the CEO, a director, and other close family members of 
the CEO subscribed for 624,999 units for gross proceeds of $750,000. On March 1, 2019, a 
close family member of the CEO subscribed for 125,000 units for gross proceeds of 
$150,000.  On May 31, 2019, the CEO and his close family members subscribed for 
2,430,769 units for gross proceeds of $632,000. 

 
(d) On September 18, 2019, 62,500 stock options were granted to a director of the Company, 

exercisable at a price of $0.40 per share, expiring on September 18, 2024.  On May 12, 
2020, 450,000 stock options were granted to directors of the Company, exercisable at a 
price of $0.10 per share, expiring on May 12, 2025. 

 
(e) On September 14, 2018, 299,999 stock options were granted to directors and officers of 

the Company, exercisable at a price of $1.20 per share, expiring on September 14, 2023.  
On December 14, 2018, 487,498 stock options were granted to directors and officers of the 
Company, exercisable at a price of $1.20 per share, expiring on December 14, 2023. On 
April 11, 2019, 187,499 stock options were granted to the CEO and a close family member 
of the CEO, exercisable at a price of $1.20 per share, expiring on April 11, 2024. During the 
year ended June 30, 2019, the CEO exercised 111,111 stock options at an average price of 
$1.20 per share for total proceeds of $133,333. 

 
(f) As at June 30, 2020, included in prepaids and receivables is $75,710 (June 30, 2019 - 

$40,680) due from a related party with a common director.  The receivables are for rental 
and administrative services.   

 
(g) As at June 30, 2020, included in prepaids and receivables is $94,167 (June 30, 2019 - 

$282,500) in prepaid consulting fees to Park Place Limited, a private company controlled by 
the CEO.  As at June 30, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is 
$11,023 due to Park Place Limited (June 30, 2019 - $2,556 due to the CEO) relating to 
reimbursement of operating expenses. 

 
(h) As at June 30, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $62,150 (June 

30, 2019 - $nil) due to a company controlled by the CFO relating to consulting fees owing 
to him. 

 
(i) As at June 30, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $18,201 (June 

30, 2019 - $2,556) due to the CEO relating to reimbursement of operating expenses. 
 
(j) As at June 30, 2019, included in shares to be issued is $212,482 from two directors and a 

close family member of the CEO.   
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8.    Related party transactions (continued): 
 

(k) As at June 30, 2019, the Company had advances from officer (CEO) of $60,000 which were 
due on demand, unsecured and interest free. The advances were fully repaid in July 2019. 
 

9. Property, equipment and right-of-use assets: 
 
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets are as follows as at June 30: 
 

Cost 
Furniture 

and fixtures 
Leasehold 

improvements
Computer 
equipment 

Right-of-use 
assets Total 

Balance – June 30, 2018  $ 39,394  $              - $ 6,332 $ - $       45,726
Additions 60,326 31,813 9,483 - 101,622
Balance – June 30, 2019 99,720 31,813 15,815 - 147,348
Right-of-use additions (non-cash)  - - - 556,653 556,653
Balance – June 30, 2020 $ 99,720 $     31,813 $       15,815 $ 556,653 $    704,001

 

Accumulated Amortization 
Furniture 

and fixtures 
Leasehold 

improvements
Computer 
equipment 

Right-of-use 
assets Total 

Balance – June 30, 2018  $ 28,135  $               - $          2,925 $                - $       31,060
Amortization 8,016 3,712 3,695 - 15,423
Balance – June 30, 2019 36,151          3,712 6,620 - 46,483
Amortization  12,714 6,362 5,058 152,412 176,545
Balance – June 30, 2020 $ 48,865 $     10,074 $ 11,678 $ 152,412 $ 223,029

 

Carrying Value 
Furniture 

and fixtures 
Leasehold 

improvements
Computer 
equipment 

Right-of-use 
assets Total 

Balance – June 30, 2019 $ 63,569 $       28,101 $ 9,195 $ - $      100,865
Balance – June 30, 2020 $ 50,855 $      21,739 $ 4,137 $ 404,241 $    480,972

 
10. Equity: 

 
(a) Authorized: unlimited number of common shares (no par value).   

 
On May 14, 2019, the Company consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on 
the basis of one new common share for every three existing common shares. On April 27, 
2020, the Company consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of 
one new common share for every four existing common shares.   All figures and comparative 
figures reflect the stock consolidation, retroactively. 
 
In June 2019, the Company received $660,728 net proceeds towards a private placement 
which closed on July 2, 2019 and was included in shares to be issued as at June 30, 2019.  
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10.    Equity (continued): 
 

(b) During the year the Company completed four non-brokered private placements as follows 
(see also Note 8(b)): 
 

 
 
Date  

Total gross 
proceeds 

 
Issuance 
costs (i) 

Number 
common 
shares 

Number 
of 

warrants 

Exercise 
price 

warrants 

 
Expiry date of 

warrants 
July 2, 2019 $      662,482 $      2,521 2,548,006 2,548,006 $        0.40 July 2, 2022 
August 20, 2019 255,000 3,171 1,275,000 1,275,000 0.40 August 20, 2022 
September 13, 2019 260,000 3,951 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.40 September 13, 2022 
November 22, 2019 165,000 2,627 1,250,000 1,250,000 0.20 November 22, 2022 
December 23, 2019(ii) 250,000 6,208 1,250,000 - - - 
January 28, 2020 590,000 2,073 4,916,666 4,916,666 0.20 January 28, 2023 
February 24, 2020 300,000 4,261 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.20 February 24, 2023 
May 8, 2020 100,000 2,103 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.15 May 8, 2023 
Total $   2,582,482 $    26,915 16,039,672 14,789,672   

(i) These expenses have not been tax affected.  
 

(ii) On December 23, 2019, the Company acquired 3,000,000 units of St-Georges Eco-
Mining Corp. (“St-Georges”) (CSE: “SX”) at a price of $0.10 per unit.  In consideration, 
the Company issued an aggregate of 1,250,000 common shares of the Company at a 
fair market value of $0.20 per common share and made a cash payment in the amount 
of $50,000.    

 
The purchase warrants issued during the year ended June 30, 2020 were valued using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions (Note 10(g)):  
 

 Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used:  
  

Expected 
volatility 

(%) 

 
Expected 
dividend 
yield (%) 

 
Risk-free 

interest rate 
(%) 

 
Expected 

option life in 
years 

Fair value per 
warrant issued, 
      net of share 
issuance costs 

July 2, 2019 144.31 0.0 1.43 3 0.11
August 20, 2019 144.94        0.0        1.29 3 0.08
September 13, 2019 136.18 0.0 1.58 3 0.08
November 22, 2019 137.05 0.0 1.56 3 0.05
January 28, 2020 159.67 0.0 1.46 3 0.05
February 24, 2020 165.42 0.0 1.30 3 0.05
May 8, 2020 184.62 0.0 0.26 3 0.05
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10.    Equity (continued): 
 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the warrants 
at the Company’s share price.  The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and 
has no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  The risk-free interest rate is 
based on the yield of Canadian Benchmark Bonds with equivalent terms. The expected 
warrant life in years represents the period of time that the warrants are expected to be 
outstanding based on historical warrants issued.  The total value (net of share issuance costs) 
assigned to the purchase warrants was $989,185. 
 

(c) During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company completed five non-brokered private 
placements as follows (see also Note 8(c)): 
 

 
 
Date  

Total gross 
proceeds 

 
Issuance 
costs (i) 

Number 
common 
shares 

Number 
of 

warrants 

Exercise 
price 

warrants 

 
Expiry date of 

warrants 
August 23, 2018 $    1,322,000 $    7,750 1,101,662 1,101,662 $        1.80 August 23, 2021 
October 30, 2018 1,085,000 3,861 904,164 904,164 1.80 October 30, 2021 
March 1, 2019 500,000 1,437 416,666 416,666 1.80 March 1, 2022 
May 31, 2019 824,600 2,852 3,171,537 3,171,537 0.40 May 31, 2022 
Total $   3,731,600 $  15,900 5,594,029 5,594,029   

 
(i) These expenses have not been tax affected.  
 
The purchase warrants issued during the year ended June 30, 2019 were valued using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions (Note 10(g)):  
 

Black-Scholes option valuation 
model assumptions used:  

 
August 23, 

2018 

 
October 30, 

2018 

 
March 1, 

2019 

 
May 31, 

2019 
      Expected volatility 112.66% 112.66% 112.66% 112.66%
      Expected dividend yield        0.0%        0.0%        0.0%        0.0%
      Risk-free interest rate 2.14% 2.30% 1.78% 1.39%
      Expected option life in years 3 3 3 3
Fair value per warrant issued,  
      net of share issuance costs $     0.44 $     0.44

 
$     0.42 $     0.10

 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the warrants 
at the Company’s share price.  The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and 
has no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  The risk-free interest rate is 
based on the yield of Canadian Benchmark Bonds with equivalent terms. The expected 
warrant life in years represents the period of time that the warrants are expected to be 
outstanding based on historical warrants issued.  The total value (net of share issuance costs) 
assigned to the purchase warrants was $1,384,052. 
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10.    Equity (continued): 
 

(d) In October 2018, the Company renewed its agreement with Agora Internet Relations Corp. 
(“Agora”) pursuant to which Agora provides marketing, advertising and related services to 
the Company for a fee of $40,000 plus HST to be paid by the issuance of common shares of 
the Company.  The fee is payable in five installments of $8,000 plus HST each with the first 
installment paid on November 1, 2018, and the subsequent installments to become payable 
at the end of each three-month period thereafter.  The price of the common shares to be 
issued as payment for each installment will be set at the closing price of the common shares 
on the date which such installment becomes payable. On November 9, 2018, the Company 
issued 75,656 common shares for an aggregate price of $36,160 to Agora.  The share 
issuance was payment for three final installment payments pursuant to an agreement dated 
July 3, 2017 with Agora and the payment of the first installment for the October 2018 
agreement with Agora.  
 
On May 27, 2020, the Company renewed its agreement with Agora for a fee of $60,000 plus 
applicable sales tax, to be paid in common shares. The fee is payable in five installments of 
$12,000 each plus applicable sales tax (each, an “Installment”), with the first Installment to 
be payable on commencement of the new term on May 27, 2020, and the subsequent 
Installments to become payable at the end of each three-month period thereafter.  The price 
of the common shares to be issued as payment for each Installment will be set at the closing 
price of the common shares on the date which such Installment becomes payable. The first 
Installment was paid by the issuance of 142,736 Common Shares at a price of $0.095 per 
share for an aggregate price of $13,560.  The Company also issued 139,783 common shares 
to Agora in payment for four final installment payments pursuant to the October 2018 
agreement. 

 
(e) Stock options: 

 
The Company grants stock options to eligible directors, officers, key employees and 
consultants under its 2006 stock option plan to enable them to purchase common shares of 
the Company.  Under the terms of the plan, the number of common shares that may be 
issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the plan may not exceed 10% of 
the number of common shares outstanding at the time of grant.  
 
The exercise price of an option granted under the plan cannot be less than the closing price 
of the common shares on the last day on which the common shares trade prior to the grant 
date of the option.  An individual can receive grants of no more than 10% of the outstanding 
shares of the Company on a yearly basis and options are exercisable over a period not 
exceeding five years.  Stock options granted generally vest at the rate of 1/6 of the grant 
every three months over an 18-month period.  Options granted are accounted for by the fair 
value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. The Company records 
compensation expense and credits contributed surplus for all options granted.   
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10.    Equity (continued): 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company granted 512,500 stock options to 
directors of the Company, exercisable at an average price of $0.14 per share expiring between 
September 18, 2024 and May 12, 2025. 
 
The fair value of the options granted during the year ended June 30, 2020 was estimated at 
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following 
assumptions: 
 

Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used (weighted average)  
      Expected volatility  112.66%-182.74% 
      Expected dividend yield 0%
      Risk-free interest rate 0.29%-1.51%
      Expected option life in years 3.5 years
Expected forfeiture rate 6.9%-7.1%
Fair value per stock option granted on September 18, 2019 $       0.14
Fair value per stock option granted on May 12, 2020 $       0.09

 
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company granted 1,102,077 stock options to 
directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company, exercisable at an average 
price of $1.20 per share expiring between September 14, 2023 and April 11, 2024. 
 
The fair value of the options granted during the year ended June 30, 2019 was estimated at 
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following 
assumptions: 
 

Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used (weighted average)  
      Expected volatility  112.66% 
      Expected dividend yield 0%
      Risk-free interest rate 1.59-2.33% 
      Expected option life in years 3.0-4.3 years
Expected forfeiture rate 6.3-7.2%
Fair value per stock option granted on September 14, 2018 $       0.77
Fair value per stock option granted on October 1, 2018 $       0.72
Fair value per stock option granted on December 14, 2018 $       0.56
Fair value per stock option granted on April 11, 2019 $       0.66

 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the option 
at ThreeD’s share price.  The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and has 
no plans to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.   
 
The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of Canadian Benchmark Bonds with equivalent 
terms.  The expected option life in years represents the period of time that options granted 
are expected to be outstanding based on historical options granted. 
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10.    Equity (continued): 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, included in operating, general and administrative expenses 
is stock-based compensation of $222,470 (2019 - $646,001) relating to the stock options 
granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company.  
 
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options as at June 30, 2020 and 2019 and 
changes during the years then ended is presented below: 
 

 2020  2019 
 
 
Stock options 

 
 

# of options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price  

  
 
# of options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Outstanding, at beginning of year 2,385,793 $       1.72  1,473,416 $       2.16
Granted 512,500 0.14  1,102,077 1.20
Exercised - -  (111,110) 1.20
Cancelled/forfeited (61,114) 1.40  (65,970) 1.69
Expired - -  (12,620) 12.00
Outstanding, at end of year 2,837,179 $       1.44  2,385,793 $       1.72
Exercisable, at end of year 2,293,432 $      1.72  1,660,805 $      1.92
   

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable 
as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Number of options 
outstanding 

Number of options 
exercisable 

Exercise 
price Expiry date 

38,194 38,194 $     1.20 October 12, 2020
8,333 8,333      2.40 November 16, 2020

20,833 20,833 2.64 November 21, 2020
8,333 8,333 2.52 December 5, 2020

20,833 20,833 2.52 January 3, 2021
41,666 41,666 5.16 January 9, 2021

244,968 244,968 1.80 January 16, 2022
4,166 4,166 1.20 October 12, 2022
9,583 9,583 2.40 November 16, 2022

141,666 141,666 2.52 November 30, 2022
881,248 881,248 1.92 March 1, 2023
229,165 229,165 1.20 September 14, 2023
488,192 488,192 1.20 December 14, 2023
187,499 125,001 1.20 April 11, 2024

62,500 31,251 0.40 September 18, 2024
450,000 - 0.10 May 12, 2025

2,837,179 2,293,432
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10.    Equity (continued): 
 

(f) Contributed surplus comprised the following as at June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

 2020 2019 
Stock-based compensation, net of exercises $         12,920,955 $    12,698,485
Expired warrants and broker warrants 14,665,874 14,416,320
Cancellation of common shares under normal course issuer bid 20,639 20,639
Value of cancelled escrowed shares  5,625 5,625
 $         27,613,093 $   27,141,069

 
(g) There summary of the status of the Company’s warrants as at June 30, 2020 and 2019 and 

the changes during the years then ended are as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 
 
 
Warrants  

 
 

# of warrants 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

  
 

# of warrants  

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Outstanding, at beginning of year 9,182,358       $      1.48 3,588,329       $      2.16
Issued 14,789,672 0.27 5,594,029 1.00
Expired (521,831) 2.11 - -
Outstanding, at end of year 23,450,199       $      0.69 9,182,358       $      1.48
 

The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Number of warrants  Exercise price Expiry date Warrant value ($) 
712,496                 $  1.80 October 24, 2020 $            368,154

               668,745                    3.00 November 14, 2020 616,598
             1,066,661                    1.80 April 13, 2021 509,678
               618,596                    2.40 May 16, 2021 368,797

             1,101,662                    1.80 August 23, 2021 489,982
               904,164                    1.80 October 30, 2021 394,156
               416,666                    1.80 March 1, 2022 173,195

             3,171,537                    0.40 May 31, 2022 326,719
             2,548,006                    0.40 July 2, 2022 286,839
             1,275,000                    0.40 August 20, 2022 106,033
             1,300,000                    0.40 September 13, 2022 104,622
             1,250,000                    0.20 November 22, 2022 63,965
             4,916,666                    0.20 January 28, 2023 251,969
             2,500,000                    0.20 February 24, 2023 130,706
             1,000,000                    0.15 May 8, 2023 45,052

23,450,199 $         4,236,465
 
 
 

  



 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
June 30, 2020 and 2019 
(Prepared in Canadian dollars) 
 

41 
 

10.    Equity (continued): 
 

(h) Basic and diluted loss per common share based on net income for the years ended June 30: 
 

  
Numerator: 2020 2019 
Net loss for the year $   (10,525,778) $   (3,804,540)

 
  
Denominator: 2020 2019 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic  24,731,904 11,816,915
Weighted average effect of diluted stock options and warrants (i) - -
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – diluted 24,731,904 11,816,915

 
  
Loss per common share based on net loss for the year: 2020 2019 
Basic and diluted $            (0.43) $             (0.32)

 
(i) The determination of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding – 

diluted excludes 26,287,378 shares related to convertible securities that were anti-
dilutive for the year ended June 30, 2020 (2019 – 11,568,151). 

 
(i) Maximum share dilution: 

 
The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all 
outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised as at June 30: 
 

 2020 2019 
Common shares outstanding 31,888,887 15,566,696
Warrants to purchase common shares 23,450,199 9,182,358
Stock options to purchase common shares 2,837,179 2,385,793
Fully diluted common shares outstanding 58,176,265 27,134,847
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11. Income tax expense and deferred taxes: 
 
(a) Income tax expense attributable to income before income taxes differs from the amounts 

computed by applying the combined federal and provincial tax rate of 26.50% (2019 – 
26.50%) of pre-tax income as a result of the following:  
 

          2020   2019 
Loss before income taxes $   (10,525,778) $     (3,804,540)
Computed “expected” income tax recovery  $     (2,789,331) $       (1,008,203)
Non-deductible portion of capital losses 224,233 -
Non-deductible portion of unrealized losses 1,492,481 233,252
Non-deductible stock-based compensation expense 58,954 171,190
Permanent and other differences 2,007 14,959
Prior period adjustment (367,770) -
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets  1,379,426 588,802
Income tax recovery  $                       - $                    -

 
(b) The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax for the years ended June 30: 

 
Deferred tax 2020 2019 

Capital loss carry-forward $                      - $          869,975
Non-capital loss 1,905,642 1,212,137
Property and equipment and right-of-use assets (112,124) -
Investments (1,793,518) (2,082,112)
Income tax recovery $                      - $                    -

 
(c) Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the 

differences between the income tax values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.  
The following deductible temporary differences are not recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements due to the unpredictability of future income. 
 

 2020 2019 

Capital losses carry-forward $       39,404,384 $       31,146,210
Non-capital losses carry-forward 26,235,345        26,479,476
Exploration and evaluation assets tax pools 19,125,000 19,125,000
Investments (capital) 1,843,892 -
Lease liability 396,523 
Share issuance costs and other differences 54,575 56,622
Tax losses – Barbados 63,292,039 63,292,039
 $    150,351,758 $     140,099,347

 
As at June 30, 2020, the Company has approximately $827,000 (2019 - $827,000) of Canadian 
resource deductions and $18,298,000 (2019 - $18,298,000) of foreign resource deductions 
available that have an unlimited carry-forward period to reduce future years’ income for tax 
purposes, the benefit of which has not been recorded in the consolidated financial statements.  
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11.  Income tax expense and deferred taxes (continued): 
 
As at June 30, 2020, the Company has approximately $39,404,000 of capital losses (2019 - 
$31,146,000) and $26,235,000 (2019 - $26,479,000) of Canadian non-capital losses available 
to reduce future years’ income for tax purposes, the benefit of which has not been recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Canadian non-capital losses, the benefit of which has not been recognized, will expire as 
follows: 
 

2032 $        716,000
2033 4,575,000
2034 2,439,000
2035 1,364,000
2036 942,000
2037 4,131,000
2038 4,478,000
2039 5,242,000
2040 2,348,000
 $     26,235,000

 
In addition, the Company has unclaimed non-capital losses of approximately US$46,442,000 
in Barbados that expires from 2021 to 2025. 

 
12. Segmented information: 
 

Reportable segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial 
information is available, that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in 
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.   
 
The Company’s operations primarily relate to investing. The Company’s management is responsible 
for the Company’s entire investment portfolio and considers the business to have a single operating 
segment.  The management’s investment decisions are based on a single, integrated investment 
strategy and the performance is evaluated on an overall basis. 
 
All of the Company’s revenue are earned in Canada and all of the Company’s property, equipment 
and right-of-use assets are located in Canada and no segmented information has been disclosed 
as at and for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. 
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13. Commitments: 
 

In April 2015, the Company signed a lease for premises which started May 1, 2015 for annual 
payments of approximately $82,875 ($6,906 monthly, increased to $7,166 effective January 1, 
2017) plus applicable taxes until April 30, 2018 and office equipment lease payments of $5,340 
annually ($445 monthly) plus applicable taxes until April 30, 2019.  During the year ended June 30, 
2018, the Company extended the lease on its premises to April 30, 2021 for annual payments of 
approximately $86,125.   
 
In September 2018, the Company signed a lease for new premises which started on December 1, 
2018 until November 30, 2023, for annual payments of approximately $190,974 (plus applicable 
taxes), increasing approximately 3.4% per year.  The Company is subleasing its former premises 
on a month to month basis. 
 
As at June 30, 2020, future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases for premises 
and equipment are approximately as follows: 
 
           
2021 $         280,595
2022 212,477
2023 218,848
2024 90,857
Prepaid rent and operating costs deposits  (61,229)
Total lease obligations $        741,548
Lease operating costs (236,616)
Discount at effective interest rates of 10%-15% (108,410)
Lease liability, as at December 31, 2019 $        396,522

 
As at June 30, 2020, the Company had commitments to purchase investments totaling $122,250 
(2019 - $858,400). 

 
14. Expenses by nature: 
 

Included in operating, general, and administrative expenses for the years ended June 30 are the 
following expenses:  

 
 2020          2019 
Salaries and consulting fees      $    1,098,716      $   1,730,179
Other office and general 449,207 338,552
Professional fees 302,569 116,415
Stock-based compensation expense         222,470         646,001
Transaction costs 147,655 151,706
Operating lease payments 119,438 201,644
Other employment benefits  53,061 49,337
Shareholder relations, transfer agent and filing fees  43,367 43,310
Travel and promotion 31,833 19,491
Bad debts 13,750 73,450
Foreign exchange expense  9,933 (11,920)
 $     2,491,999 $  3,358,165
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15. Finance expenses: 
 

Finance expenses consist of the following for the years ended June 30: 
 

2020 2019 
Interest expense on margin borrowings $          44,051 $        65,792
Right-of-use assets  60,778 -
Total finance expense $        104,829 $        65,792

 
16. Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
 

The following table shows the supplemental cash flow information for the year ended June 30: 
 

 2020 2019 
Finance expense paid $      44,051 $     65,792
Income taxes paid - -
Issue of share capital pursuant to investment activities  250,000 -
Non-cash financing activities 
    Issue of share capital pursuant to marketing services 

 
49,720 

 
36,160

 
17. Management of capital: 

 
The Company considers its capital to include equity which amounts to $13,232,062 on June 30, 
2020 (2019 - $21,591,535).  The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 

 
(a) to ensure that the Company maintains the level of capital necessary to meet the requirements 

of its brokers; 
 
(b) to allow the Company to respond to changes in economic and/or marketplace conditions by 

maintaining the Company’s ability to purchase new investments and digital assets; 
 

(c) to give shareholders sustained growth in shareholder value by increasing shareholders’ 
equity; and  

 
(d) to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable levels 

of risk. 
 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets.  The Company maintains 
or adjusts its capital level to enable it to meet its objectives by: 

 
(a) realizing proceeds from the disposition of its investments and digital assets; and 
 
(b) raising capital through equity or debt financings.  
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17.   Management of capital (continued): 
 

The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by any regulator other to maintain 
its margin requirements by the brokers.   
 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended 
June 30, 2020.  To date, the Company has not declared any cash dividends to its shareholders as 
part of its capital management program.  The Company’s current working capital is sufficient to 
discharge its liabilities as at June 30, 2020. 

 
18. Risk management: 
 

The investment operations of ThreeD’s business involve the purchase and sale of securities/digital 
assets and, accordingly, a portion of the Company’s assets are currently comprised of financial 
instruments.  The use of financial instruments can expose the Company to several risks, including 
market, credit, and liquidity risks.  A discussion of the Company’s use of financial instruments and 
their associated risks is provided below. 

 
(a) Market risk:  
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows from the Company’s financial 
instruments will significantly fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  The value of the 
financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
and equity and commodity prices.  The Company is exposed to market risk in trading its 
investments/digital assets and unfavourable market conditions could result in dispositions of 
investments/digital assets at less than favourable prices.   
 
Additionally, the Company adjusts its investments/digital assets to fair value at the end of 
each reporting period.  This process could result in significant write-downs of the Company’s 
investments/digital currencies over one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods 
of overall market instability, which would have a significant unfavourable effect on ThreeD’s 
financial position.   
 
As at June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company held some U.S. denominated investments and 
all of its digital assets are denominated in U.S. dollars therefore market risk also includes 
currency risk. 

 
There were no changes in the way the Company manages market risk during the year ended 
June 30, 2020.  The Company manages its market risk by having a portfolio that is not 
singularly exposed to any one issuer or class/sector of issuers. 
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18.   Risk management (continued): 
 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net income for 
the year ended June 30, 2020 from a change in the closing trade price of the Company’s 
investments and digital assets with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2020:  

 

Percentage of change in closing trade 
price 

Decrease in after-tax net 
loss from % increase in 

closing trade price 

Increase in after-tax net 
loss from % decrease in 

closing trade price 
2%  $          244,011  $          (244,011)  
4% 488,023 (488,023)
6% 732,034 (732,034)
8% 976,046 (976,046)
10% 1,220,057 (1,220,057)

 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net income for 
the year ended June 30, 2019 from a change in the closing trade price of the Company’s 
investments and digital assets with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2019:  

 

Percentage of change in closing trade price 

Decrease in after-tax net 
loss from % increase in 

closing trade price 

Increase in after-tax net loss 
from % decrease in closing 

trade price 
2%  $          371,630  $          (371,630)  
4% 743,261 (743,261)
6% 1,114,891 (1,114,891)
8% 1,486,522 (1,486,522)
10% 1,858,152 (1,858,152)

 
(b) Credit risk: 
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the inability of a third party to fulfill its payment 
obligations. The Company is exposed to the risk that third parties owing it money or securities 
will not perform their underlying obligations and for funds held with banks for cash. The 
Company may, from time to time, invest in debt obligations.   
 
As at June 30, 2020, the Company held two convertible debentures with a fair value of 
$2,439,544 (2019 – $806,822).  All funds in cash are held in financial institutions that have a 
credit rating above AA and the Company believes it is not exposed to any significant loss. 

 
There were no changes to the way the Company manages credit risk during the year ended 
June 30, 2020.  The Company is also exposed in the normal course of business to credit risk 
from the sale of its investments and advances to investee and joint arrangements.  
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18.   Risk management (continued): 
 

The following is the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at June 30:  
 

 2020 2019 
Cash  $         69,730 $       137,082
Due from brokers 50,426 252
Convertible debentures 2,439,544 806,822
Receivables (i) 139,444 53,575
 $   2,699,144  $       997,731  

 
(i) As at June 30, 2020 and 2019, the receivables were from investees for monthly 

administrative and office rental fees) and although it has receive monthly payments 
previously, the Company is exposed to credit risk relating to those receivables. As at 
June 30, 2020 included in receivables is $7,653 (2019 – $8,657) relating to Harmonized 
Sales Tax input sales tax refunds.  The Company believes it is not exposed to credit risk 
since the amount is fully collectible from the Canadian government.   

 
An aging of accounts receivable, net of expected credit losses are as follows as at June 30: 
 
 2020 2019 
Accounts receivable aging:  
      0-30 days $        75,034 $      23,068
      31-60 days 5,650 10,170
      61-90 days    5,650 10,170
      Greater than 90 days    53,110 10,170
 $      139,444 $     53,578
Expected credit loss provision - -
Accounts receivable, net of expected credit losses $      139,444 $     53,578

 
The Company does not have collateral to any of its receivable balances.   

 
(c) Liquidity risk:  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they become due.  The Company’s liquidity and operating results may 
be adversely affected if the Company’s access to the capital markets is hindered, whether as 
a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to 
the Company, or if the value of the Company’s investments declines, resulting in losses upon 
disposition.  The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities and 
proceeds from the disposition of its investments/digital assets, in addition to interest earned 
on its investments.   
 

  



 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
June 30, 2020 and 2019 
(Prepared in Canadian dollars) 
 

49 
 

18.   Risk management (continued): 
 
There were no changes to the way that the Company manages liquidity risk during the year 
ended June 30, 2020.  The Company manages liquidity risk by reviewing the amount of 
margin available on a daily basis and managing its cash flow.  The Company holds some 
investments/digital assets that can be converted into cash when required.   
 
As at June 30, 2020, the Company was using net margin of $800,272 (2019 – $326,729) and 
as at June 30, 2019, had advances from an officer of $60,000.   
 
The following table shows the Company’s liabilities and potential due dates related to liquidity 
risk as at June 30, 2020 (see commitments Note 13): 

 
 Payments due by period 

Liabilities and obligations Total Less than 1 
year 1 – 3 years 4 – 5 

years 
After 5 
years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $      465,148  $    465,148  $              -  $           - $         -
Due to brokers 850,698 850,698 - - -
Office lease payments 741,548 239,900 431,325 70,323
 $   2,057,394  $ 1,555,746  $  431,325  $ 70,323 $         -

 
The following table shows the Company’s liabilities and potential due dates related to liquidity 
risk as at June 30, 2019: 

 
 Payments due by period 

Liabilities and obligations Total Less than 1 
year 1 – 3 years 4 – 5 

years 
After 5 
years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $      135,045  $    135,045   $              -  $            - $         -
Due to brokers 326,981 326,981 - - -
Advances from officer 60,000 60,000  
Office lease payments 975,223 268,919 417,133 289,171
 $    1,497,249  $    790,945  $   417,133  $   289,171 $         -

 
The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at June 30, 2020: 

 
 Liquidity by period 

Assets Total Less than 1 
year 1 – 3 years After 4 

years 
Non-liquid 

assets 
Cash  $         69,730 $        69,730  $                   - $          - $                     -
Due from brokers 50,426 50,426 - - -
Prepaids and receivables 279,239 139,444 - - 139,795
Investments, at fair value (i) 13,808,153 7,824,624 5,983,529 - -
Digital assets, at fair value less 

cost to sell (i) 255,910 255,910
 

- - -
Property, equipment and right-of-

use assets 480,972 -
 

- - 480,972
 $ 14,944,430 $   8,340,134  $  5,983,529 $          - $       620,767



 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
June 30, 2020 and 2019 
(Prepared in Canadian dollars) 
 

50 
 

18.   Risk management (continued): 
 
(i) Private company and SAFT investments are included in the 1-3 years category since 

they are not expected to be liquidated within 1 year. 
 

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at June 30, 2019: 
 

 Liquidity by period 

Assets Total Less than 1 
year 1 – 3 years After 4 

years 
Non-liquid 

assets 
Cash  $       137,082 $      137,082  $                - $          - $                  -
Due from brokers 252 252 - - -
Prepaids and receivables 455,741 53,575 - - 402,166
Investments, at fair value (i) 20,673,821 6,367,118 14,306,703 - -
Digital assets, at fair value less 

cost to sell (i) 745,800 745,800
 

- - -
Property, equipment and right-of-

use assets 100,865 -
 

- - 100,865
 $  22,113,561 $   7,303,827  $ 14,306,703 $          - $       503,031

(i) Private company and SAFT investments are included in the 1-3 years category since 
they are not expected to be liquidated within 1 year. 

 
(d) Currency risk:  

 
The Company presently holds funds in Canadian dollars but some of its liabilities are 
denominated in U.S. dollars.  The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to 
mitigate its foreign exchange risk.  A change in the foreign exchange rate of the Canadian 
dollar versus another currency may increase or decrease the value of the Company’s financial 
instruments.  The Company does not hedge its foreign currency exposure. 

 
The following assets and liabilities (excluding investments and digital assets) were 
denominated in foreign currencies as at June 30: 

 
 2020 2019 
Denominated in U.S. dollars:  

Cash  $                 219 $                 1,857
Due from brokers - 16
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (18,282) (17,556)
Due to brokers (399,574) (243,817)

Net assets denominated in U.S. dollars $           (417,637) $           (259,500)
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18.   Risk management (continued): 
 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2020 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which the 
Company has significant exposure with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2020:  

 

Percentage change in U.S. dollar 
exchange rate 

Increase in after-tax net 
loss from an increase in % 
in the U.S. dollar exchange 

rate 

Decrease in after-tax net 
loss from a decrease in % 
in the U.S. dollar exchange 

rate 
2%  $          (6,139)  $          6,139  
4% (12.279) 12,279
6% (18,418) 18,418
8% (24,557) 24,557
10% (30,696) 30,696

 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2019 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which the 
Company has significant exposure with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2019:  

 

Percentage change in U.S. dollar exchange 
rate 

Increase in after-tax net loss 
from an increase in % in the 

U.S. dollar exchange rate 

Decrease in after-tax net loss 
from a decrease in % in the 
U.S. dollar exchange rate 

2%  $          (3,815)  $          3,815  
4% (7,629) 7,629
6% (11,444) 11,444
8% (15,259) 15,259
10% (19,073) 19,073

 
(e) Digital assets regulatory risk:  

 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the legality of SAFT investments in certain jurisdictions, as 
some SAFT investments might not be registered under the local securities law.  
 

(f) 2019 novel corona virus (“COVID-19”): 
 
In the first quarter of 2020, there was a global outbreak of COVID-19, which has had a 
significant impact on businesses through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, 
provincial and municipal governments regarding travel, business operations and 
isolation/quarantine orders.  At this time, it is unknown the true extent of the impact the 
COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Company as this will depend on future developments 
that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence. These uncertainties 
arise from the inability to predict the geographic spread of the disease, and the duration of 
the outbreak, including the duration of travel restrictions, business closures or disruptions, 
and quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may be put, in place by Canada and 
other countries to fight the virus. The Company continues to monitor its investment and digital 
assets portfolio and assess the impact COVID-19 will have on its business activities. The 
extent of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company is uncertain.  
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19. Contingent liability: 
  

In April 2006, the Company entered into a farm-in agreement with Canoro Resources Ltd. (“Canoro”), 
whereby it acquired a 15% interest in block AA-ONN-2003/2, in Arunachal Pradesh, northwest India.    
During 2009, the parties completed the interpretation of the 3-D seismic program.  The consortium 
partners in the block are: ThreeD - 15%, Canoro - 15%, National Thermal Power Corporation - 40%, 
and Geopetrol International Inc. - 30%.    

 
On April 8, 2010, the Production Sharing Contract (the “PSC”) with the Government of India, through 
the Directorate General of Hydrocarbons (the “DGH”) expired and as a result, the DGH called the 
Company’s letter of guarantee totaling US$1,395,000 issued by Royal Bank of Canada.  The DGH’s 
position is that the Company and its partners failed to meet certain terms of the PSC governing their 
commitments on exploration block AA-ONN-2003/2.   

 
The Company and its partners have disputed certain terms of the PSC, including its expiry on the 
basis of force majeure.  As at June 30, 2010, the Company wrote-off all of its oil and gas properties 
and related expenditures in India.   
 
In January 2015, the Company received notice from the DGH that it denied the request for non-levy 
of the cost of the unfinished PSC and demanded payment of the outstanding balance of 
US$14,054,284 (ThreeD’s share – US$1,423,510).  The Company considers the claim to be 
completely without merit and will defend itself vigorously.  No provision has been made for the claim 
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2020.  

 
20. Subsequent events: 

 
(a) On July 9, 2020, the Company announced its intention to effect a normal course issuer bid 

(“NCIB”) through the facilities of the Canadian Securities Exchange.  The NCIB commenced 
on July 15, 2020 and ends on July 14, 2021 and the Company may purchase on the Canadian 
Securities Exchange up to 1,594,444 common shares in total, representing approximately 5% 
of the common shares issued and outstanding on July 9, 2020.  The price which the Company 
will pay for any such shares will be the market price at the time of acquisition.  The actual 
number of common shares which may be purchased and the timing of any such purchases 
will be determined by the Company.  The Company has repurchased and cancelled 591,500 
common shares at an average cost of $0.20 per share for total cost of $119,453. 
 

(b) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company granted 500,000 options to a consultant, 
exercisable at $0.60 per share expiring on August 24, 2021.  These options were cancelled 
on October 4, 2020. 
 

(c) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, 712,496 warrants exercisable at $1.80 per share expired 
unexercised. 

 
(d) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, 271,525 options exercisable at prices between $1.20 per share 

and $2.52 per share expired unexercised.  
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20.   Subsequent events (continued): 
 

(e) On August 17, 2020, the Company announced that its common shares are trading on the 
OTCQB Venture Market ("OTCQB Venture") under the stock symbol "IDKFF". 
 

(f) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company granted 1,580,000 options to directors, officers, 
employees and a consultant, exercisable at $0.30 per share expiring between September 15, 
2023 and September 15, 2025.   
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
 
For the year ended:  June 30, 2021 
 
Date of report:     October 27, 2021 
 
 
This management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operation (“MD&A”) 
of ThreeD Capital Inc. (“ThreeD” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with ThreeD’s annual 
audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto as at and for the years ended                    
June 30, 2021 and 2020.   
 
Unless indicated otherwise, all financial data in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”).  All dollar amounts in this MD&A are reported in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 
   
 
Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information 
 
Certain information contained in this MD&A constitutes forward-looking information, which is 
information relating to future events or the Company's future performance and which is inherently 
uncertain.  All information other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking information. 
Forward-looking information is often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, 
“anticipate”, “budget”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, 
“predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar words or 
phrases (including negative variations) suggesting future outcomes or statements regarding an outlook.  
Forward-looking information contained in this MD&A includes, but is not limited to the Company’s 
anticipated investment activities and results and financing activities, the Company’s future working 
capital requirements, the Company’s expectation of holding some digital assets but focusing primarily 
on opportunistic investing in junior resource and disruptive technologies companies, potential enhanced 
visibility and accessibility of ThreeD to U.S. investors as a result of its listing on the OTCQX Best Market 
(“OTCQX”), the impact of changes in accounting policies and other factors on the Company’s operating 
results, and the performance of global capital markets and interest rates, the exposure of its financial 
instruments to various risks and its ability to manage those risks, and the Company’s ability to use tax 
resource pools and loss carry-forwards. 
 
Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking 
information. The Company believes the expectations reflected in the forward-looking information are 
reasonable but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and readers 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information contained in this MD&A.  
Some of the risks and other factors which could cause results to differ materially from those expressed 
in the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A include, but are not limited to: risks relating 
to the Company’s ability to realize sufficient proceeds from the disposition of the investments (which 
will be based upon market conditions beyond the Company’s control) or otherwise raise capital in order 
to fund obligations as they become due, the Company’s ability to generate taxable income from 
operations, fluctuations in the value of the Company’s portfolio investments due to market conditions 
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and/or company-specific factors, including, without limitation, risks related to the fact that the term Net 
Asset Value (“NAV”) does not have any standardized meaning according to Generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by 
other companies and may not be indicative of NAV for any future periods, fluctuations in prices of 
commodities underlying the Company’s interests and equity investments, the strength of the Canadian, 
U.S. and other economies, foreign exchange fluctuations, the impact of pandemics including COVID-19 
on capital markets and otherwise, risks associated with digital assets including significant price 
volatility, the loss of the digital assets and fraud and high transaction fees, global supply and demand, 
interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, political and economic conditions in the countries in 
which the interests of the Company’s portfolio investments are located, availability of capital on terms 
acceptable to the Company or at all, and other risks included elsewhere in this MD&A under the 
headings “Management of Financial Risks” and “Principal Business Risks” and in other public disclosure 
documents filed with certain Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available under the 
Company’s profile at www.sedar.com.   
 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. Although the Company has 
attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual events and results to differ materially 
from those described in the forward-looking information, there may be other factors that cause events 
or results to differ from those intended, anticipated or estimated. The forward-looking information 
contained in this MD&A are made as of the date hereof and the Company undertakes no obligation to 
update publicly or revise any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law. All of the forward-looking information 
contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 
 
 
Nature of the Business 
 
ThreeD Capital Inc. is a publicly-traded Canadian-based venture capital firm focused on opportunistic 
investments in companies in the junior resources and disruptive technologies sectors.  ThreeD’s 
investment strategy is to invest in multiple private and public companies across a variety of sectors 
globally. ThreeD seeks to invest in early stage, promising companies where it may be the lead investor 
and can additionally provide investees with advisory services and access to the Company’s ecosystem. 
The Company was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on December 1, 2011 and 
its common shares are publicly-traded on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the 
symbol “IDK” and on the OTCQX under the stock symbol "IDKFF". The Company is domiciled in the 
Province of Ontario and its head office is located at 130 Spadina Ave., Suite 401, Toronto, Ontario, M5V 
2L4, Canada.   
 
Although the Company continues to invest and hold an immaterial amount of digital assets, in recent 
years, the Company’s digital assets investing activities have been minor and insignificant.  The Company 
expects to hold some digital assets but its main focus will be in opportunistic investing in junior resource 
and disruptive technologies companies. 
 
 
Summary and Highlights 

 
• For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company had net income of $34,655,015 (basic earnings 

per share of $0.92) as compared to a net loss of $10,525,778 (basic loss per share of $0.43) for 
the year ended June 30, 2020. 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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• As at June 30, 2021, net asset value per share (“NAV per share”) was $1.16 as compared to $0.41 
as at June 30, 2020, a 183% increase (See “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” elsewhere in this 
MD&A).   

 
• As at June 30, 2021, the Company held investments at fair value and digital assets, at fair value 

less cost to sell totalling $55,127,507 as compared to $14,064,063 as at June 30, 2020, a 292% 
increase primarily attributable to net realized and unrealized gains on investments. 

• During the year ended June 30, 2021, 13,267,940 warrants were exercised at average price of 
$0.25 per share for total gross proceeds of $3,323,843. 

 
• During the year ended June 30, 2021, 885,248 options were exercised at average price of $0.70 

per share for total gross proceeds of $618,447. 
 

• On July 9, 2020, the Company announced its intention to effect a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) 
through the facilities of the CSE. The NCIB commenced on July 15, 2020 and ended on July 14, 
2021 and the Company may purchase on the CSE up to 1,594,444 common shares in total, 
representing approximately 5% of the common shares issued and outstanding on July 9, 2020. The 
price which the Company was permitted to pay for any such shares will be the market price at the 
time of acquisition. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company repurchased and cancelled 
591,500 common shares at an average cost of $0.20 per share for total cost of $118,304 pursuant 
to the NCIB. As at June 30, 2021, 82,000 common shares repurchased under the NCIB for total 
cost of $60,359 were held in treasury for the purpose of cancellation. 

 
• On November 25, 2020, the Company acquired 1,500,000 units of St-Georges Eco-Mining Corp. 

(“St-Georges”) (CSE: “SX”) at a price of $0.10 per unit for a total cost of $150,000. In consideration, 
the Company issued an aggregate of 300,000 common shares of the Company at a deemed price 
of $0.48 per common share and made a cash payment in the amount of $6,000. Each unit of St-
Georges consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant of St-Georges, 
with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one additional share at an exercise price of $0.185 
for a period of two years following the date of issuance. 

 
• On December 30, 2020, the Company invested US$450,000 in Wuhan General Group (China) Inc. 

(OTC PINK:”WUHN”) (“Wuhan”), a bioceutical company focused on alternative plant‐based 
cannabinoids and psilocybin medical research. The Company acquired 1,500,000 units at a price of 
US$0.30 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share of Wuhan and one common share 
purchase warrant exercisable at US$0.30 per warrant. The warrants expire three years from the 
date of issuance. 

 
• On January 5, 2021, through two transactions, the Company invested a total of $530,000 in Electric 

Metals (USA) Ltd. (“EML”), a multi-commodity US-based resource company focused on their 100% 
owned Corcoran Canyon Silver Project in Nevada and Emily Manganese Project in Minnesota. In the 
first transaction, the Company acquired 1,000,000 shares of EML at a price of $0.20 per share for 
total proceeds paid of $200,000. In the second transaction the Company acquired 1,000,000 
subscription receipts of EML at a price of $0.33 per subscription receipt for total cost of $330,000. 
Each subscription receipt entitled the Company to receive one common share of EML and one-half 
of one common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable at $0.60 per warrant. 
The warrants expire two years from the date of issuance. EML signed a definitive scheme 
implementation agreement (the “Agreement), effective December 31, 2020, with NBS Capital Inc. 
(“NBS”). Pursuant to the Agreement, NBS acquired all of the shares of EML via share exchange for 
an equivalent number of NBS shares, which resulted in EML becoming a wholly owned subsidiary 
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of NBS. Upon closing of the Agreement, NBS changed its name to Nevada Silver Corporation 
(“Nevada Silver”) (TSXV: “NSC”), reflecting the focus of EML on its principal Nevada silver asset. 
Additionally, the CEO of the Company agreed to become Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Nevada Silver, which took effect during the year ended June 30, 2021 when the Agreement closed. 

 
• On January 7, 2021, the Company acquired 600,000 units of ZeU Technologies Inc. (CSE: “ZEU”) 

at a price of $0.25 per unit. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate of 185,185 common 
shares of the Company at a deemed price of $0.81 per common share for total value of $150,000. 
Each unit of ZeU consists of one common share of ZeU and one common share purchase warrant 
of ZeU, with each warrant being exercisable to acquire one additional common share of ZeU at an 
exercise price of $0.35 for a period of two years following the date of issuance. 

 
• On February 2, 2021, an aggregate amount of 48,010 common shares of the Company were issued 

at a deemed price of $0.729 per share to satisfy certain marketing services provided to the Company 
by North Equities Corp. (“North”) which were valued at $35,000. The shares were issued pursuant 
to an agreement between the Company and North which provides for two stages of marketing 
services, in consideration of (i) a payment of $35,000 in respect of the first phase (which has been 
fully satisfied by issuance of the 48,010 common shares); and (ii) a payment of $15,000 in respect 
of the second phase. All payments due under this agreement shall be satisfied by the issuance of 
common shares of the Company at a deemed price per share equal to the seven (7) day average 
trading price of such common shares as at the close of business on the invoice date, excluding non‐
trading holidays, in each case subject to the approval of the CSE. 

 
• On February 4, 2021, the Company invested $450,000 in Nirvana Life Sciences Inc. (“Nirvana”), a 

life sciences company focused on developing medical products and regimens that address addiction. 
The Company acquired 3,000,000 shares at a price of $0.15 per share. As well, the CEO of the 
Company agreed to become an advisor to Nirvana. 

 
• On February 12, 2021, the Company invested in Carl Data Solutions Inc. (“Carl”) (CSE: “CRL”), an 

Industrial IoT (IIoT) and Big Data as a Service (BDaaS) company that provides next generation 
collection, storage, and analytics solutions for data‐centric organizations. The Company acquired 
2,000,000 units at a price of $0.15 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $300,000. Each unit consists 
of one common share of Carl and one common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of 
$0.25 per warrant. The warrants expire two years from the date of issuance. 

 
• On February 18, 2021, the Company extended the term of certain existing share purchase warrants 

of the Company as follows: 
 

Date of Issuance Number of Warrants Original Expiry Date New Expiry Date
April 13, 2018 1,066,661                 April 13, 2021 April 13, 2022
August 23, 2018 1,101,662                 August 23, 2021 August 23, 2022
October 30, 2018 904,164                    October 30, 2021 October 30, 2022  

 
• On February 18, 2021, the Company invested in Intellabridge Technology Corporation 

(“Intellabridge”) (CSE: “INTL”) a blockchain technology company focused on developing 
decentralized finance technology solutions. The Company acquired 2,500,000 units at a price of 
$0.15 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $375,000. Each unit consists of one common share of 
Intellabridge and one common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of $0.45 per warrant. 
The warrants will expire two years from the date of issuance. 
 



ThreeD Capital Inc. 
June 30, 2021 
 
 
 

Page 5 of 45 

• On March 10, 2021, the Company invested in ePlay Digital Inc. (“ePlay”) (CSE: “EPY”), a company 
focused on developing augmented reality games for sports, esports, and entertainment. The 
Company acquired 3,000,000 units at a price of $0.10 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $300,000. 
Each unit consisted of one common share of ePlay and one common share purchase warrant, 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 per warrant. The warrants expire one year from the date of issuance. 
The CEO of the Company has also agreed to become an advisor to ePlay. 

 
• On March 10, 2021, the Company invested in AMPD Ventures Inc. (“AMPD”) (CSE: “AMPD”), a 

company that provides high-performance cloud and computing solutions for low-latency 
applications, including video games and eSports, digital animation and visual effects, and big data 
collection, analysis, and visualization. The Company acquired 3,500,000 units at a price of $0.15 
per unit for aggregate proceeds of $525,000. Each unit consists of one common share of AMPD and 
one common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of $0.25 per warrant. The warrants 
expire three years from the date of issuance. The CEO of Company has also agreed to become an 
advisor to AMPD. 
 

• On March 19, 2021, the Company acquired 10,000,000 common shares of Birchtree Investments 
Ltd, a privately held corporation existing under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, at a 
price of $0.05 per share. In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate 434,782 common 
shares of the Company at a deemed price of $1.15 per common share for a total value of $500,000. 
 

• On March 18, 2021, the Company invested in Windfall Geotek Inc. (“Windfall”) (TSXV: WIN), a 
mining technology company and a leader in the use of Artificial Intelligence (AI) and advanced 
knowledge-extraction techniques since 2005 in the mining sector. The Company acquired 1,000,000 
units at a price of $0.35 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $350,000. Each unit consisted of one 
common share of Windfall and one common share purchase warrant, exercisable at a price of $0.50 
per warrant. The warrants expire two years from the date of issuance. 

 
• Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the Company invested in DeFi Yield Technologies Inc. (“DeFi Yield 

Technologies”), a company that has a proprietary automated yield engine that has made investing 
in decentralized finance (“DeFi”) simple and leverages different DeFi protocols and strategies to 
increase diversification, maximize yield, while minimizing exposure to risk. The Company acquired 
563,380 shares of DeFi Yield Technologies at a price of $0.71 per share for total proceeds of 
approximately $400,000. 

 
• Subsequent to June 30, 2021, XREX Inc. (“XREX”), a private Taiwan-based blockchain TradeTech 

company closed its Pre-A financing round. ThreeD participated in this financing by advancing 
US$400,000, prior to June 30, 2021, in order to receive 282,386 Series Pre-A Preferred Shares of 
XREX upon closing of the financing. 

 
• Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the Company invested in Premium Nickel Resources Corporation 

(“PNR”), a private Canadian company that provides direct exposure to nickel-copper-cobalt 
opportunities in the southern African region. The Company acquired a total of 288,551 common 
share of PNR at a price of $0.95 per share for total consideration of $274,123 in order to maintain 
its 9% ownership in PNR. 
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Investments 
 
The fair value and cost of investments are as follows as at June 30, 2021: 
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The fair value and cost of investments are as follows as at June 30, 2020: 
 

 
 
 
(a) The Company includes the following investments in its investment disclosure: 

(i) Investments in which it is subject to insider or early warning (s101) reporting requirements; 
or 

(ii) Investments in which one or more of the Company’s management and/or director(s) is a 
director of the investee; or 

(iii) Private investments in which the Company owns greater than 10% of the investee. 
 
As at June 30, 2021, the fair value of investments exceeded original cost by $23,474,844 as compared 
to $6,626,101 as at June 30, 2020. The increase for the year ended June 30, 2021, was primarily due 
to the net change in unrealized gains on investments of $24,690,437. 
 
The fair value of the Company’s investments as reflected in its consolidated financial statements are 
calculated in accordance with IFRS and its accounting policies may differ from the actual proceeds of 
disposition that would be realized by the Company. For example, the amounts at which the Company’s 
publicly-traded investments could be disposed of currently may differ from fair values based on market 
quotes, as the value at which significant ownership positions are sold is often different than the quoted 
market price due to a variety of factors such as premiums paid for large blocks or discounts due to 
illiquidity. 
 
As at June 30, 2021, total investments included securities of private companies (categorized in Level 3) 
with a fair value totalling $16,954,437 (30.9% of total fair value of the Company’s investments; cost of 
$7,733,813).  As at June 30, 2020, total investments included securities of private companies (Level 3) 
with a fair value totalling $5,983,529 (43.3% of total fair value of the Company’s investments; cost of 
$3,479,035). The fair value was determined in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for 
private company investments. The amounts at which the Company’s private company investments could 
be disposed of currently may differ significantly from their carrying values since there is no active 
market to dispose of these investments. 

Investee Note (a) Description of holdings Cost Fair Value % of Fair 
Value

Imagination Park Technologies Inc. (CSE: IP) (ii) 1,626,000 common shares
$200,000 convertible debenture, 
convertible into 4,000,000 shares and 
4,000,000 warrants exercisable at $0.10 
for 3 years from issuance
1,500,000 warrant sexercisable at 
$0.25/share, expire May 16, 2021
900,000 warrants exercisable at 
$0.25/share, expire Aug 24, 2021
4,750,000 warrants exercisable at 
$0.25/share, expire Oct 5, 2021 295,515           4,684,944         33.9            

GoldSpot Discoveries Corp. (ii) 2,720,941 common shares 213,583           395,489           2.9              
One Bullion Limited (private) (ii) 4,000,000 common shares 53,000             384,100           2.8              
Premium Nickel Resources Corporation 
(private)

(ii)
4,086,748 common shares 77,735             254,337           1.8              

SciCann Therapeutics Inc. (private) (ii) 16,000 common shares
1,554 options exercisable at 
$17.00/share, expire Dec 23, 2024 100,000           86,269             0.6              

Pluto Network Operations Canada Inc. 
(private)

(ii)
21,299 common shares 45,154             -                  -             

Other publicly traded investments 3,493,919        5,183,735         37.6            
Other private investments 2,903,146        2,819,279         20.4            

7,182,052$      13,808,153$     100.0          
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Pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated November 15, 2019, the Company sold an aggregate 
of 13,500,000 common shares (the “Subject Shares”) of New Found Gold Corp. (TSXV: “NFG”) to a 
third party purchaser at a price of $0.08 per share for aggregate proceeds of $ 1,080,000. The Company 
believes that the purchaser was in possession of information material to the transaction that was not 
disclosed at the time. As a private company with restrictions on the transfer of the Subject Shares, NFG 
had to approve the proposed transfer, which it did by a consent resolution of its board of directors.  

 
Accordingly, the Company subsequently commenced the legal action on March 10, 2020, against Collin 
Kettell, Palisades Goldcorp Ltd. (“Palisades”) and NFG (collectively, the “Defendants”) claiming 
rescission of the transaction or, in the alternative, damages in the approximate amount of $16,000,000 
or the present value of the Subject Shares. The Company has also made specific claims for (i) a 
declaration that Palisades and Collin Kettell, as shareholder or director and/or officer of NFG, have acted 
in a manner that is oppressive, unfairly prejudicial or unfairly disregarded its interests, (ii) a declaration 
that Palisades and Collin Kettell engaged in insider trading contrary to section 138 of the Securities Act 
(Ontario), (iii) unjust enrichment and (iv) interests and costs. 

 
NFG filed a statement of defence in response to the ThreeD’s statement of claim on June 12, 2020. Mr. 
Kettell and Palisades filed a statement of defence on June 18, 2020 and the action has now progressed 
through the production of documents and oral examinations for discovery stages. On July 12, 2021, 
the Company asked the Defendants to consent to amendments to the statement of claim to broaden 
its claims to include direct claims of oppressive conduct on the part of NFG, and to increase the damages 
sought against all of the parties in respect of the Subject Shares to approximately $176,600,000. The 
Defendants have consented to the amendments provided that they be allowed to serve amended 
statements of defence and that the parties undergo another round of discoveries related specifically to 
the amendments to the pleadings 

 
It is not determinable whether the Company will be successful in its claim, or, if successful, the amount 
of damages that may be awarded, if any. 
 
 
Digital Assets at Fair Value Less Cost to Sell (“FVLCTS”) 
 
Digital assets consist of the following: 
 
a. electronic currency, coins, or alternative cryptocurrency coins (altcoins) – a type of currency only 
available in digital form; 
 
b. digital tokens – a representation of a particular asset or utility which are created and distributed 
to the public through an Initial Coin Offering (“ICO”).  ICO is a means of crowdfunding, through the 
release of a new token to fund project development similar to an initial public offering for stocks; and 

 
c. Simple Agreement for Future Tokens (“SAFT”) – an agreement with a promise to distribute tokens 
to investors in the future (a token presale and not an ICO).    
 
Purchases and sales of digital assets are recognized on the day in which the Company and the 
counterparty consummates the transaction. The Company also accepts and receives digital currency as 
consideration for services and in private placement financings. The digital assets are recorded on the 
statement of financial position, as digital assets, at their fair value less cost to sell and re-measured at 
each reporting date.   
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Realized gains and losses on disposal of digital assets and unrealized gains and losses in the value of 
digital assets are reflected in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income.  
Upon disposal of a digital currency, previously recognized unrealized gains or losses are reversed so as 
to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of disposition. Digital assets which are traded on 
an exchange but which are escrowed or otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at 
amounts discounted from market value to a maximum of 25%. In determining the discount for such 
digital currency, the Company considers the nature and length of the restriction. SAFTs are initially 
recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each 
reporting period, the fair value of a SAFT may (depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using 
one or more valuation indicators.   
 
All transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of digital currency are expensed to 
the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income as incurred. The Company records 
the revaluation of gains and losses in profit and loss because this is considered to be the most fair and 
accurate presentation of the Company’s operations to the users of the financial statements. 
 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting frameworks for the 
accounting for the purchase, sale or exchange of digital assets and management has exercised 
significant judgement in determining appropriate accounting treatment for the recognition of revenue 
transactions in digital assets. In the event authoritative guidance is enacted by the IASB, the Company 
may be required to change its policies which could result in a change in the Company’s financial position 
and earnings. The digital assets are initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at 
the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of an investment may 
(depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more valuation indicators.   
 
The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets as at June 30, 2021, are as follows: 
 

Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $ 87              $ 1,204         
Digital tokens 822,029    215,431    
SAFTs 1,191,609 -             

$ 2,013,725 $ 216,635     
 

The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets as at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 
 

Cost FVLCTS
Digital coins $ 91                $ 141              
Digital tokens 767,414       255,769       
SAFTs 1,191,609    -              

$ 1,959,114    $ 255,910        
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The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets over $1,000 as at June 30, 2021, are as follows: 
 

Digital currency Type Quantity Cost Fair Value less 
cost to sell

% of 
FVLCTS

Sense Tokens 32,771,592 223,811$      215,431$       99.4    
Other digital assets under $1,000 1,789,914     1,204              0.6      

2,013,725$   216,635$       100.0   
 
The cost and FVLCTS of digital assets over $1,000 as at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 
 

Digital currency Type Quantity Cost Fair Value less 
cost to sell

% of 
FVLCTS

Sense Tokens 27,056,445 169,197$         255,414$          99.8      
Other digital assets under $1,000 1,789,917        496                   0.2        

1,959,114$      255,910$          100.0     
 
There are inherent and higher risks to digital assets including the risk associated with traditional 
securities, which include significant price volatility, the loss of the digital assets, fraud and high 
transaction fees. Digital currency prices are affected by various forces including global supply and 
demand, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation and the global political and economic 
conditions. Digital assets have a limited history and the fair value historically has been very volatile.  
The Company may not be able to liquidate its inventory of digital currency at its desired price if required. 
 
 
Contingent Liability 
  
In April 2006, the Company entered into a farm-in agreement with Canoro Resources Ltd. (“Canoro”), 
whereby it acquired a 15% interest in block AA-ONN-2003/2, in Arunachal Pradesh, northwest India.    
During 2009, the parties completed the interpretation of the 3-D seismic program.  The consortium 
partners in the block are: ThreeD – 15%, Canoro – 15%, National Thermal Power Corporation – 40%, 
and Geopetrol International Inc. – 30%.    
 
On April 8, 2010, the Production Sharing Contract (the “PSC”) with the Government of India, through 
the Directorate General of Hydrocarbons (the “DGH”) expired and as a result, the DGH called the 
Company’s letter of guarantee totaling US$1,395,000 issued by Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”).  The 
DGH’s position is that the Company and its partners failed to meet certain terms of the PSC governing 
their commitments on exploration block AA-ONN-2003/2.  The Company and its partners have disputed 
certain terms of the PSC, including its expiry on the basis of force majeure.  As at June 30, 2010, the 
Company wrote-off all of its oil and gas properties and related expenditures in India.   
 
In January 2015, the Company received notice from the DGH that it denied the request for non-levy of 
the cost of the unfinished PSC and demanded payment of the outstanding balance of US$14,054,284 
(ThreeD’s share – US$1,423,510). There has been no further correspondence from the DGH since 
January 2015. The Company considers the claim to be completely without merit and will defend itself 
vigorously.  No provision has been made for the claim in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at June 30, 2021. 
 
 



ThreeD Capital Inc. 
June 30, 2021 
 
 
 

Page 11 of 45 

Results of Operations 
 
The Company’s selected financial information for its three most recently completed financial years as 
at and for the years ending June 30 is provided below:  
 

2021 2020 2019
Net investment gains (losses), interest and 
other income $ 39,967,937  $ (7,928,950)   $ (380,583)     

Net income (loss) for the year 34,655,015  (10,525,778) (3,804,431)  
Earnings (loss) per common share based on net 
income (loss) for the year - basic 0.92 (0.43)            (0.32)           

Earnings (loss) per common share based on net 
income (loss) for the year - diluted 0.76 (0.43)            (0.32)           

Investments, at fair value $ 54,910,872  $ 13,808,153   $ 20,673,821 
Digital assets, at fair value less cost to sell 216,635        255,910        745,800      
Total assets 56,635,629  14,944,430   22,113,561 
Total liabilities 2,769,708     1,712,368     522,026      
Equity 53,865,921  13,232,062   21,591,535  
 
The Company’s selected quarterly results for the eight most recently completed interim financial periods 
are as follows: 
 

 Quarter ended  
 

 
June 30, 2021 

 
March 31, 2021 

 
December 31, 

2020 

 
September 30, 

2020 
Net investment and digital asset gains 

(losses) 
 

$      (2,710,750) 
 

$   25,645,109 
 

$   16,395,497 
 

$        325,076 
Net income (loss) for the period (3,731,423) 23,234,560 15,633,631 (408,176) 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for 

the period 
(3,731,181) 23,235,584 15,634,445 (407,788) 

Earnings (loss) per share based on net 
income (loss) for the period – basic  

 
        (0.08) 

 
        0.55 

 
        0.50 

 
        (0.01) 

Earnings (loss) per share based on net 
income (loss) for the period – diluted 

 
       (0.08) 

 
        0.50 

 
        0.40 

 
        (0.01) 

  
June 30, 2020 March 31, 2020 

December 31,  
2019 

September 30, 
2019 

Net investment and digital asset gains 
(losses) 

 
$  7,762,604 

 
$ (2,544,402) 

 
$   (4,829,035) 

 
$ (8,616,653) 

Net income (loss) for the period 7,235,197 (3,068,498) (5,429,996) (9,262,481) 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for 

the period 
7,235,947 (3,070,106) (5,429,655) (9,262,690) 

Earnings (loss) per share based on net 
income (loss) for the period – basic  

 
        0.23 

 
        (0.12) 

 
        (0.24) 

 
        (0.48) 

Earnings (loss) per share based on net 
income (loss) for the period – diluted 

 
        0.23 

 
        (0.12) 

 
(0.24) 

 
        (0.48) 

 
No dividends were declared by the Company during any of the periods indicated. 
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company generated net realized gains on disposal of 
investments of $4,240,033, as compared to a net realized gain of $98,541 for the three months ended 
June 30, 2020.  The net realized gains are a result of the dispositions of the Company’s investments to 
generate cash proceeds for use in general working capital and purchases of other investments and 
digital assets. 
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a net unrealized loss on investments 
of $6,994,379 as compared to a net unrealized gain of $7,489,445 for the three months ended June 
30, 2020. The net change in unrealized losses on investments in the current period related to the net 
write-down to market on the Company’s investments of $6,847,882 further supplemented by the 
reversal of previously recognized net unrealized gains on disposal of investments of $146,497. In the 
prior year period, the net change in unrealized gains on investments related to the net write-up to fair 
value of $8,291,020 on the Company’s investments offset by the reversal of previously recognized net 
unrealized gains on disposal on investments of $801,575.  
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a realized loss on digital assets of 
$nil as compared to a net realized loss of $1,705 for the three months ended June 30, 2020. For the 
three months ended June 30, 2021, the net change in unrealized gains on digital assets was $43,596 
as compared to a net change in unrealized losses on digital assets of $816. In previous years, the 
Company had disposed of most of its digital assets and currently only has one holding with a fair value 
of over $1,000. 
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded consulting, administrative, and 
rental income of $80,698 as compared to $59,027 for the three months ended June 30, 2020. The 
difference is the result of increased consulting fees primarily attributed to an agreement wherein the 
Company will provide consulting and advisory services to an investee for a one-year term. 
Compensation for the services was provided in advance and is recognized in revenue over a period of 
time throughout the duration of the agreement. This increase in consulting fees is slightly offset by a 
decrease in rental income as a result of the Company assigning its lease for its old office premises to 
the current subtenant, resulting in a decrease of rental income of $8,000 per month going forward 
since December 1, 2020. For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded other 
income of $6,199 as compared to $36,583 for the year ended June 30, 2020, primarily consisting of 
interest income earned on convertible debenture investments.      
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, operating, general and administrative expenses increased 
by $556,651 to $1,161,162 from $604,511 for the three months ended June 30, 2020.  The increase 
was primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation expense, transaction costs, professional 
fees, and salaries and consulting fees. 
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The following is the breakdown of the Company’s operating, general and administrative expenses for 
the indicated three-month periods ended June 30.  Details of the changes follow the table: 
 

2021 2020
Salaries and consulting fees (a) 236,779$      283,491$     
Stock-based compensation expense (b) 420,356        14,254         
Transaction costs (c) 115,232        27,421         
Other office and general 99,200           106,540       
Professional fees (d) 220,591        166,892       
Shareholder relations, transfer agent and filing fees (e) 27,372           10,356         
Operating lease payments (f) 10,317           30,350         
Other employment benefits 13,607           16,315         
Bad debts and reversal of expected credit losses (g) -                 (53,110)        
Travel and promotion -                 561              
Foreign exchange loss 17,708           1,441           

1,161,162$   604,511$     

 
(a) Salaries and consulting fees decreased by $46,712 for the three months ended June 30, 2021 as 

compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020, primarily due to a reversal of the CEO’s 
performance bonus accrual calculated as at March 31, 2021 compared to the calculation as at 
June 30, 2021, which lowered salaries and consulting fees for the three months ended June 30, 
2021. Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted a new cash-based performance bonus 
calculation for the CEO which is calculated as 5% of the increase from the December 31, 2020 
retained earnings, adjusted for the aggregate amount of the Company’s tax expense (if any) and 
adjusted for any decrease to shareholders’ equity of the Company arising from any declaration of 
dividends. 

 
(b) Stock-based compensation expense increased by $406,102 for the three months ended June 30, 

2021 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020.  Stock-based compensation expense 
will vary from period to period depending upon the number of options granted and vested during 
a period and the fair value of the options calculated as at the grant date. Stock options granted 
typically vest at three-month intervals over 18 months and are accounted for in accordance with 
the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation.  The fair value of these options 
is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and expensed over 
the vesting periods based on the graded method. Unvested forfeited stock options are not 
expensed during the period.   
 

(c) Transactions costs increased by $87,811 for the three months ended June 30, 2021 as compared 
to the three months ended June 30, 2020, due to an increase in the volume of trading conducted 
by the Company. Transaction costs arise from the purchase and disposition of investments 
through brokers, which are expensed immediately in accordance with the Company’s accounting 
policy. 
 

(d) Professional fees increased by $53,699 for the three months ended June 30, 2021 as compared 
to the three months ended June 30, 2020 mainly due to an increase in legal fees associated with 
the claim against Collin Kettell, Palisades, and NFG. As previously mentioned, NFG filed a 
statement of defence in response to the ThreeD’s statement of claim on June 12, 2020. Mr. Kettell 
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and Palisades filed a statement of defence on June 18, 2020, and the action has now progressed 
through the production of documents and oral examinations for discovery stages 

 
(e) Shareholder relations, transfer agent and filing fees increased by $17,016 for the three months 

ended June 30, 2021 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020, primarily due to the 
costs associated with upgrading from the OTCQB Venture Market (“OTCQB”) to the OTCQX. The 
OTCQX is the highest market tier of OTC Markets. The Company upgraded to enhance the visibility 
and accessibility of ThreeD to U.S. investors, which will allow more investors to participate in the 
growth of the Company. 
 

(f) Operating lease payments decreased by $20,033 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as 
compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020.  Effective December 1, 2020, the Company 
had assigned its lease for its old office premises to the current subtenant. As a result the Company 
received its deposit back and the operating lease costs will be decreased going forward. 

 
(g) During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company reversed expected credit losses of 

$53,110 which was recorded in a prior period (the receivable was received during the year ended 
June 30, 2021). During the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company had no expected 
credit losses relating to receivables outstanding. 

 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company had finance expenses of $19,985 as compared 
to $18,506 for the three months ended June 30, 2020. The finance expenses increase mainly relates 
to higher interest expense paid to brokers on margin borrowings, which was offset by a decrease in 
lease interest expense recorded as effective December 1, 2020, the Company had assigned its lease 
for its old office premises to the current subtenant, and thus no longer records payment and interest 
expense associated with that lease. 
 
Net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2021 was $3,731,423 ($0.08 per share) as compared to 
net income of $7,235,197 ($0.23 per share) for the three months ended June 30, 2020.   
 
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a gain from the exchange differences 
on translation of foreign operations of $242 resulting in total comprehensive loss for the period of 
$3,731,181. For the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded a gain from the 
exchange differences on translation of foreign operations of $750 resulting in total comprehensive 
income for the period of $7,235,947. The Company expects the exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations to be minimal since its foreign subsidiaries are no longer active. 
 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company generated net realized gains on disposal of investments 
of $22,052,810, as compared to net realized losses on disposal of investments of $1,887,709 for the 
year ended June 30, 2020. The net realized gains (losses) are a result of the dispositions of the 
Company’s investments to generate cash proceeds for use in general working capital and purchases of 
other investments and digital assets. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a net unrealized gain on investments of 
$17,696,058 as compared to a net unrealized loss of $6,328,026 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
The net change in unrealized gains on investments in the current year related to the net write-up to 
market on the Company’s investments of $22,670,404 offset by the reversal of previously recognized 
net unrealized gains on disposal of investments of $4,974,346.  In the prior year, the net change in 
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unrealized losses on investments related to the net write-up to market on the Company’s investments 
of $4,867,047 and the reversal of previously recognized net unrealized gains on disposal of investments 
of $11,195,073. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a realized loss on digital assets of $49 as 
compared to a loss of $112,934 for the year ended June 30, 2020.  For the year ended June 30, 2021, 
the net change in unrealized losses on digital assets was $93,887, as compared to a net change in 
unrealized gains on digital assets of $101,183 for the year ended June 30, 2020.  In previous years, 
the Company had disposed of most of its digital assets and currently only has one holding with a fair 
value of over $1,000. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded consulting, administrative, and rental income 
of $288,769 as compared to $261,938 for the year ended June 30, 2020. The difference is the result 
of increased consulting fees primarily attributed to an agreement wherein the Company will provide 
consulting and advisory services to an investee for a one-year term. Compensation for the services was 
provided in advance and is recognized in revenue over a period of time throughout the duration of the 
agreement. The increase in consulting fees is slightly offset by a decrease in rental income as a result 
of the Company assigning its lease for its old office premises to the current subtenant, resulting in 
decreased rental income of $8,000 per month going forward since December 1, 2020. For the year 
ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded other income of $24,236 as compared to $36,598 for the 
year ended June 30, 2020, primarily consisting of interest income earned on convertible debenture 
investments.      
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, operating, general and administrative expenses increased by 
$2,700,422 to $5,192,421 from $2,491,999 for the year ended June 30, 2020. The increase was 
primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation expense, salaries and consulting fees, and 
transaction costs.   
 
The following is the breakdown of the Company’s operating, general and administrative expenses for 
the year ended June 30. Details of the changes follow the table: 
 

2021 2020
Salaries and consulting fees (a) 2,330,908$   1,098,716$  
Stock-based compensation expense (b) 1,384,563     222,470       
Transaction costs (c) 528,048        147,655       
Other office and general 411,951        449,207       
Professional fees (d) 285,154        302,569       
Shareholder relations, transfer agent and filing fees (e) 99,751           43,367         
Operating lease payments (f) 76,910           119,438       
Other employment benefits 52,630           53,061         
Bad debts (g) -                 13,750         
Travel and promotion 1,016             31,833         
Foreign exchange loss 21,490           9,933           

5,192,421$   2,491,999$   
 
(a) Salaries and consulting fees increased by $1,232,192 for the year ended June 30, 2021 as 

compared to the year ended June 30, 2020, primarily due to a $1,022,608 performance bonus 
accrual recorded for the CEO of the Company. Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted 
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a new cash-based performance bonus calculation for the CEO which is calculated as 5% of the 
increase from the December 31, 2020, retained earnings, adjusted for the aggregate amount of 
the Company’s tax expense (if any) and adjusted for any decrease to shareholders’ equity of the 
Company arising from any declaration of dividends. Also, additional consultants were used during 
the year for marketing services, contributing to the increased consulting fees. 

 
(b) Stock-based compensation expense increased by $1,162,093 for the year ended June 30, 2021 

as compared to the year ended June 30, 2020.  Stock-based compensation expense will vary from 
period to period depending upon the number of options granted and vested during a period and 
the fair value of the options calculated as at the grant date.  Stock options granted vest at six-
month intervals over 18 months and are accounted for in accordance with the fair value method 
of accounting for stock-based compensation. The fair value of these options is estimated at the 
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and expensed over the vesting periods 
based on the graded method. Unvested forfeited stock options are not expensed during the 
period.   

 
(c) Transactions costs increased by $380,393 for the year ended June 30, 2021, as compared to the 

year ended June 30, 2020, due to a significant increase in the volume of trading conducted by 
the Company. Transaction costs arise from the purchase and disposition of investments through 
brokers, which are expensed immediately in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy. 

 
(d) Professional fees decreased by $17,415 for the year ended June 30, 2021, as compared to the 

year ended June 30, 2020. The decrease is mainly attributed to a reduction in accrued audit fees. 
 

(e) Shareholder relations, transfer agent and filing fees increased by $56,384 for the year ended June 
30, 2021 as compared to the year ended June 30, 2020, primarily due to the cost of having the 
Company’s stock traded in the U.S. On August 17, 2020, the Company announced that its common 
shares were trading on the OTCQB under the stock symbol "IDKFF". Later on in the year, the 
Company upgraded from the OTCQB to the OTCQX. The OTCQX is the highest market tier of OTC 
Markets. The Company upgraded to enhance the visibility and accessibility of ThreeD to U.S. 
investors, which will allow more investors to participate in the growth of the Company. 

 
(f) Operating lease payments decreased by $42,528 for the year ended June 30, 2021 as compared 

to the year ended June 30, 2020. Effective December 1, 2020, the Company had assigned its 
lease for its old office premises to the current subtenant. As a result the Company received its 
deposit back and the operating lease costs will be decreased going forward. 

 
(g) During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded bad debts of $13,750 for receivables 

relating to rental income from an investee, which has been outstanding for over 12 months. 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company had no expected credit losses relating to 
receivables outstanding. 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company had finance expenses of $120,501 as compared to 
$104,829 for the year ended June 30, 2020. The finance expenses increase mainly relates to higher 
interest expense paid to brokers on margin borrowings, which was offset by a decrease in lease interest 
expense recorded as effective December 1, 2020, the Company had assigned its lease for its old office 
premises to the current subtenant, and thus no longer records payment and interest expense associated 
with that lease. 
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Net income for the year ended June 30, 2021, was $34,655,015 ($0.92 per share) as compared to a 
net loss of $10,525,778 ($0.43 per share) for the year ended June 30, 2020.   
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a gain from the exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations of $1,654 resulting in total comprehensive income for the period of 
$34,656,669. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded a loss from the exchange 
differences on translation of foreign operations of $726 resulting in total comprehensive income for the 
period of $10,526,504. The Company expects the exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations to be minimal since its foreign subsidiaries are no longer active. 
 
 
Cash Flows - Year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company used cash of $4,139,243 in operating activities as 
compared to $1,487,317 during the year ended June 30, 2020. The Company classifies its investment 
activities (proceeds on disposal of investments and digital assets, purchases of investments and digital 
assets, and due from/to brokers) as operating activities which is the Company’s primary business.   
During the current year, the Company has increased its focus on investments and reduced its investing 
in digital assets. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company had proceeds from disposition of 
investments of $56,023,558 as compared to $10,015,291 during the year ended June 30, 2020. During 
the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company purchased $56,392,144 of investments as compared to 
$11,115,358 of investments purchased during the year ended June 30, 2020. During the year ended 
June 30, 2021, the Company had proceeds from disposition of digital assets of $96,720 as compared 
to $1,605,667 during the year ended June 30, 2020. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company 
purchased $151,381 of digital assets as compared to $1,127,528 purchased during the year ended June 
30, 2020.  
 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company generated net cash of $4,280,687 in financing 
activities as compared to $1,420,691 for the year ended June 30, 2020. During the year ended June 
30, 2021, the Company received $4,537,173 from the CEO of the Company and repaid $3,884,808 of 
these advances during the year. In the prior year ended June 30, 2020, the Company repaid $60,000 
in advances previously received from the CEO. The advances from officer were used for general working 
capital and investment activities. In the current year, the Company received $618,447 and $3,323,843 
in proceeds for the exercise of stock options and warrants respectively, compared to $nil amounts 
received the previous year ended June 30, 2020. The Company also paid $135,305 in principal payments 
of its lease liabilities compared to $164,150 during the year ended June 30, 2020. Additionally, during 
the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company bought back and cancelled a total of 591,500 common 
shares and repurchased an additional 82,000 common, which were held in treasury for the purpose of 
being cancelled, under the Company’s NCIB for a total payment of $178,662. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company used $7,403 for the purchase of property, 
equipment and right-of-use-assets compared to $nil amount during the year ended June 30, 2020.    
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company had a net increase in cash of $134,041 as compared 
to a net decrease in cash of $66,626 for the year ended June 30, 2020. For the year ended June 30, 
2021, the Company also had a gain from the exchange rate changes on its foreign operations’ cash 
balances of $1,654, leaving a cash balance of $205,425 as at June 30, 2021 as compared to an 
exchange loss of $726, leaving a cash balance of $69,730 as at June 30, 2020.  
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Segmented Information 
 
Reportable segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial 
information is available, that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding 
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.   
 
The Company’s operations primarily relate to investing. The Company’s management is responsible for 
the Company’s entire investment portfolio and considers the business to have a single operating 
segment. Management’s investment decisions are based on a single, integrated investment strategy 
and the performance is evaluated on an overall basis. 
 
All of the Company’s revenues are earned in Canada and all of the Company’s property, equipment, 
and right-of-use assets are located in Canada and no segmented information has been disclosed as at 
and for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
Consolidated statement of financial position 
highlights June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Cash $ 205,425                $ 69,730              
Investments, at fair value 54,910,872          13,808,153         
Digital assets, at fair value less cost to sell 216,635                255,910             
Total assets 56,635,629          14,944,430         
Due to brokers 324,042                850,698             
Advances from officer 652,365                -                   
Total liabilities 2,769,708            1,712,368          
Share capital, contributed surplus, warrants 148,704,320       142,727,130       
Foreign currency translation reserve 876,834                875,180             
Deficit (95,715,233)        (130,370,248)      
 
Total liabilities increased by $1,057,340 to $2,769,708 as at June 30, 2021 as compared to $1,712,368 
as at June 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to the increase in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities by $941,078 to $1,406,226 as at June 30, 2021 and advances from officer of $652,365, used 
for working capital and purchases of investments. As at June 30, 2021, total liabilities also include 
$16,627 accrued for the winding down of the Company’s inactive subsidiaries in Barbados compared to 
an accrued amount of $18,282 as at June 30, 2020. 
 
The Company’s cash and investments as at June 30, 2021, would be sufficient to meet the Company’s 
current liabilities.   
 
The Company continues to have no long-term debt. In order to meet its operating expenditure 
obligations as they become due, ThreeD will have to dispose of some of its investments/digital assets 
or rely on external sources of capital such as using margin from brokerage accounts or raising capital.    
The Company’s ability to access the debt and equity markets when required will depend upon factors 
beyond its control, such as economic and political conditions that may affect the capital markets 
generally. The Company’s inability to raise sufficient capital to fund its operations and growth may 
result in the disposition of its investments at non-opportunistic times and, accordingly, could have a 
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material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations, and 
its ability to continue as a going concern.   
 
In April 2015, the Company signed a lease for premises which started May 1, 2015 for annual payments 
of approximately $82,875 ($6,906 monthly, increased to $7,166 effective January 1, 2017) plus 
applicable taxes until April 30, 2018 and office equipment lease payments of $5,340 annually ($445 
monthly) plus applicable taxes until April 30, 2019.  During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company 
extended the lease on its premises to April 30, 2021 for annual payments of approximately $86,125.  
Effective December 1, 2020, the Company has assigned the lease of its former premises to its 
subtenant. 
 
In September 2018, the Company signed a lease for new premises which started on December 1, 2018 
until November 30, 2023, for annual payments of approximately $190,974 (plus applicable taxes), 
increasing approximately 3.4% per year.   
 
As at June 30, 2021, future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases for premises and 
equipment are approximately as follows: 
 

2022 89,518$    
2023 214,224    
2024 218,057    
Prepaid rent and operating costs deposits (5,447)       
Total lease commitments 516,352    
Lease operating costs (165,230)   
Discount at effective interest rates of 10% - 15% (56,797)     
Lease liability, as at June 30, 2021 294,325$   
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company had commitments to purchase investments totaling $350,000 (June 
30, 2020 - $122,250). 
 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations and are 
recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed 
to by the related parties. 
 
(a) Compensation to key management personnel and directors during the years ended June 30 were 

as follows:  
 

2021 2020
Salaries and consulting fees 1,803,421$  737,000$     
Other short-term benefits 14,719          21,097         
Stock-based compensation expense 1,058,514    219,029       
Total 2,876,654$  977,126$      
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Key management personnel include the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief 
Financial Officer/Corporate Secretary (“CFO”) of the Company. Included in salaries and consulting 
fees is a performance bonus accrual for the CEO of $1,022,608. 

 
(b) During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company completed eight non-brokered private 

placements.  On July 2, 2019, two directors and a close family member of the CEO subscribed for 
817,237 units for gross proceeds of $212,482. On August 20, 2019, close family members of the 
CEO subscribed for 1,275,000 units for gross proceeds of $255,000. On September 13, 2019, the 
CEO and a director subscribed for 1,300,000 units for gross proceeds of $260,000.  On November 
22, 2019, a close family member of the CEO subscribed for 1,250,000 units for gross proceeds of 
$165,000. On January 28, 2020, a director and close family members of the CEO subscribed for 
3,891,666 units for gross proceeds of $467,000. On February 24, 2020, close family members of 
the CEO subscribed for 2,500,000 units for gross proceeds of $300,000. On May 8, 2020, the CEO 
subscribed for 1,000,000 units for gross proceeds of $100,000. 

 
(c) On September 18, 2019, 62,500 stock options were granted to a director of the Company, 

exercisable at a price of $0.40 per share, expiring on September 18, 2024. On May 12, 2020, 
450,000 stock options were granted to directors of the Company, exercisable at a price of $0.10 
per share, expiring on May 12, 2025. 
 

(d) On September 15, 2020, 1,400,000 stock options were granted to directors and officers of the 
Company, exercisable at a price of $0.30 per share, expiring on September 15, 2025. On January 
15, 2021, 1,400,000 stock options were granted to directors and officers of the Company, 
exercisable at a price of $0.75 per share, expiring on January 15, 2026. On March 26, 2021, 400,000 
stock options were granted to directors and officers of the Company, exercisable at a price of $1.25 
per share, expiring on March 26, 2026. 

 
(e) During the year ended June 30, 2021, directors and officers of the Company exercised 656,082 

stock options(June 30, 2020 – nil stock options) at an average price of $0.69 per share and received 
656,082 common shares (June 30, 2021 – nil common shares) of ThreeD Capital Inc. 

 
(f) During the year ended June 30, 2021, directors, officers, and close family members of the CEO of 

the Company exercised 9,675,249 warrants (June 30, 2020 – nil warrants) at an average price of 
$0.22 per warrant and received 9,675,249 common shares  (June 30, 2020 – nil common shares) 
of ThreeD. 

 
(g) As at June 30, 2021, included in prepaids and receivables is $nil (June 30, 2020 - $94,167) in 

prepaid consulting fees to Park Place Limited, a private company controlled by the CEO.  As at June 
30, 2021, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $47,420 due to Park Place Limited 
(June 30, 2020 - $11,023) relating to unpaid consulting fees and reimbursement of expenses. 
 

(h) As at June 30, 2021, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $nil (June 30, 2020 - 
$62,150) due to a company controlled by the previous CFO relating to unpaid consulting fees owing 
to him. 

 
(i) As at June 30, 2021, the Company had advances from the CEO of the Company of $652,365 (June 

30, 2020 - $nil) which were payable on demand, unsecured and interest free. These advances were 
used for general working capital. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or 
are reasonable likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition 
of ThreeD.  
 
 
Management of Capital 
 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended June 
30, 2021. The Company considers its capital to include equity which amounts to $53,865,921 as at June 
30, 2021 (June 30, 2020 - $13,232,062). The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 
(a) to ensure that the Company maintains the level of capital necessary to meet the requirements of 

its broker; 
 

(b) to allow the Company to respond to changes in economic and/or marketplace conditions by 
maintaining the Company’s ability to purchase new investments and digital assets; 
 

(c) to give shareholders sustained growth in shareholder value by increasing shareholders’ equity; and 
 

(d) to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable levels of risk 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets. The Company maintains or adjusts its 
capital level to enable it to meet its objectives by: 
 
(a) realizing proceeds from the disposition of its investments and digital assets; and 

 
(b) raising capital through equity or debt financings. 
 
The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by any regulator other than to 
maintain its margin requirements by the brokers. 
 
To date, the Company has not declared any cash dividends to its shareholders as part of its capital 
management program. The Company’s current capital resources are sufficient to discharge its liabilities 
as at June 30, 2021. 
  
 
Management of Financial Risk 
 
The investment operations of ThreeD’s business involve the purchase and sale of securities and digital 
assets, and, accordingly, a portion of the Company’s assets are currently comprised of financial 
instruments. The use of financial instruments can expose the Company to several risks, including 
market, credit, and liquidity risks. Although digital assets are not considered financial instruments, they 
inherently have the similar risks as traditional investments. A discussion of the Company’s use of 
financial instruments and their associated risks is provided below. 
 
(a) Market risk:  
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Market risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows from the Company’s financial 
instruments will significantly fluctuate because of changes in the market prices. The value 
of the financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed to market risk in trading 
its investments/digital assets and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions 
of investments/digital assets at less than favorable prices.  
 
Additionally, the Company adjusts its investments/digital assets to fair value at the end of 
each reporting period. This process could result in significant write-downs of the Company’s 
investments/digital currencies over one or more reporting periods, particularly during 
periods of overall market instability, which would have a significant unfavorable effect on 
ThreeD’s financial position.   

 
As at June 30, 2021 the Company held a total of $8,060,198 (June 30, 2020 - $5,637,557) 
in U.S. denominated investments. Additionally, the majority of the Company’s digital assets 
are denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company also held $69,713 (June 30, 2020 - $nil) in 
Australian-dollar denominated investments. Given the foreign denominated investments, 
market risk for the Company includes currency risk. 
 
There were no changes in the way the Company manages market risk during the year ended 
June 30, 2021. The Company manages its market risk by having a portfolio that is not 
singularly exposed to any one issuer or class/sector of issuers. 

 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2021 from a change in the closing trade price (or recent transaction 
price) of the Company’s investments and digital assets with all other variables held constant 
as at June 30, 2021:  

 
Change in after-tax net 

income from % change in 
closing trade price

2% 956,462$                               
4% 1,912,925                              
6% 2,869,387                              
8% 3,825,849                              
10% 4,782,311                              

Percentage of change in closing trade 
price (recent transaction price)

 
  

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for 
the year ended June 30, 2020 from a change in the closing trade price of the Company’s 
investments and digital assets with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2020:  

 
Change in after-tax net 

income from % change in 
closing trade price

2% 244,011$                               
4% 488,023                                 
6% 732,034                                 
8% 976,046                                 
10% 1,220,057                              

Percentage of change in closing trade 
price (recent transaction price)
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(b) Credit risk: 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the inability of a third party to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company is exposed to the risk that third parties owing it money or securities 
will not perform their underlying obligations. The Company may, from time to time invest in debt 
obligations.  

 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company held two convertible debentures with a fair value of $1,396,253 
(June 30, 2020 - $2,439,544). All funds in cash are held in financial institutions that have a credit 
rating above AA and the Company believes it is not exposed to any significant loss. 
 
There were no changes to the way the Company manages credit risk during the year ended June 
30, 2021. The Company is also exposed in the normal course of business to credit risk from the 
sale of its investments and advances to investee and joint arrangements. 
 
The following is the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at June 30: 
 

2021 2020
Cash 205,425$          69,730$              
Due from brokers 21,679               50,426                
Convertible debentures 1,396,253         2,439,544           
Receivables (i) 29,873               139,444              

1,653,230$       2,699,144$           
 
(i) As at June 30, 2021 and 2020, the receivables were from investees for monthly administrative 

and office rental fees and although it has received monthly payments previously, the Company 
is exposed to credit risk relating to those receivables. As at June 30, 2021 the receivables 
balance included $14,918 (June 30, 2020 - $7,653) relating to Harmonized Sales Tax input 
sales tax refunds. The Company believes it is not exposed to credit risk since the amount is 
fully collectible from the Canadian government.  

 
(c) Liquidity risk: 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligation as they become due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be 
adversely affected if the Company’s access to the capital markets is hindered, whether as a result 
of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the Company, 
or if the value of the Company’s investments declines, resulting in losses upon disposition. The 
Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities and proceeds from the 
disposition of its investments/digital assets, in addition to interest earned on its investments.  
 
There were no changes to the way that the Company manages liquidity risk during the year ended 
June 30, 2021. The Company manages liquidity risk by reviewing the amount of margin available 
on a daily basis and managing its cash flow. The Company holds some investments/digital assets 
that can be converted into cash when required.  
 
As at June 30, 2021, the Company was using net margin of $302,363 (June 30, 2020 - $800,272) 
and had advances from an officer of $652,365 (June 30, 2020 - $nil). 
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The following table shows the Company’s liabilities and potential due dates to liquidity risk as at 
June 30, 2021: 
 

Liabilities and obligations Total
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 years
4 - 5 
years 

After 5 
years

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 1,406,226$ 1,406,226$ -$         -$      -$   

Due to brokers 324,042       324,042       -           -        -     
Office lease payments 351,122       147,117       204,005   -        -     
Advance from officer 652,365       652,365       -           -        -     

2,733,755$ 2,529,750$ 204,005$ -$      -$   

Payments due by period

 
 
The following table shows the Company’s liabilities and potential due dates related to liquidity risk 
as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Liabilities and obligations Total Less than 1 year 1 - 3 years
4 - 5 
years 

After 5 
years

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 465,148$    465,148$         -$         -$       -$     

Due to brokers 850,698      850,698           -           -         -       
Office lease payments 741,548      239,900           431,325   70,323   -       

2,057,394$ 1,555,746$      431,325$ 70,323$ -$     

Payments due by period

 
 

The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at June 30, 2021: 
 

Assets Total
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 years
After 4 
years

Non-liquid 
assets

Cash 205,425$      205,425$       -$               -$   -$         
Due to brokers 21,679           21,679           -                 -     -           
Prepaids and 
receivables 101,829         29,873           -                 -     71,956     

Advances made on 
investments 857,199         857,199         -                 -     -           

Investments, at fair 
value(i) 54,910,872   37,956,435    16,954,437   -     -           

Digital assets, at 
FVLCTS(i) 216,635         216,635         -                 -     -           

Property, equipment 
and right-of-use assets 321,990         -                  -                 -     321,990   

56,635,629$ 39,287,246$ 16,954,437$ -$   393,946$ 

Liquidity by period
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(i) Private Company and SAFT investments are included in the 1-3 years category since they 
are not expected to be liquidated within 1 year. 

 
The following table shows the Company’s source of liquidity by assets as at June 30, 2020: 
 

Assets Total Less than 1 year 1 - 3 years
After 4 
years

Non-liquid 
assets

Cash 69,730$           69,730$            -$                 -$     -$           
Due to brokers 50,426             50,426              -                   -       -             
Prepaids and 
receivables 279,239           139,444            -                   -       139,795     

Investments, at fair 
value(i) 13,808,153      7,824,624         5,983,529        -       -             

Digital assets, at 
FVLCTS(i) 255,910           255,910            -                   -       -             

Property, 
equipment and right-
of-use assets

480,972           -                   -                   -       480,972     

14,944,430$    8,340,134$       5,983,529$      -$     620,767$   

Liquidity by period

 
 

(i) Private Company and SAFT investments are included in the 1-3 years category since they 
are not expected to be liquidated within 1 year. 

 
(d) Currency risk:  
 

The Company presently holds funds in Canadian dollars but some of its liabilities are denominated 
in U.S. dollars. The Company does not engage in any hedging activities to mitigate its foreign 
exchange risk. A change in the foreign exchange rate of the Canadian dollar versus another 
currency may increase or decrease the value of the Company’s financial instruments. The 
Company does not hedge its foreign currency exposure. 

 
The following assets and liabilities (excluding investments and digital assets) were denominated 
in foreign currencies: 
 

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Denominated in U.S. dollars:

Cash 36,934$             219$                   
Due from (to) brokers, net (37,168)             (399,574)             
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (20,967)             (18,282)               

Net assets (liabiilities) denominated in U.S. dollars (21,201)$           (417,637)$            
 

The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for the 
year ended June 30, 2021 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which the Company 
has significant exposure with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2021:  
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Percentage of change in U.S. dollar exchange rate

Change in after-tax net 
income from % change in 
the U.S. dollar exchange 

rate
2% 312$                                 
4% 623                                    
6% 935                                    
8% 1,247                                
10% 1,558                                 

 
The following table shows the estimated sensitivity of the Company’s after-tax net loss for the 
year ended June 30, 2020 from a change in the U.S. dollar exchange rate in which the Company 
has significant exposure with all other variables held constant as at June 30, 2020:  

 

Percentage of change in U.S. dollar exchange rate

Change in after-tax net 
income from % change in 
the U.S. dollar exchange 

rate
2% 6,139$                                
4% 12,279                                
6% 18,418                                
8% 24,557                                
10% 30,696                                 

 
(e) Digital assets regulatory risk:  

 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the legality of SAFT investments in certain jurisdictions, as 
some SAFT investments might not be registered under the local securities law.  

 
 
Principal Business Risks 
 
ThreeD’s financial condition, results of operation and business are subject to certain risks, which may 
negatively affect them. Certain of these risks are described below in addition to elsewhere in this MD&A. 
 
(a) Cash flows: 

 
The Company generates revenue and cash flows primarily from its proceeds from the disposition 
of its investments, in addition to interest income earned on the Company’s investments. The 
availability of these sources of funds and the amount of funds generated from these sources are 
dependent upon various market factors some of which are outside of the Company’s direct control.   

 
(b) Private issuers and illiquid securities: 
 

The Company invests in securities of private issuers. Investments in private issuers cannot be 
resold without a prospectus, an available exemption or an appropriate ruling under relevant 
securities legislation and there may not be any market for such securities.  These limitations may 
impair the Company’s ability to react quickly to market conditions or negotiate the most favourable 
terms for exiting such investments. Investments in private issuers may offer relatively high 
potential returns, but will also be subject to a relatively high degree of risk.  There can be no 
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assurance that a public market will develop for any of the Company’s private company investments 
or that the Company will otherwise be able to realize a return on such investments. The Company 
also invests in illiquid securities of public issuers. A considerable period of time may elapse 
between the time a decision is made to sell such securities and the time the Company is able to 
do so, and the value of such securities could decline during such period.  Illiquid investments are 
subject to various risks, particularly the risk that the Company will be unable to realize the 
Company’s investment objectives by sale or other disposition at attractive prices or otherwise be 
unable to complete any exit strategy.  In some cases, the Company may be prohibited by contract 
or by law from selling such securities for a period of time or otherwise be restricted from disposing 
of such securities.  Furthermore, the types of investments made may require a substantial length 
of time to liquidate. 

 
(c) Simple Agreement for Future Tokens (SAFTs): 

 
The Company invests in SAFTs which is an agreement with a promise by the company to distribute 
tokens to investors in the future (ie: a token presale and not an ICO).  There may be no resale of 
the SAFT and a considerable period of time may elapse between the payment of the SAFT and 
the receipt of the tokens, if at all.  SAFTs are subject to high risks, see “Digital assets” below.  
 

(d) Investment risks: 
 
The Company acquires securities of public and private companies from time to time, which are 
primarily junior or small-cap companies. The market values of these securities can experience 
significant fluctuations in the short and long term due to factors beyond the Company’s control.  
Market value can be reflective of the actual or anticipated operating results of the companies 
and/or the general market conditions that affect a specific sector as a whole, such as fluctuations 
in commodity prices and global political and economical conditions. The Company’s investments 
are carried at fair value, and unrealized gains/losses on the securities and realized losses on the 
securities sold could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s operating results. In recent 
years equity markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations 
have had a substantial effect on market prices, often unrelated to the operating performance of 
the specific companies.   

 
(e) Digital assets: 
 

The Company acquires digital assets which include digital coins, tokens, and SAFTs.  The risks 
associated with digital assets are similar to investments risks, in addition, digital assets have a 
limited history and the fair value less cost to sell historically has been very volatile.  Historical 
performance of digital assets are not indicative of their future price performance. Certain digital 
assets are illiquid investments, are subject to various risks, particularly the risk that the Company 
will be unable to realize the Company’s investment objectives by sale or other disposition at 
attractive prices or otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy.   
 
The Company has not hedged the conversion of any of its digital assets to traditional fiat 
currencies. 
 
In addition, the majority of digital assets investments made by the Company are held within the 
cold wallets (hardware wallets). The cold wallets are used to maintain one or more digital wallets, 
whose private keys are maintained on computers or other devices that are not connected to the 
Internet or any other computer network. The cold wallets also keep the private keys that provide 
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access to the digital wallets and facilitate the transfer of digital assets in accordance with the 
Company’s instructions.  

 
Certain tokens are held within the hot wallets (exchange wallets). Security breaches, computer 
malware and computer hacking attacks have been a prevalent concern of using the hot wallets. 
Any security breach caused by hacking could cause loss of digital assets.  
 
In addition to the security access to wallets, there is a risk of fraudulent users and the reliability 
of the underlying blockchain of digital coins and tokens. There is no certainty of knowing the 
transaction between two individuals who are represented by a private and public key are in fact 
who they represent and are not a fraudulent individual.  Because of how blockchain is set up, 
through total anonymity, it is difficult to confirm that the risk does not exist that the “person” on 
the other end may not be who you expect it to be.  And there is an inherent risk that the proof of 
concept being supported by blockchain itself fails. A blockchain relies on a consensus model to 
operate.  If for some reason the majority of participants were no longer invested in the success 
of the network, it would no longer be considered reliable. As a result, the integrity of transactions 
would be lost.   

 
(f) Non-controlling interests: 
  

The Company’s investments include equity securities of companies that the Company does not 
control. These securities may be acquired by the Company in the secondary market or through 
purchases of securities from the issuer. Any such investment is subject to the risk that the 
company in which the investment is made may make business, financial or management decisions 
with which ThreeD does not agree or that the majority stakeholders or the management of the 
company may take risks or otherwise act in a manner that does not serve the Company’s interests. 
If any of the foregoing were to occur, the values of the Company’s investments could decrease 
and the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could suffer as a result.  

 
(g) Dependence on management: 
 

The Company is dependent upon the efforts, skill and business contacts of key members of 
management, for among other things, the information and deal flow they generate during the 
normal course of their activities and the synergies which exist amongst their various fields of 
expertise and knowledge.  Accordingly, the Company’s success will depend upon the continued 
service of these individuals who are not obligated to remain employed with ThreeD.  A loss of key 
personnel - members of management in particular - could impair our ability to execute our strategy 
and implement our operational objectives, all of which would have a material adverse effect on 
the company. 

 
(h) Exchange rate fluctuations: 
 

A significant portion of the Company’s portfolio is invested in U.S. dollar denominated investments, 
as well, from time to time, investments and digital assets are denominated in other foreign 
currencies.  Changes in the value of the foreign currencies in which the Company investments are 
denominated could have a negative impact on the ultimate return on the Company’s investments 
and digital assets and overall financial performance. 
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(i)    Novel corona virus (“COVID-19”) 
 

In March 2020, the global outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organization. COVID-19 continues to evolve and has had a significant impact on businesses 
through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial and municipal governments 
regarding travel, business operations and isolation/quarantine orders. To date, the Company’s 
operations have not been significantly affected by COVID-19 or the restrictions put in place to 
fight the virus. Throughout the year ended June 30, 2021, ThreeD’s employees have worked from 
home and the Company has kept in close contact with its investees to evaluate the impacts of 
COVID-19 on ThreeD’s investments. While measures, such as vaccines, are being used to combat 
COVID-19, it is still unknown the true extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may have on 
the Company as this will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot 
be predicted with confidence. These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the ultimate 
geographic spread of the disease, and the duration of the outbreak, including the duration of 
travel restrictions, the effect on investees and business closures or disruptions, and 
quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may be put in place by Canada and other 
countries. The Company continues to monitor its investment and digital assets portfolio and 
assess the impact COVID-19 will have on its business activities.  
 
 

Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Refer to Note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statement as at and for the year ended June 
30, 2021 for details of the Company’s basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Some significant accounting policies used in the presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
are as follows: 
 

(a) Financial investments: 
 

(i) Classification: 
 
All financial assets not classified at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. 
On initial recognition, the Company can irrevocably designate a financial asset at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated at FVTPL: 
 
• It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial asset to 

collect the contractual cash flows associated with the financial asset instead of 
selling the financial asset for a profit or loss; 

• Its contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest. 

 
All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the consolidated 
statements of financial position. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is 
based on their classification. Financial assets and liabilities classified at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized in the consolidated 
statements of net income and comprehensive income for the year. Financial assets 
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classified at amortized cost and financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
The following table summarizes the classification and measurement changes under 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) for each financial instrument: 
 

Classification IFRS 9 
Cash  FVTPL 
Investments, at fair value FVTPL 
Accounts receivables Amortized Cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized Cost 
Due from (to) brokers Amortized Cost 
Advances from officer Amortized Cost 
Lease liabilities Amortized Cost 

 
(ii) Recognition, de-recognition and measurement: 

 
     Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date. 
 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value where 
reliable basis for determination exists. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the 
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income. Investments are 
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
the Company has transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition 
in accordance with IFRS 9. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, all investments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss 
category are presented in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive 
income within net change in unrealized gains or losses on investments in the period in which 
they arise. 
 

(iii) Reclassification of investments: 
 

The Company would only reclassify a financial asset when the Company changes its 
business model for managing the financial asset. Reclassifications are recorded at fair value 
at the date of reclassification, which becomes the new carrying value. 

 
(iv) Determination of fair value: 

 
The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, 
where available and appropriate. At the end of each financial reporting period, the 
Company’s management estimates the fair value of investments based on the criteria below 
and reflects such valuations in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Company is also required to disclose details of its investments (and other financial 
assets and liabilities reported at fair value) within three hierarchy levels (Level 1, 2, or 3) 
based on the transparency of inputs used in measuring the fair value, and to provide 
additional disclosure in connection therewith. 

 



ThreeD Capital Inc. 
June 30, 2021 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 45 

1. Publicly-traded investments: 
 

a. Securities, including shares, options, and warrants that are traded in an active 
market (such as on a recognized securities exchange) and for which no sales 
restrictions apply are presented at fair value based on quoted closing trade prices 
at the consolidated statements of financial position date or the closing trade price 
on the last day the security traded if there were no trades at the consolidated 
statements of financial position date. These investments are included in Level 1. 

 
b. Securities that are traded on a recognized securities exchange, but which are 

escrowed or otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at amounts 
discounted from market value to a maximum of 25%, using Finnerty’s put option 
model. In determining the discount for such investments, the Company considers 
the nature and length of the restriction. These investments are included in Level 
2. 

 
c. For options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities exchange, 

no market value is readily available. When there are sufficient and reliable 
observable market inputs, an option pricing model is used; if no such market 
inputs are available, the warrants and options are valued using alternative 
methods representing fair value. These investments are included in Level 2. 

 
d. Convertible debentures and loans are initially recorded at the transaction price, 

being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at the end of each 
financial reporting period, the combined instrument is adjusted to fair value based 
on alternative methods. These investments are included in Level 2. 

 
2. Private company investments: 

 
All privately-held investments (other than options and warrants) are initially recorded at 
the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each 
reporting period, the fair value of an investment may, depending upon the circumstances, 
be adjusted using one or more of the valuation indicators described below. These 
investments are included in Level 3. 
 
The determinations of fair value of the Company’s privately-held investments at other   
than initial cost are subject to certain limitations. Financial information for private 
companies in which the Company has investments may not be available and, even if 
available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable. Use of the valuation 
approach described below may involve uncertainties and determinations based on the 
Company’s judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be realized 
or realizable. 
 

Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair value of 
a privately-held investment should be adjusted upward or downward at the end of each 
reporting period. In addition to company-specific information, the Company will take into 
account trends in general market conditions and the share performance of comparable 
publicly-traded companies when valuing privately-held investments. 
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The absence of the occurrence of any of these events, any significant change in trends 
in general market conditions, or any significant change in share performance of 
comparable publicly-traded companies indicates generally that the fair value of the 
investment has not materially changed. 
 
The fair value of a privately-held investment may be adjusted if: 
 

a. there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside 
investors at a valuation different than the current value of the investee company, 
in which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value at which that 
financing took place; 
 

b. there have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting the 
investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a material impact on the 
investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value. In these circumstances, 
the adjustment to the fair value of the investment will be based on management’s 
judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable; 

 
c. the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy; 

 
d. based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent 

to the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able to continue as a 
going concern; 

 
e. share price, enterprise value, or other valuations indicators of peer companies 

comparable to the Company’s investee significantly changes; 
 

f. receipt/denial by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal or 
similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed/prohibit with its 
project(s); 

 
g. filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101 technical report in 

respect of a previously non-compliant resource; 
 

h. release by the investee company of positive/negative exploration results; and 
 

i. important positive/negative management changes by the investee company that 
the Company’s management believes will have a very positive/negative impact on 
the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build value for 
shareholders. 

 
Adjustments to the fair value of a privately-held investment will be based upon 
management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable. The 
resulting values for non-publicly traded investments may differ from values that would 
be realized if a ready market existed. In addition, the amounts at which the Company’s 
privately-held investments could be disposed of currently may differ from the carrying 
value assigned. 
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(b) Digital assets at fair value less cost to sell (“FVLCTS”): 
 
Digital coins and digital tokens held by the Company are carried at fair value less cost to sell 
for the purposes of consolidated financial statements. The Company determines the fair 
value of such digital coins and digital tokens using the closing price on the valuation date 
price provided by the crypto exchange that the Company considers the principal market. 
 
To determine which exchange is the principal market for the purpose of calculating the fair 
value less cost to sell of a particular digital asset, the Company considers only those 
exchanges that are available to be used by the Company, have an online trading platform 
and published transaction price and volume data. The determination of principal market is 
specific to a particular digital asset. Based on these requirements, the Company prepares a 
list of eligible crypto exchanges and consider the following criteria to select the principal 
market: (i) whether it contains the crypto trading pairs that Company transacts with; (ii) the 
volume of digital coins and digital tokens traded on such exchange in the prior twelve month. 
 
The Company evaluates the principal markets annually and conducts a quarterly analysis to 
determine if any changes in principal market required. 

 
Digital Coins and tokens which are not actively traded and purchases under SAFTs are 
initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. 
Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value (depending upon the circumstances) 
maybe adjusted using one or more valuation indicators (refer to the accounting policy for 
the fair value of a privately-held investments). These are included in Level 3. 
 

(c) Revenue recognition: 
 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and when the right to receive the 
dividend has been established. Interest income and other income are recorded on an accrual 
basis when performance obligations, if any, have been achieved. 

 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the settlement date. Realized gains 
and losses on disposal of investments and unrealized gains and losses in the value of 
investments are reflected in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive 
income. Upon disposal of an investment, previously recognized unrealized gains or losses 
are reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of disposition. All 
transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of investments are expensed 
to the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income as incurred.  
 
Purchases and sales of digital assets are recognized on the day in which the Company and 
the counterparty consummates the transaction. The Company also accepts and receives 
digital currency as consideration for services and in private placement financings. The digital 
assets are recorded on the statement of financial position, as digital assets, at their fair value 
less cost to sell and re-measured at each reporting date. 
 
Realized gains and losses on disposal of digital assets and unrealized gains and losses in the 
value of digital assets are reflected in the consolidated statements of net income and 
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of a digital currency, previously recognized unrealized 
gains or losses are reversed so as to recognize the full realized gain or loss in the period of 
disposition. Digital assets which are traded on an exchange but which are escrowed or 
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otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at amounts discounted from market 
value to a maximum of 25%. In determining the discount for such digital currency, the 
Company considers the nature and length of the restriction. SAFTs are initially recorded at 
the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each 
reporting period, the fair value of a SAFT may (depending upon the circumstances) be 
adjusted using one or more valuation indicators. 
 
All transaction costs associated with the acquisition and disposition of digital currency are 
expensed to the consolidated statements of net income and comprehensive income as 
incurred. The Company records the revaluation of gains and losses in profit and loss because 
this is considered to be the most fair and accurate presentation of the Company’s operations 
to the users of the financial statements. 

 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting 
frameworks for the accounting for the purchase, sale or exchange of digital assets and 
management has exercised significant judgement in determining appropriate accounting 
treatment for the recognition of revenue transactions in digital assets. In the event 
authoritative guidance is enacted by the IASB, the Company may be required to change its 
policies which could result in a change in the Company’s financial position and earnings. 
initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. 
Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of an investment may (depending upon 
the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more valuation indicators. 
 

(d) Foreign currency: 
 
(i) Functional currency: 

 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is 
the Company’s functional currency. Each subsidiary of the Company determines its 
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency. The functional currency of Brownstone 
Ventures (Barbados) Inc. is U.S. dollars. The functional currency of 2121197 Ontario 
Ltd.  and Blockamoto.io Corp. is Canadian dollars. 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances: 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at 
the rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot 
rate of exchange in effect at the reporting date. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial 
transaction. 
 

(iii) Translation of foreign operations: 
 
The results and financial position of ThreeD’s subsidiaries that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows: 
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1. Assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position 

presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of 
financial position; 
 

2. Share capital is translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; 
 

3. Revenue and expenses for each consolidated statements of net income and 
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates; and 

 
4. All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of 

equity and as an exchange difference on translation of foreign operations in 
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of net income and 
comprehensive income. 

 
The Company treats specific inter-company loan balances that are not intended to 
be repaid in the foreseeable future as part of its net investment in a foreign 
operation, which is recorded as an exchange difference on translation of foreign 
operations in other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of net 
income and comprehensive income. 

 
When a foreign entity is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to income 
or loss in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income as 
part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and translated at the closing rate. 
 

(e) Non-monetary transactions: 
 
Transactions in which shares or other non-cash consideration are exchanged for assets or 
services are valued at the fair value of the assets or services involved. 
 

(f) Income taxes: 
 
(i) Current income tax: 

 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off the amounts, and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current income tax 
relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not 
through profit or loss. 
 
 
 
 



ThreeD Capital Inc. 
June 30, 2021 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 45 

(ii) Deferred tax: 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available 
against which the  
 
deductible temporary difference and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date. Deferred tax relating to items 
recognized directly in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated 
statement of net income and comprehensive income. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not offset unless a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated 
statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 
The Company does not record deferred tax assets to the extent that it considers 
deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses cannot be utilized. 
 

(g) Stock-based compensation plan: 
 
Employees (including officers), directors, and consultants of the Company receive 
remuneration in the form of stock options granted under the plan for rendering services to 
the Company. Any consideration received by the Company on the exercise of stock options 
is credited to share capital. The cost of options is recognized, together with a corresponding 
increase in contributed surplus, over the period in which the corresponding performance 
and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant optionee 
becomes fully entitled to the award (“vesting date”). 
 
The cumulative expense recognized for option grants at each reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the portion of the vesting period that passed and the Company’s best estimate 
of the number of options that will ultimately vest on the vesting date. The Company records 
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compensation expense and credits contributed surplus for all stock options granted, which 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of 
that period. 
 
Stock options granted during the period are accounted for in accordance with the fair value 
method of accounting for stock-based compensation. The fair value for these options is 
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company is 
also required to estimate the expected future forfeiture rate of options in its calculation of 
stock-based compensation expense. 
 
Where the terms of a stock option award are modified, the minimum expense recognized in 
compensation expense is the expense as if the terms had not been modified. An additional 
expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the option, 
or is otherwise beneficial to the optionee as measured at the date of modification. 
 
Where an option is cancelled, any expense not yet recognized for the vested options on the 
date of cancellation is recognized immediately. 

 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share. 
 

(h) Earnings (loss) per common share: 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is determined by dividing net profit (loss) 
attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is calculated in 
accordance with the treasury stock method and based on the weighted average number of 
common shares and dilutive common share equivalents outstanding. 
 

 
Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
Effective July 1, 2020, the Company adopted amendments to International Accounting Standards 
(“IAS”) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors which were issued in October 2018. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020 and are to be applied prospectively. The amendments 
update the definition of material.  
 
The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
The IASB and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) have issued 
the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations that are not yet effective for the relevant 
reporting periods and the Company has not early adopted these standards, amendments and 
interpretations. However, the Company is currently assessing what impact the application of these 
standards or amendments will have on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The 
Company intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when the standards become effective: 
 

(a) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Company will adopt 
amendments to International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’, 
the amendment prohibits a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and 
equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the 
assets for its intended use, instead, a company will recognize such sales proceeds and related 
cost in profit or loss. 
 

(b) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Company will adopt 
amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, the amendment 
specifies which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-
making. 
 

(c) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, the Company will adopt 
amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, the amendment clarifies that 
liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at 
the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or 
events after the reporting date. The amendment also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers 
to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. 
 

(d) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, the Company will adopt 
amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’, the amendment requires companies to recognize 
deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition give rise to equal amounts of taxable 
and deductible temporary differences. 

 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Critical accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements include the Company’s valuation of its privately-held investments, valuation of SAFTs, the 
valuation related to the Company’s deferred tax assets (“DTA”) and deferred tax liabilities (“DTL”), and 
the Company’s estimate of inputs for the calculation of the fair value of stock-based compensation 
expense, the Company’s own warrants and broker warrants, and unlisted warrants of investees held by 
ThreeD.   
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Valuation of privately-held investments: 
 
The valuation of these investments (“private investments”) requires management to assess the current 
financial status and prospects of private investments based upon potentially incomplete or unaudited 
financial information provided by the investee company, on management’s general knowledge of the 
private investment’s activities, and on any political or economic events that may impact upon the private 
investment specifically, and to attempt to quantify the impact of such events on the fair value of the 
investment. In addition to any events or circumstances that may affect the fair value of a particular 
private investment, management can consider general market conditions that may affect the fair value 
of either a particular private investment or of a group, segment or complete portfolio of private 
investments. 
 
Changes in the fair value of our private investments for company-specific reasons have tended to be 
infrequent. Changes as a result of general market conditions may be more frequent from period to 
period during times of significant volatility. Given the relatively size of our private investment portfolio, 
such changes can have a material impact on our financial condition or operating results.  For the year 
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had the following changes in its private investments 
categorized as level 3 in the financial instrument hierarchy:   
 

Balance as at June 30, 2019 $ 14,306,703       
Purchases 1,170,886         
Proceeds on disposals (1,504,285)        
Realized losses on disposals (283,347)           
Transfer to Level 1 (4,180,800)        
Transfer to Level 2 (885,962)           
Net unrealized losses (2,639,666)        
Balance as at June 30, 2020 $ 5,983,529         
Purchases 6,864,936      
Proceeds on disposals -                  
Realized losses on disposals (45,154)          
Transfer to Level 1 (3,370,797)     
Transfer to Level 2 (207,074)        
Net unrealized gains 7,728,997      
Balance as at June 30, 2021 $ 16,954,437     
 
Valuation of SAFTs: 
 
The valuation of SAFTs requires management to assess the current financial status and prospects of 
receiving tokens in the future based upon potentially incomplete or information provided by the investee 
company, on management’s general knowledge of the private company’s activities, and on any political 
or economic events that may impact upon the private company specifically, and to attempt to quantify 
the impact of such events on the fair value of the SAFT.   
 
All SAFTs were written down to $nil as at June 30, 2019.  There were no changes to the fair value 
measurements of digital assets classified as Level 3 for the year ended June 30, 2021 and year ended 
June 30, 2020.   
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Deferred tax assets: 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the statement of financial position method on temporary differences at 
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.  
 
DTL are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and DTA are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses. The Company does 
not record DTA to the extent that it considers it is not more likely than not that deductible temporary 
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.   
 
Management determined, based upon expectations for future taxable income that there is uncertainty 
if the Company will realize the tax benefits of the DTA during the next several years and therefore has 
determined not to record any DTA. 
 
Stock-based Compensation Expense/Warrants: 
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate stock-based compensation 
expense and the fair value of the warrants and broker warrants issued under the Company’s private 
placements. The model requires six key inputs: exercise price, market price at date of issue, risk free 
interest rate, expected dividend yield, expected life and expected volatility. The first two inputs are 
facts rather than estimates, while the risk-free interest rate, expected life, expected volatility and 
expected dividend yield (estimated at 0% based on the Company’s history of not paying any dividends) 
are based on the Company’s estimates. A shorter expected life of the option, lower volatility number or 
higher dividend yield used would result in a decrease in stock-based compensation expense. A longer 
expected life of the option or a higher volatility number used would result in an increase in stock-based 
compensation expense.  The Company is also required to estimate the future forfeiture rate of options 
based on historical information in its calculation of stock-based compensation expense.  These estimates 
involve considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are out of the 
Company’s control.   
 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company granted 4,230,000 stock options to directors, 
officers, employees, and consultants of the Company, exercisable at a prices between $0.30 and $1.25 
per share expiring between August 24, 2021 and March 26, 2026.  The fair value of the options granted 
during the year ended June 30, 2021 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
valuation model with the following assumptions: 
 

Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used  
      Expected volatility  178.7%-251.9%  
      Expected dividend yield 0% 
      Risk-free interest rate 0.23%-0.45% 
      Expected option life in years 1-3.3 years 
Expected forfeiture rate 5.5%-6.0% 
Fair value per stock option granted on August 24, 2020 $       0.30 
Fair value per stock option granted on September 15, 2020 $       0.22 
Fair value per stock option granted on November 19, 2020 $       0.34 
Fair value per stock option granted on January 15, 2021 $       0.65 
Fair value per stock option granted on March 26, 2021 $       0.85 
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During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company granted 512,500 stock options to directors of the 
Company, exercisable at an average price of $0.14 per share expiring between September 18, 2024 
and May 12, 2025. The fair value of the options granted during the year ended June 30, 2020 was 
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following 
assumptions: 

 
Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used (weighted 

average) 
 

      Expected volatility  112.66%-182.74%  
      Expected dividend yield 0% 
      Risk-free interest rate 0.29%-1.51% 
      Expected option life in years 3.5 years 
Expected forfeiture rate 6.9%-7.1% 
Fair value per stock option granted on September 18, 2019 $       0.14 
Fair value per stock option granted on May 12, 2020 $       0.09 

 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the option at ThreeD’s 
share price. The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and has no plans to pay cash 
dividends in the foreseeable future. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of Canadian 
Benchmark Bonds with equivalent terms. The expected option life in years represents the period of 
time that options granted are expected to be outstanding based on historical options granted. 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, included in operating, general and administrative expenses is stock-
based compensation of $1,384,563 (June 30, 2021 - $222,470) relating to the stock options granted to 
directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company.  

 
The Company did not issue any warrants during the year ended June 30, 2021. As at June 30, 2021, 
the warrants outstanding were as follows: 
 
Number of warrants 
outstanding Exercise price ($) Expiry date Warrant Value ($)

416,666                          1.80 March 1, 2022 173,195
1,066,661                          1.80 April 13, 2022 509,678
2,143,269                          0.40 May 31, 2022 220,791

625,000                          0.40 July 2, 2022 70,360
1,275,000                          0.40 August 20, 2022 106,033
1,101,662                          1.80 August 23, 2022 489,982

650,000                          0.40 September 13, 2022 52,311
904,164                          1.80 October 30, 2022 394,155

8,182,422                     2,016,505  
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During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company completed non-brokered private placements as 
follows: 

July 2, 2019  $     662,482  $         2,521 2,548,006 2,548,006  $     0.40 July 2, 2022
August 20, 2019 255,000 3,171 1,275,000 1,275,000 0.40 August 20, 2022
September 13, 2019 260,000 3,951 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.40 September 13, 2022
November 22, 2019 165,000 2,627 1,250,000 1,250,000 0.20 November 22, 2022
December 23, 
2019(i) 250,000 6,208 1,250,000 - - -

January 28, 2020 590,000 2,073 4,916,666 4,916,666 0.20 January 28, 2023
February 24, 2020 300,000 4,261 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.20 February 24, 2023
May 8, 2020 100,000 2,103 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.15 May 8, 2023
Total  $  2,582,482  $       26,915 16,039,672 14,789,672

Expiry date of 
warrantsDate Total gross 

proceeds
Issuance 

costs

Number 
common 
shares

Number of 
warrants

Exercise 
price 

warrants

 
 
(i) On December 23, 2019, the Company acquired 3,000,000 units of St-Georges (CSE: 

“SX”) at a price of $0.10 per unit.  In consideration, the Company issued an aggregate 
of 1,250,000 common shares of the Company at a deemed price of $0.20 per common 
share and made a cash payment in the amount of $50,000.    

 
The purchase warrants issued during the year ended June 30, 2020 were valued using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions:  
 

July 2, 2019 144.31 0 1.43 3 0.11
August 20, 2019 144.94 0 1.29 3 0.08
September 13, 2019 136.18 0 1.58 3 0.08
November 22, 2019 137.05 0 1.56 3 0.05
January 28, 2020 159.67 0 1.46 3 0.05
February 24, 2020 165.42 0 1.30 3 0.05
May 8, 2020 184.62 0 0.26 3 0.05

Fair value per 
warrant issued, 

net of share 
issuance costs

Black-Scholes option valuation model assumptions used:

Expected 
volatility (%)

Expected 
dividend yield 

(%)

Risk-free 
interest rate 

(%)

Expected 
option life 
in years

 
 
The expected volatility is based on the average historical volatility over the life of the warrants at the 
Company’s share price. The Company has not paid any cash dividends historically and has no plans 
to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of 
Canadian Benchmark Bonds with equivalent terms. The expected warrant life in years represents the 
period of time that the warrants are expected to be outstanding based on historical warrants issued. 
The total value (net of share issuance costs) assigned to the purchase warrants was $989,185. 
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Valuation of Unlisted Warrants and Convertible Debentures of Investees: 
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model and or other valuation techniques to 
calculate the fair value of unlisted warrants and convertible debentures of investees. The model requires 
six key inputs: risk free interest rate, exercise price, market price at date of issue, expected dividend 
yield, expected life and expected volatility. The first four inputs are facts rather than estimates, while 
the expected life, expected volatility and expected dividend yield (estimated at 0% based on the 
Company’s history of not paying any dividends) are based on the Company’s estimates. A shorter 
expected life of the warrant, lower volatility number or higher dividend yield used would result in a 
decrease in the fair value of the warrant. A longer expected life of the warrant or a higher volatility 
number used would result in an increase in the fair value of the warrant. These estimates involve 
considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are out of the Company’s 
control.  As at June 30, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of unlisted warrants and convertible debentures 
were $1,470,673 and $5,881,284, respectively. 
 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, 36,666 stock options were exercised for proceeds of $7,667, resulting in 
the Company issuing 36,666 common shares. 
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, 1,622,000 warrants with an expiration date of May 31, 2022, were 
exercised for total proceeds received of $648,800, resulting in the Company issuing 1,622,000 common 
shares. 
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the previously mentioned 82,000 common shares held in treasury were 
cancelled. 
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the Company announced its intention to effect a new normal course 
issuer bid (“2021 NCIB”) through the facilities of the CSE. Pursuant to the NCIB, the Company may, 
during the twelve-month period commencing July 21, 2021, and ending July 20, 2022, purchase on the 
CSE up to 2,316,827 common shares in total, representing approximately 5% of the common shares 
issued and outstanding as of July 15, 2021. The price which ThreeD will pay for any such shares will 
be the market price at the time of acquisition. The actual number of common shares which may be 
purchased and the timing of any such purchases will be determined by ThreeD. As at the date of this 
MD&A, a total of 1,236,400 common shares have been repurchased and cancelled by ThreeD under 
the 2021 NCIB at an average cost of $1.12 per share for total cost of $1,384,584. 
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the Company has entered into a consulting agreement with Florton Artias 
Consulting Inc. (the ‘Consultant’) pursuant to which the Consultant will provide investor awareness 
services to the Company. For these services, the Company will issue 300,000 stock options exercisable 
into common shares of the Company at an exercise price of $1.13 per share. The options vest 
immediately and expire in two years from grant date. The contractual services of the Consultant will 
continue for a two-year period.  
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2021, The Company entered an advisory agreement with an advisor pursuant 
to which the advisor will provide facilitating strategic introductions, showing investment opportunities 
of interest to the Company, perform due diligence of potential investments as needed and other 
advisory services. For these services, the Company issued a one-time payment of 100,000 options in 
advance. Each option is exercisable at a price of $1.30 per option, for a period of three years from the 
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date of issuance. The options will vest over 18 months with one-sixth of the options vesting every three 
months starting three months from the agreement taking effect. 
 
As at the date of this MD&A, the number of common shares of the Company outstanding and the 
number of common shares issuable pursuant to other outstanding securities of ThreeD are as follows: 
 

Common shares

Number of 
securities 

outstanding

Number of 
securities 

exercisable
Outstanding 46,758,818       46,758,818          
Issuable under the exercise of options 5,690,408         4,323,737            
Issuable under the exercise of warrants 6,560,422         6,560,422            

59,009,648       57,642,977           
 
Refer to Note 10 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021 
for details of the Company’s share capital as at June 30, 2021. 
 
 
Officers Certification of Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls Over 
Financial Reporting 
 
Management has established processes to provide them with sufficient knowledge to support 
representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence to ensure that (i) the audited 
consolidated annual financial statements do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit 
to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading 
in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the date of and for the periods presented by 
the annual audited consolidated financial statements; and (ii) the annual audited consolidated financial 
statements fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, financial performance and cash 
flows of the Company, as of the date of and for the periods presented.  
 
In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109 
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the Venture Issuer Basic 
Certificate filed by the Company does not include representations relating to the establishment and 
maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over financial 
reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109. In particular, the certifying officers filing such certificate 
are not making any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of: (i) controls and 
other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed 
by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities 
legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in 
securities legislation; and (ii) a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of audited consolidated annual financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with the Company’s generally accepted accounting principles (IFRS).  
 
The Company’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to provide 
them with sufficient knowledge to support the representations they are making in such certificate. 
Investors should be aware that inherent limitations on the ability of certifying officers of a venture 
issuer to design and implement on a cost effective basis DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may 
result in additional risks to the quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of interim and annual 
filings and other reports provided under securities legislation. 
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Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
 
This MD&A contains references to “net asset value per share” (“NAV”) which is a non-GAAP financial 
measure. NAV is calculated as the value of total assets less the value of total liabilities divided by the 
total number of common shares outstanding as at a specific date.  The term NAV does not have any 
standardized meaning according to GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures 
presented by other companies. There is no comparable GAAP financial measure presented in ThreeD’s 
consolidated financial statements and thus no applicable quantitative reconciliation for such non-GAAP 
financial measure. The Company believes that the measure provides information useful to its 
shareholders in understanding the Company’s performance, and may assist in the evaluation of the 
Company’s business relative to that of its peers. This data is furnished to provide additional information 
and does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP. Accordingly, it should not be 
considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with 
GAAP, and is not necessarily indicative of other metrics presented in accordance with GAAP.  Existing 
NAV of the Company is not necessarily predictive of the Company’s future performance or the NAV of 
the Company as at any future date. 
 
 
Additional Information 
 
Additional information relating to ThreeD may be found on the Company’s website at 
www.threedcapital.com and the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 

http://www.threedcapital.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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THREED CAPITAL INC. 
Suite 401 

130 Spadina Avenue 
Toronto, ON M5V 2L4 

 
 NOTICE OF ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual and special meeting of shareholders (the “Meeting”) of 
ThreeD Capital Inc. (the “Company”) will be held at 130 Spadina Avenue, Suite 401, Toronto, Ontario 
M5V 2L4, on Wednesday, June 30, 2021 at 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) and by Zoom videoconferencing 
using the following login information: Login ID: 913 1088 8214 Password: IDK2021, for the following 
purposes: 
 
1. to receive the audited financial statements of the Company for its fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and 

the report of the auditors thereon; 
 
2. to elect directors; 
 
3. to appoint MNP LLP, Chartered Accountants, as auditors of the Company, and to authorize the 

directors to fix their remuneration;  
 
4. to consider and, if thought fit, pass an ordinary resolution re-approving the Company’s stock option 

plan, as more fully described in the management information circular of the Company accompanying 
this this notice of meeting (the “Information Circular”);   

 
5. to transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting. 
 
Shareholders who are entitled to vote at the Meeting, but who do not expect to be present at the Meeting, 
are encouraged to complete, sign and return the enclosed form of proxy. The directors have fixed the hour 
of 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on June 28, 2021 or, if the Meeting is adjourned or postponed, on the day that 
is two business days preceding the adjournment or postponement, as the time before which the instrument 
of proxy to be used at the Meeting must be deposited with the Company, c/o TSX Trust Company, Suite 
301, 100 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 4H1. 
 
If you are a non-registered shareholder of the Company, either a proxy form or a voting instruction form 
has been included in your meeting materials. Please complete and return the form in accordance with the 
instructions provided on it. The section of the Information Circular entitled “Non-Registered Holders” 
provides additional information for non-registered shareholders. 
 
DATED this 17h day of May, 2021. 
 
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
"Sheldon Inwentash" 
Chief Executive Officer 
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THREED CAPITAL INC. 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES  

This management information circular (the “Information Circular”) is furnished in connection with the 
solicitation of proxies by or on behalf of the management of ThreeD Capital Inc. (the “Company”, “we” 
or “us”) for use at the annual and special meeting (the “Meeting”) of the shareholders of the Company 
to be held at the time and place and for the purposes set out in the accompanying Notice of Meeting.  
Although it is expected that the solicitation of proxies will be primarily by mail, proxies may also be solicited 
personally or by telephone by directors or officers of the Company.  Arrangements will also be made with 
clearing agencies, brokerage houses and other financial intermediaries to forward proxy solicitation material to 
the beneficial owners of common shares of the Company pursuant to the requirements of National Instrument 
54-101 - Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.  The cost of any such 
solicitation will be borne by the Company. 

Unless otherwise stated, the information contained in this Information Circular is given as at May 17, 2021. 

APPOINTMENT AND REVOCABILITY OF PROXY 

The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy are officers and/or directors of the Company.  A 
SHAREHOLDER DESIRING TO APPOINT SOME OTHER PERSON TO REPRESENT THE 
SHAREHOLDER AT THE MEETING MAY DO SO either by inserting such person’s name in the 
blank space provided in that form of proxy or by completing another proper form of proxy and, in either 
case, depositing the completed proxy at the office of the registrar and transfer agent of the Company, TSX 
Trust Company, Suite 301, 100 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario  M5H 4H1, not later than 11:00 
a.m. (Toronto time) on June 28, 2021 or, if the Meeting is adjourned or postponed, on the day that is two 
business days preceding the adjournment or postponement. 

In addition to revocation in any other manner permitted by law, a shareholder who has given a proxy may 
revoke it as to any matter upon which a vote has not already been cast pursuant to the authority conferred by 
the proxy as set forth below.  A shareholder may revoke a proxy by depositing an instrument in writing, 
executed by the shareholder or the shareholder’s attorney authorized in writing: 

1. at the offices of TSX Trust Company in the manner noted above, at any time, not less than 48 hours, 
excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, preceding the Meeting or any adjournment of the Meeting 
at which the proxy is to be used; 

2. at the registered office of the Company, 130 Spadina Avenue, Suite 401, Toronto, Ontario M5V 2L4, 
at any time up to and including the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting at which the 
proxy is to be used; or 

3. with the chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or any adjournment of the Meeting. 

The information provided in this section pertains only to registered shareholders of the Company.  If you are 
not a registered shareholder, refer to the section that follows entitled “Non-registered Holders”. 
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NON-REGISTERED HOLDERS 

Only registered shareholders or duly appointed proxyholders are permitted to vote at the Meeting.  Most of 
our shareholders are “non-registered” shareholders because the common shares they own are not registered 
in their names but are instead registered in the name of the brokerage firm, bank or trust company through 
which they purchased the shares.  A person is not a registered shareholder in respect of our common shares 
which are held either: (a) in the name of an intermediary that the non-registered shareholder deals with in 
respect of the common shares (an intermediary includes, among others, banks, trust companies, securities 
dealers or brokers and trustees or administrators of self-administered RRSP’s, RRIF’s, RESP’s and similar 
plans); or (b) in the name of a clearing agency (such as The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited), 
of which the intermediary is a participant. 
 
This Information Circular and associated materials for the Meeting (collectively, the “Meeting Materials”) 
are being sent to both registered and non-registered shareholders.  A non-registered shareholder will receive 
Meeting Materials from either the intermediary who holds their common shares or directly from us (or our 
agent).  If you are a non-registered shareholder and we or our agent have sent the Meeting Materials directly 
to you, your name and address and information about your holdings of our common shares have been 
obtained in accordance with applicable securities regulatory requirements from the intermediary holding 
the common shares on your behalf.  By choosing to send these materials to you directly, we (and not the 
intermediary holding on your behalf) have assumed responsibility for (i) delivering these materials to you, 
and (ii) executing your proper voting instructions.  Included in your Meeting Materials is a voting 
instruction form.  You must complete the form and return it containing your voting instructions as specified 
in the form in order for your common shares to be voted at the Meeting. 
 
If you are a non-registered shareholder and object to us receiving access to your personal name and address, 
we have provided these documents to your broker, custodian, fiduciary or other intermediary to forward to 
you. Please follow the voting instructions that you receive from your intermediary. Your intermediary is 
responsible for properly executing your voting instructions. 
 
The purpose of these procedures is to permit non-registered shareholders to direct the voting of the common 
shares which they beneficially own.  If you receive a voting instruction form with your Meeting Materials 
and you want to vote at the Meeting in person, you must insert your name in the blank space provided or 
the name of someone else who will attend the Meeting on your behalf, instead of filling in the voting 
instructions in the form, and return the form as specified in it.  When you arrive at the Meeting, you or the 
person that you have designated on your voting instruction form to attend on your behalf will then have to 
register with the scrutineers.   
 
The Company is using the “notice-and-access” provisions of National Instrument 54-101 (“NI 54-101”) in 
connection with the delivery of the Meeting Materials. 

VOTING OF PROXIES 

Common shares represented by properly executed proxies WILL BE VOTED OR WITHHELD FROM 
VOTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS OF THE SHAREHOLDER ON ANY 
BALLOT THAT MAY BE CALLED FOR AND IF THE SHAREHOLDER SPECIFIES A CHOICE 
WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON, THE SHARES WILL BE VOTED 
ACCORDINGLY. Where there is no choice specified, shares represented by properly executed proxies in 
favour of persons designated in the printed portion of the enclosed form of proxy WILL BE VOTED FOR 
EACH OF THE MATTERS TO BE VOTED ON BY SHAREHOLDERS AS DESCRIBED IN THIS 
INFORMATION CIRCULAR.  The enclosed form of proxy confers discretionary authority upon the 
persons named therein with respect to amendments or variations to matters identified in the notice of 
Meeting, or other matters which may properly come before the Meeting.  At the time of printing this 
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Information Circular, the management of the Company knows of no such amendments, variations or other 
matters to come before the Meeting.  However, if any other matters which at present are not known to 
management should properly come before the Meeting, the proxy will be voted on such matters in 
accordance with the best judgment of the named proxies. 

INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON 

No director or executive officer of the Company, no person who has been a director or executive officer of 
the Company since the commencement of the Company’s last completed financial year, and no associate 
or affiliate of any of the foregoing persons has any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial 
ownership of securities or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the Meeting, except to the extent 
that directors and executive officers of the Company are participants in and receive stock options granted 
under the Company’s stock option plan, which is subject to re-approval at the Meeting. 

VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, of which as at May 17, 2021, 
46,418,552 common shares are issued and outstanding. 

The holders of common shares of record at the close of business on the record date set by the directors of the 
Company to be May 17, 2021 are entitled to vote such common shares at the Meeting on the basis of one vote 
for each common share held. 

The outstanding shares are listed for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol 
“IDK” and on the OTCQB Venture Market under the symbol “IDKFF”. 

 

PARTICULARS OF MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON 

I.  Financial Statements 

The audited financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended June 30, 2020, together with the 
auditors’ report thereon, will be placed before shareholders at the Meeting.   

II.  Election of Directors 

Majority Voting Policy 

The board of directors has adopted a majority voting policy which requires that any nominee for election 
as a director in an uncontested election, who receives a greater number of votes “withheld” from his or her 
election than votes “for” such election, promptly tender his or her resignation to the board, to be effective 
upon the board’s acceptance. The board will promptly, and in any event within 90 days of the final voting 
results, accept the tendered resignation unless it determines that there are extraordinary circumstances 
relating to the composition of the board or the voting results that should delay the acceptance of the 
resignation or justify rejecting it. Subject to any corporate law restrictions, the board may leave a resulting 
vacancy unfilled until the next annual meeting of shareholders, fill the resulting vacancy through the 
appointment of a new director, or call a special meeting of shareholders to consider another nominee for 
election to fill the vacancy. 
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Nominees For Election 

At the Meeting, management of the Company proposes to nominate the persons listed below for election 
as directors (the “Nominees”).  Each director will hold office until the election of his successor at the next 
annual meeting of shareholders, or any adjournment thereof, or until his office is earlier vacated in 
accordance with the provisions of the Canada Business Corporations Act. The following table provides the 
names of the Nominees and information concerning them.  The persons named in the enclosed form of 
proxy intend to vote FOR the election of each of the Nominees. Management does not contemplate 
that any of the Nominees will be unable to serve as a director, however, if any Nominee is so 
unavailable, proxies in favour of management will be voted for another nominee in management’s 
discretion unless the shareholder has specified in the shareholder’s proxy that the shareholder’s 
shares are to be withheld from voting in the election of the Nominee. 

Name, Province/State, and 
Country of Residency 

Director 
Since Principal Occupation  

Number of Common 
Shares Beneficially 

Owned, Controlled or 
Directed, directly or 

indirectly(1) 
Steven Gray (2)(3) 
Ontario, Canada 

2020 Professional Geoscientist operating a Mining and 
Geological Services Company; Vice President of 
Northern Sphere Mining Corp, a publicly traded 
company from 2016 to 2018, Director and 
ownership partner of IPR Mining Corporation, a 
private mining and exploration company. 

25,000 

Jakson Inwentash 
Ontario, Canada 

2019 VP Investments, ThreeD Capital Inc., a Toronto-
based venture capital company. 

2,683,332 

Sheldon Inwentash, CPA, 
C.A., LL.D. 
Ontario, Canada 

1988 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, ThreeD 
Capital Inc., a Toronto-based venture capital 
company.  

6,541,766 

Wayne V. Isaacs(2)(3) 
Ontario, Canada 

2020 Director & Chief Executive Officer, Green Stripes 
Naturals Ltd., a Canadian based private company 
engaged in developing medical cannabis assets in 
Jamaica 

Nil 

Alan Myers, F.C.A.(2) (3) 
Ontario, Canada 

2018 President of Mancunian Computer Accounting 
Inc. 

Nil 

Gerry Feldman, CPA, CA 
Ontario, Canada 

2021 Managing Partner of DNTW Toronto LLP 
Chartered Professional Accountants 

Nil 

(1) The information as to common shares beneficially owned or over which the nominees exercise control or direction has been 
provided by the respective directors individually, as at May 17, 2021. 

(2) Member of the audit committee.  
(3) Member of the compensation committee. 

 
Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

No proposed director of the Company is, or within the 10 years prior to the date of this Information Circular, 
either:   

(i) has been a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that while that 
person was acting in that capacity: 
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(a) was the subject to a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant 
company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days (any of such orders, an “Order”); 

(b)  was subject to an Order that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be a director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that 
occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or 
chief financial officer; or 

(c) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

(ii) has individually, within the 10 years prior to this Information Circular, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold his assets. 

 
III. Appointment of Auditors 

Unless such authority is withheld, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote FOR the 
appointment of MNP LLP, Chartered Accountants, Toronto, Ontario, as auditors of the Company to hold 
office until the next annual meeting of shareholders, and to authorize the directors of the Company to fix 
the auditors’ remuneration.  MNP LLP were appointed auditors of the Company as of June 18, 2018, prior 
to which Ernst & Young LLP served as the Company’s auditors since November 26, 2009. 

IV.  Re-approval of Stock Option Plan 

The Company established a stock option plan in 2006 (the “Stock Option Plan”), which was approved by 
the shareholders at its annual and special meeting held that year and each year since, subject to certain 
amendments approved in 2016 and 2018.  The following summary of certain terms of the Stock Option 
Plan is qualified, in its entirety, by the full text of the Stock Option Plan is attached hereto as Schedule “A”.  

The Stock Option Plan is a “rolling” plan pursuant to which up to 20% of the number of the Company’s 
common shares outstanding from time to time may be issued upon exercise of options granted thereunder.  
As at May 17, 2021, an aggregate of 5,352,074 common shares were issuable pursuant to outstanding 
options, representing 11.5% of the total number of common shares outstanding as at that date.  Accordingly, 
based upon the 46,418,552 common shares outstanding as at May 17, 2021, additional options exercisable 
for up to 3,931,636 common shares may be granted under the Stock Option Plan. 

The Company’s directors, officers, employees and certain other service providers are eligible to participate 
in the Stock Option Plan, subject to the rules and regulations of applicable regulatory authorities and any 
Canadian stock exchange upon which the common shares may be listed or may trade from time to time. 
The number of common shares reserved for issue to any one person pursuant to the Stock Option Plan may 
not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares at the date of grant. The exercise price of 
options granted may not be less than the market price of the common shares (determined based upon the 
closing price of the common shares on the trading day prior to the date of grant, subject to certain 
exceptions) less any allowable discounts at the time the option is granted.  Options granted under the Stock 
Option Plan may not have a term exceeding five years. 
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Under the policies of the CSE, the Stock Option Plan as a “rolling” stock option plan must be re-approved 
by the Company’s shareholders annually.  Accordingly, at the Meeting, shareholders will be asked to 
consider, and if thought fit, approve a resolution (the “Plan Resolution”) substantially in the form of the 
resolution set forth below re-approving the Stock Option Plan: 

“IT IS RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The Stock Option Plan of ThreeD Capital Inc. (the “Company”) initially approved by 
shareholders of the Company on December 13, 2006 as amended, in the form attached as 
Schedule “A” to the management information circular of the Company dated May 17, 2021 
(the “Stock Option Plan”), and the reservation for issuance thereunder of up to 20% of 
the aggregate number of common shares of the Company as are issued and outstanding 
from time to time, is hereby approved, ratified and confirmed. 

2. The Stock Option Plan be authorized and approved as the stock option plan of the 
Company, subject to any limitations imposed by applicable regulations, laws, rules and 
policies. 

3. Any officer or director of the Company is hereby authorized and directed, for and on behalf 
of the Company, to do all things and execute and deliver all such agreements, documents 
and instruments necessary or desirable in connection with the foregoing resolution.” 

The Plan Resolution must be approved by a majority of the votes cast by the holders of common shares 
present in person or represented by proxy at the Meeting.  If the Plan Resolution is approved, the Stock 
Option Plan will remain in force and all options granted under the Stock Option Plan to date will remain 
outstanding, in each case without any amendment to their terms.   

Unless otherwise instructed, the persons named in the form of proxy enclosed with this Information 
Circular intend to vote FOR the Plan Resolution. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Company’s executive compensation structure is designed to encourage and motivate executives to 
achieve high levels of performance, both individually and for the Company, particularly over the medium-
to-long term. An executive’s overall compensation package in any given year will reflect the functions 
being performed, and the executive’s overall contribution to the organization, capacity to improve the 
Company’s performance, and ability to create (or help to create) value for the benefit of the Company’s 
shareholders.  

An executive’s compensation may be comprised of three principal components: base salary, annual or 
periodic cash bonuses and stock options. Base salary and cash bonus components motivate executives in 
the short-to-medium term, while stock option grants align their interests with those of the Company’s 
shareholders and assist in keeping the Company competitive in the market for high quality executives. 

Each component of an executive’s compensation is typically determined with an overall view to the 
individual’s total compensation package. 

Except as otherwise described below, there are no specific performance goals used in determining the 
compensation of executive officers.  As a junior investment company, without a reoccurring revenue or 
profit base, executive compensation is not tied to quantitative measures of the Company’s performance. 
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Compensation may, however, be tied to certain qualitative measures of performance.  For example, an 
executive’s contribution toward the achievement of certain strategic objectives (e.g., meeting operational 
targets or completing acquisitions or financings) may be considered for the purposes of determining an 
entitlement to (and quantum of) a cash bonus and/or option grant.  The same may also be a factor in 
determining salary increases. 

Disclosed elsewhere in this section of the Information Circular are details concerning the compensation 
paid to the Company’s “Named Executive Officers”.  The Named Executive Officers are the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and its three highest paid executive officers, other than 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, whose total compensation for the fiscal 2020 year 
was greater than $150,000, as calculated in accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 51-
102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations (“NI 51-102”).  The Named Executive Officers for 2020 are:  
Sheldon Inwentash, Chief Executive Officer; and Gerry Feldman, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate 
Secretary.  

Salary 

Amounts paid to an executive officer as base salary, including merit salary increases, are determined by 
reference to the individual’s performance and the nature of the Company’s business and its performance.  
Reference may also be made to salaries prevailing in the marketplace for comparable positions, though the 
Company has not formally identified a peer group of companies for comparative purposes.  Certain of the 
Named Executive Officers provide their services in similar capacities to other reporting issuers in addition 
to the Company and, accordingly, base salaries for these individuals are generally lower than what they 
would be for comparable full-time positions with other junior investment companies. 

Bonus 

The Company’s cash bonus awards are designed to reward an executive for the direct contribution which 
the executive can make to the Company. 

With the exception of the Chief Executive Officer, whose annual bonus entitlement is determined by a 
formula (discussed below), the Named Executive Officers receive discretionary cash bonuses from time to 
time as determined by the Chief Executive Officer and approved by the compensation committee. 

In addition to discretionary bonuses, effective January 1, 2017, pursuant to his employment agreement with 
the Company, Sheldon Inwentash is entitled to receive an annual cash bonus equal to 2% of any funds 
raised under any financing arrangement of the Company excluding funds raised on the exercise of stock 
options and warrants and funds raised under private placements for insiders and family members of insiders. 
Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted a new cash-based performance bonus calculation for the 
CEO which is calculated as 5% of the increase from the December 31, 2020 retained earnings, adjusted for 
the aggregate amount of the Company’s tax expense (if any) and adjusted for any decrease to shareholders’ 
equity of the Company arising from any declaration of dividends. 

In fiscal year 2020, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer were not paid any discretionary 
cash bonuses. 

Compensation Risk 

As discussed above, our compensation practices are relatively informal and involve a mix of salary, stock 
options and annual cash bonuses determined in view of an individual’s and the Company’s overall 
performance, without specific performance goals (subject to the noted exceptions).  The mix of components 
represents a balanced approach, combining fixed and variable pay and short-to-long term incentives.  
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Salary, bonuses and option grants for the Company’s executive officers are also reviewed and/or approved 
by the compensation committee, which acts as a control on the quantum of these compensation components 
in view of their discretionary nature. 
 
The compensation committee considered the Company’s compensation practices to determine whether they 
are likely to encourage executive officers to expose the Company to inappropriate or excessive risks. The 
committee concluded that there are no risks identified from the Company’s compensation policies and 
practices that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

Restrictions on Hedging Securities 

The Company’s directors and officers, including the Named Executive Officers, are not prohibited from 
purchasing financial instruments that could be used to hedge a decrease in the market value of equity 
securities granted to them as compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by them. 

Option-Based Awards 

Options are granted pursuant to the Stock Option Plan.  The Stock Option Plan is administered by the board 
of directors, which has the authority to amend the plan and the terms of outstanding options, subject to 
applicable regulatory and shareholder approvals.  

Generally, the Chief Executive Officer proposes option grants for executive officers which are then 
submitted to the board for its consideration and approval.  When considering an award of options to an 
executive officer, consideration of the number of options previously granted to the executive may be taken 
into account. 

During fiscal year 2020, Sheldon Inwentash was granted 250,000 options exercisable at $0.10 per share 
expiring on May 12, 2025. 

Compensation Governance 

The compensation committee assists the board of the directors in respect of compensation for the 
Company’s directors and officers.  As described earlier, the Company’s compensation practices are 
relatively informal and, except as otherwise indicated, the board of directors has not specifically adopted 
any formal policies or practices to determine director and officer compensation. 

Information regarding the compensation committee is provided elsewhere in this Information Circular in 
the section entitled “Corporate Governance”.  During the 2020 fiscal year, the members of the compensation 
committee who are also on the audit committee were Wayne V. Isaacs, Steven Gray and Alan Myers who 
are all independent from the Company. 

Mr. Issacs, Mr. Gray, and Mr. Myers have previously served and/or currently serves on the audit committees 
and compensation committees of other public companies.  Accordingly, they bring to the committee an 
understanding of financial and risk management matters relating to the Company specifically, as well as 
those matters in the context of other issuers, which enables the committee, as a whole, to make decisions 
concerning our compensation policies and practices.  The responsibilities of the compensation committee 
are described in the section of this Information Circular entitled “Corporate Governance – Compensation” 
and their involvement in the determination of the Named Executive Officers’ compensation is described 
earlier in this section. 
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The following table provides a summary of all compensation for services rendered in all capacities to the 
Company for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2019, and 2020 in respect of the individuals who served, 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, as (i) the Named Executive Officers; and (ii) the directors of 
the Company, in each case other than compensation referred to below under the heading “Stock Options 
and Other Compensation Securities”. The Company had no executive officers whose total compensation 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 exceeded $150,000, other than the Named Executive Officers. 

Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities 

Name and 
Position 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 
June 30, 

Salary, 
Consulting Fee, 

Retainer or 
Commission 

Bonus Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 

Value of 
Perquisites 

Value of All 
Other 

Compensation 

Total 
Compensation 

        
Sheldon 
Inwentash, 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer and 
Director(2) 

2018 294,000 450,000 -- -- -- 744,000 

2019 412,000 600,000 -- -- -- 1,012,000 

2020 500,000 -- -- -- -- 500,000 

Gerry 
Feldman, 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer and 
Corporate 
Secretary(3)(4) 

2018 165,000 100,000 -- -- -- 265,000 

2019 165,000 -- -- -- -- 165,000 

2020 165,000 -- -- -- -- 165,000 

Jakson 
Inwentash, 
VP 
Investments 
and 
Director(1) 

2018 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2019 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2020 72,000 -- -- -- -- 72,000 
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Name and 
Position 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 
June 30, 

Salary, 
Consulting Fee, 

Retainer or 
Commission 

Bonus Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 

Value of 
Perquisites 

Value of All 
Other 

Compensation 

Total 
Compensation 

Amo Brand, 
Director(5)(6) 

2018 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2019 -- -- 25,000 -- -- 25,000 

2020 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Alan Myers, 
Director(1) 

2018 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2019 -- -- 25,000 -- -- 25,000 

2020 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Allen Lone, 
Director(5)(6) 

2018 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2019 -- -- 25,000 -- -- 25,000 

2020 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Steven 
Gray(1) 
Director 

2018 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2019 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2020 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Wayne V. 
Isaacs(1) 
Director 

2018 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2019 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

2020 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Note(s): 
(1) Mr. Brand and Myers were each appointed effective February 20, 2018. Mr. Jakson Inwentash was appointed to the board 

of directors effective September 9, 2019. Mr. Gray and Isaacs were each appointed effective April 7, 2020. 
(2) Pursuant to a employment agreement between the Company and Mr. Inwentash, Mr. Inwentash is entitled to 

receive an annual fee (payable monthly) of $500,000, an increase from $324,000 effective January 1, 2019, 
and an increase from $264,000 effective on January 1, 2018, an annual cash bonus equal to 2% of any funds 
raised under any financing arrangement of the Company excluding funds raised on the exercise of stock 
options and warrants and funds raised under private placements for insiders and family members of insiders, 
and option grants as determined from time to time by the board of directors.  Mr. Inwentash is also a director 
of the Company. He did not receive any compensation from the Company for services rendered in his 
capacity as a director during the three most recently completed financial years. 

(3)  Pursuant to a consulting agreement between the Company and Feldman & Associates Professional 
Corporation, a corporation controlled by Mr. Feldman, the corporation is entitled to receive a monthly fee of 
$13,750 for services rendered.  Effective February 17, 2021, Mr. Feldman resigned from his position as Chief 
Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary and was succeeded by Mr. Lynn Chapman. Pursuant to a 
consulting agreement between the Company and Lancaster Capital Advisory Corp, a corporation of which 
Mr. Chapman is a significant shareholder, the corporation is entitled to receive a monthly fee of $16,500 for 
services rendered. 

(4) Effective March 11, 2021, Mr. Feldman was appointed to the board of directors. 
(5) During 2020, Mr. Lone and Mr. Brand resigned from the board and are no longer directors of the Company. 
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Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities 

Set forth in the table below is a summary of all compensation securities granted or issued to each Named 
Executive Officer and director of the Company during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  

Compensation Securities 
Name and 
Position 

Type of 
Compensation 

Security 

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, 
Number of 
Underlying 
Securities, 

and 
Percentage of 

Class 

Date of 
Issue or 
Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 

Price 

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 

Security 
on Date of 

Grant 

Closing 
Price of 

Security or 
Underlying 
Security at 
Year End 

Expiry Date 

Sheldon 
Inwentash, 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer and 
Director 

Stock options 250,000 May 12, 
2020 

$0.10 $0.10 $0.115 May 12, 
2025 

Jakson 
Inwentash, 
VP 
Investments 
and 
Director 

Stock options 62,500 
 
 

50,000 
 

September 
18, 2019 

 
May 12, 

2020 

$0.40 
 
 

$0.10 
 

$0.22 
 
 

$0.10 
 

$0.115 
 
 

$0.115 

September 
18, 2024 

 
May 12, 

2025 
 

Steven 
Gray, 
Director 

Stock options 50,000 
 
 
 

May 12, 
2020 

 
 

$0.10 
 
 
 

$0.10 
 
 
 

$0.115 May 12, 
2025 

 
 

Wayne 
Isaacs, 
Director 

Stock options 50,000 
 
 
 

May 12, 
2020 

 
 

$0.10 
 
 

 

$0.10 
 
 
 

$0.115 May 12, 
2025 

 
 

Alan 
Myers, 
Director 

Stock options 50,000 
 
 
 

May 12, 
2020 

 
 

$0.10 
 
 
 

$0.10 
 
 
 

$0.115 May 12, 
2025 

 
 

Note(s): 

(1) The following table provides details of stock options held by the Named Executive Officers and Directors of the Company as 
at June 30, 2020. 
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Name 

Option-based Awards -
Number of Securities 

Underlying Unexercised 
Options  

(#) 

Option Exercise 
Price 

($) 
Option Expiration 

Date 

Value of 
Unexercised In-

the-money 
Options(1) 

($) 
Sheldon Inwentash, 
Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 

125,000 
125,000 
500,000 
166,666 
138,888 
166,666 
250,000 

1.80 
2.52 
1.92 
1.20 
1.20 
1.20 
0.10 

January 16, 2022 
November 30, 2022 
March 1, 2023 
September 14, 2023 
December 14, 2023 
April 11, 2024 
May 12, 2025 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

3,750 
Gerry Feldman, Chief 
Financial Officer and 
Corporate Secretary 

26,916 
208,333 

12,500 
125,000 

1.80 
1.92 
1.20 
1.20 

January 16, 2022 
March 1, 2023 
September 14, 2023 
December 14, 2023 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Jakson Inwentash, VP 
Investments and 
Director 

20,833 1.20 April 11, 2024 Nil 
62,500 0.40 September 18, 2024 Nil 
50,000 0.10 May 12, 2025 750 

Alan Myers, Director 20,833 
8,333 

58,333 
50,000 

1.92 
1.20 
1.20 
0.10 

March 1, 2023 
September 14, 2023 
December 14, 2023 
May 12, 2025 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
750 

Steven Gray, Director 50,000 
 

0.10 
 

May 12, 2025 
 

750 
 

Wayne Isaacs, 
Director 

50,000 
 

0.10 
 

May 12, 2025 
 

750 
 

(1) The value of an in-the-money option is equal to the difference between the closing price of the common shares of the 
Company on the CSE on June 30, 2020 ($0.115) and the exercise price of the option.  A nil value indicates that none of 
the associated options were in-the-money as at the end of the Company’s financial year. 
 

 
Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and Named Executive Officers 

During fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 no options were exercised by directors and Named Executive 
Officers.  

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

Certain of the Named Executive Officers are parties to employment or consulting agreements with the 
Company, which provide for certain payments and other benefits in the event of the termination of services.  
These entitlements are described below.   
 
Sheldon Inwentash 

The Company is party to an employment agreement with Mr. Inwentash pursuant to which Mr. Inwentash 
provides his services to the Company.  If the Company terminates its employment agreement with Mr. 
Inwentash for any reason (other than death, disability or certain other enumerated reasons), in the absence 
of three years’ notice, it must continue to pay three years’ fees and health and other benefits, and any bonus 
owed in the year of termination and for the following three years.  Based upon the foregoing terms, if Mr. 
Inwentash’s services had been terminated by the Company on June 30, 2020, absent notice, he would have 
been entitled to receive $1,500,000 in aggregate fees payable monthly over the subsequent thirty-six month 
period. 
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Gerry Feldman 

The Company was party to a consulting agreement with Mr. Feldman prior to his resignation as Chief 
Financial Officer in February 2021 pursuant to which Mr. Feldman provided his services to the Company. 
If the Company terminated its consulting agreement with Mr. Feldman for any reason (other than death, 
disability or for certain other enumerated reasons), in the absence of three year’s notice, it must pay three 
years’ fees upon termination.  Based upon the foregoing terms, if Mr. Feldman’s services had been 
terminated by the Company on June 30, 2020, absent notice, he would have been entitled to receive 
$495,000 in aggregate fees payable upon termination. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Company does not have any pension plans that provide for payments of benefits at, following or in 
connection with retirement or provide for retirement or deferred compensation plans for the Named 
Executive Officers or directors.  

Discussion of Director Compensation 

Directors of the Company who are also officers do not receive any compensation from the Company for 
services rendered in their capacities as directors.  Compensation for non-executive directors is provided in 
the form of options granted under the Stock Option Plan and discretionary cash fees as determined from 
time to time. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, no cash amount was paid to the non-executive directors. An 
aggregate of 150,000 options were granted to non-executive directors as disclosed in the Stock Options and 
Other Compensation Securities section. 

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS 

Set forth below is a summary of securities issued and issuable under the Company’s Stock Option Plan, 
which is its sole equity compensation plan, as at June 30, 2020. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Plan Category 

Number of securities to be 
issued upon exercise of 

outstanding options  
(a) 

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options 
(b) 

Number of securities remaining 
available for future issuance 
under equity compensation 
plans (excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 
(c) 

Equity compensation plans 
approved by 
securityholders 

2,837,179(1) 
 

$1.44 3,540,598 (2) 

Equity compensation plans 
not approved by 
securityholders 

N/A N/A N/A 

TOTAL 2,837,179(1) 
 

$1.44 3,540,598 (2) 

(1)  All stock options issuable under the Stock Option Plan are exercisable to acquire common shares of the Company. 
(2) The Stock Option Plan permits the issuance of that number of common shares equal to twenty percent (20%) of the number of 
common shares outstanding from time to time.  The number of common shares remaining available for future issuances under the 
Stock Option Plan is calculated based upon 31,888,887 common shares outstanding as at June 30, 2020. 
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INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

None of the directors or senior officers of the Company, no proposed nominee for election as a director of 
the Company, and no associate or affiliate of any of any director, senior officer or proposed nominee, is or 
has been indebted to the Company or its subsidiaries at any time since the beginning of the Company's last 
completed financial year.  
 

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

No informed person, proposed director of the Company or associate or affiliate of any informed person or 
proposed director has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since the commencement 
of the Company’s most recently completed financial year or in any proposed transaction which has 
materially affected or would materially affect the Company or any of its subsidiaries.  

For the purposes of this section of the Information Circular, an “informed person” means: 

(i) a director or executive officer of the Company; 

(ii) a director or executive officer of a person or company that is itself an informed person 
or subsidiary of the Company; 

(iii) any person or company who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, voting securities 
of the Company or who exercises control or direction over voting securities of the 
Company or a combination of both carrying more than 10 percent of the voting rights 
attached to all outstanding voting securities of the Company other than voting 
securities held by the person or company as underwriter in the course of a distribution; 
and 

(iv) the Company, if it has purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired any of its securities, 
for so long as it holds any of its securities. 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

General 

The board believes that good corporate governance improves corporate performance and benefits all 
shareholders.  National Policy 58-201 - Corporate Governance Guidelines provides non-prescriptive 
guidelines on corporate governance practices for reporting issuers such as the Company.  In addition, 
National Instrument 58-101 - Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”) prescribes 
certain disclosure by the Company of its corporate governance practices.  This disclosure is presented 
below. 

Board of Directors 

The board facilitates its exercise of independent supervision over the Company's management through 
frequent meetings of the board, both with and without members of the Company’s management (including 
members of management that are also directors) being in attendance. 

National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees of certain of the Canadian securities regulatory authorities 
(“NI 52-110”) sets out the standard for determining whether a director is “independent” for the purposes of 
the corporate governance guidelines and disclosure requirements of the Canadian securities regulatory 
authorities.  In accordance with NI 52-110, a director is “independent” if he or she has no direct or indirect 
material relationship with the Company.  A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the 
view of the board, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of the director’s independent 
judgment.  NI 52-110 also sets out certain circumstances where a director will automatically be considered 
to have a material relationship with the Company. 
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Based upon the standard articulated in NI 52-110, three of the Company’s six directors are independent. As 
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Sheldon Inwentash is not independent.  As an employee of the 
Company, Jakson Inwentash in not independent. 

Directorships  

Certain of directors are also directors of other reporting issuers, as follows:  

Director Other Reporting Issuers 

Sheldon Inwentash Imagination Park Technologies Inc., Auxico Resources Canada Inc., Nevada 
Silver Corporation 

Wayne V. Isaacs Silo Wellness Inc., AM Resources Corp., Goliath Resources Limited,  

Gerry Feldman GoldSpot Discoveries Corp. 

 
Orientation and Continuing Education 
 
Each new director brings a different skill set and professional background, and with this information, the 
board is able to determine what orientation to the nature and operations of the Company’s business will be 
necessary and relevant to the director.  The Company provides continuing education for its directors as such 
need arises and encourages open discussion at all meetings which format encourages learning by the 
directors. 
 
Ethical Business Conduct 
 
The board expects management to operate the business of the Company in a manner that enhances 
shareholder value and is consistent with the highest level of integrity.  Management is expected to execute 
the Company’s business plan and to meet performance objectives and goals. 
 
In addition, the board must comply with conflict of interest provisions in Canadian corporate law, including 
relevant securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure directors exercise independent judgment in 
considering transactions and agreements in respect of which director or executive officer has a material 
interest. 
 
Nomination of Directors 
 
The board determines new nominees to the board, although a formal process has not been adopted.  The 
nominees are generally the result of recruitment efforts by the board members, including both formal and 
informal discussions among board members and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  The board 
monitors but does not formally assess the performance of individual board members or committee members 
on their contributions. 
 
Compensation  
 
Director and chief executive officer compensation is determined by the compensation committee, in 
consideration of the compensation paid by other similarly-situation public companies operating within the 
same industry as the Company and of the duties, responsibilities and demands placed upon the members of 
the board and the chief executive officer, respectively.  The compensation committee is also responsible 
for determining and approving the compensation of the Company’s other officers and recommending to the 
board for approval the remuneration of the directors and committee members. 
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Assessments 
 
The board has not implemented a formal process or means to regularly assess the effectiveness of the board, 
its committees or individual directors.  Effectiveness is informally assessed on an ongoing basis, however, 
based upon the ability of the directors to fulfill their duties and responsibilities in a timely and efficient 
manner.  The relatively small size of the board allows for the contributions of an individual director to be 
informally monitored by the other board members, in light of the individual’s business and governance 
strengths and the specific purpose, if any, for which the individual was originally nominated to the board.  
In accordance with its charter, the audit committee is required to annually assess its charter and submit any 
proposed changes to the board for approval. 
 
Board Diversity 

In 2019, amendments to the Canada Business Corporations Act (the “CBCA”) were adopted requiring new 
disclosure of the number of (i) women; (ii) Aboriginal peoples; (iii) people with disabilities; and (iv) 
members of visible minorities (collectively, the “designated groups”) on the board and in senior 
management positions with the Company.  Presently, none of the Company’s directors or members of senior 
management (0%) belong to any of the designated groups.  

The Company recognizes the benefits of having a diverse board and management.  Due to the relatively 
small size of the board and stage of development of the Company, it has not adopted a formal diversity 
policy in respect of the designated groups, and instead has sought to increase diversity through the 
recruitment efforts of its officers and directors.  The Company remains receptive to increasing the diversity 
of its board and management taking into account the skills, background, experience and knowledge desired 
at any particular time by the board and its committees. 
 
The Company has not adopted term limits for directors and does not support the adoption of quotas or 
targets regarding representation by the designated groups on the board or in senior management positions.  
All such appointments and renewals are made based on merit, in the context of the skills, experience, 
independence, knowledge and other qualities which the Company as a whole requires to be effective, with 
due regard for the benefits of diversity (including the level of representation by members of the designated 
groups).  The Company considers the representation of the designated groups in identifying and nominating 
new directors and members of senior management.  In order to gather the information required to assess 
levels of diversity for the Company to comply with the new diversity disclosure requirements under the 
CBCA, exiting and proposed directors and members of senior management of the Company will be asked 
whether they self-identify as belonging to one or more of the designated groups, on a voluntary basis.  All 
responses will be considered in the context of the broader skills matrix sought by the Company for its 
respective positions from time to time. 
 
The Company feels its corporate governance practices are appropriate and effective, given its relatively 
small size and the nature of its operations.  These practices allow the Company to operate efficiently, with 
simple checks and balances that control and monitor management and corporate functions without excess 
administrative burden or delay. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE DISCLOSURE 

Multilateral Instrument 52-110 - Audit Committees (“MI 52-110”) requires us to disclose annually in our 
management information circular certain information concerning the constitution of our audit committee 
and its relationship with our independent auditor, as set forth below. 

Audit Committee Charter 

A copy of the audit committee’s charter is attached as Schedule “B” to this Information Circular. 

Composition of Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is comprised of three board members – Wayne V. Isaacs, Steven Gray and Alan 
Myers.  Each of the committee members is considered to be “financially literate” for the purposes of MI 
52-110.  Financial literacy includes the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that 
present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues similar to those expected to arise in the 
context of the Company.  All three audit committee members are each considered to be “independent” for 
the purposes of MI 52-110.   

Relevant Education and Experience 

Each member of the Audit Committee has extensive experience in dealing with financial statements, 
accounting issues, internal control and other related matters to public companies.  Mr. Isaacs has served as 
a director and/or senior officer of over 35 public companies. Mr. Gray has been a Chief Executive Officer 
and director of a public company. Mr. Myers is a UK Chartered Accountant with over 30 years of 
professional and business experience. He operates his own successful consulting practice providing clients 
with financial services including assistance with raising venture capital, tax consulting, financial systems 
implementation, and accounting.  
 
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

In the event that the Company wishes to retain the services of the Company’s external auditors for tax 
compliance, tax advice or tax planning, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company must consult with the 
chair of the audit committee, who has the authority to approve or disapprove on behalf of the audit 
committee, such non-audit services. All other permissible non-audit services shall be approved or 
disapproved by the audit Committee as a whole. 

The Company’s external auditors are prohibited from performing for the Company non-audit services of 
the following nature:  (a) bookkeeping or other services related to the Company’s accounting records or 
financial statements; (b) financial information systems design and implementation; (c) appraisal or 
valuation services, fairness opinion or contributions-in-kind reports; (d) actuarial services; (e) internal audit 
outsourcing services; (f) management functions; (g) human resources; (h) broker or dealer, investment 
adviser or investment banking services; (i) legal services; (j) expert services unrelated to the audit; and (k) 
any other service that the Canadian Public Accountability Board determines is impermissible. 



 

19 
 

External Auditor Service Fees 

The fees billed by the Company's external auditors in each of the last two financial years for audit and non-
audit related services provided to the Company or its subsidiaries (if any) are as follows: 

Financial Year Audit Fees Audit Related Fees Tax Fees(1) All other Fees 
2020 $145,000 $      - $      - Nil 
2019 $190,500 $      - $5,000 Nil 

(1) Fees paid for general tax services and amounts accrued for preparation of annual tax returns. 
 
Exemption 

The Company is relying on the exemption in section 6.1 of MI 52-110, which provides that, as a “venture 
issuer”, the Company is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 
5 (Reporting Obligations) of MI 52-110. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information relating to the Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Financial 
information is provided in the Company’s audited annual financial statements and accompanying 
management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) for the year ended June 30, 2020.  Shareholders may 
obtain copies of the Company’s financial statements and related MD&A by contacting the Company at 130 
Spadina Avenue, Suite 401, Toronto, Ontario M5V 2L4 or by telephone at (416) 941-8900.   

DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL 
 

The contents and sending of this Information Circular to each director and each shareholder whose proxy 
has been solicited, and to the auditor of the Company, have been approved by the Company’s directors. 
 

May 17, 2021 

BY THE ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 

“Sheldon Inwentash” 
____________________ 
Sheldon Inwentash 
Chief Executive Officer 



 

 

SCHEDULE “A” 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 

STOCK OPTION PLAN 

1. PURPOSE 

The purpose of this stock option plan (the “Plan”) is to authorize the grant to Eligible Persons (as such term 
is defined below) of ThreeD Capital Inc. (the “Corporation”) of options to purchase common shares (“shares”) of 
the Corporation's capital and thus benefit the Corporation by enabling it to attract, retain and motivate Eligible Persons 
by providing them with the opportunity, through share options, to acquire an increased proprietary interest in the 
Corporation. 

2. ADMINISTRATION 

The Plan shall be administered by the board of directors of the Corporation or a committee established by 
the board of directors for that purpose (the “Committee”). Subject to approval of the granting of options by the board 
of directors or Committee, as applicable, the Corporation shall grant options under the Plan. 

3. SHARES SUBJECT TO PLAN 

Subject to adjustment under the provisions of paragraph 12 hereof, the aggregate number of shares of the 
Corporation which may be issued and sold under the Plan will not exceed 20% of the total number of shares of the 
Corporation issued and outstanding from time to time. The total number of shares which may be reserved for issuance 
to any one individual under the Plan within any one year period shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding issue. 

The Corporation shall not, upon the exercise of any option, be required to issue or deliver any shares prior to 
(a) the admission of such shares to listing on any stock exchange on which the Corporation's shares may then be listed, 
and (b) the completion of such registration or other qualification of such shares under any law, rules or regulation as 
the Corporation shall determine to be necessary or advisable. 

The issuance of shares by the Corporation pursuant to the exercise of an option shall also be subject to the 
satisfaction of all applicable federal, provincial, state, local and foreign tax obligations, including obligations to make 
withholdings, deductions or remittances in respect of any taxable benefits of an optionee arising under this Plan or 
any option (“tax withholding obligations”). 

 
In order to satisfy in full any tax withholding obligations that may be imposed on the Corporation by 

applicable law, as a condition to the exercise of options, the Corporation may, in its sole discretion:  (i) require the 
optionee to remit to the Corporation a cash amount equal to such tax withholding obligations or (ii) require the optionee 
to instruct the Corporation to withhold shares that would otherwise be received by the optionee upon exercise of the 
options, sell such shares on behalf of the optionee, and remit the proceeds of such sale to the relevant taxing authority 
in satisfaction of the tax withholding obligations.  If the optionee fails to comply with the foregoing arrangements, or 
such other arrangement satisfactory to the Corporation, the optionee shall be deemed to have directed the Corporation, 
and the Corporation shall have to right, to deduct or withhold from all amounts payable by the Corporation to the 
optionee in the course of the optionee’s employment or engagement with the Corporation, such amounts sufficient to 
satisfy the tax withholding obligations.  The exercise of an option shall not be effective, and the Corporation shall not 
be obligated to issue any shares to an optionee pursuant to the exercise of an option, unless either of the foregoing 
arrangements, or such other arrangement satisfactory to the Corporation, has been made. 
 

If any shares cannot be issued to any optionee for whatever reason, the obligation of the Corporation to issue 
such shares shall terminate and any option exercise price paid to the Corporation (and any amount paid to the 
Corporation in respect of tax withholding obligations) shall be returned to the optionee. 

4. LIMITS WITH RESPECT TO INSIDERS 

(a) The maximum number of shares which may be reserved for issuance to insiders under the Plan, any 
other employer stock option plans or options for services, shall be 20% of the shares issued and 
outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). 



 

 

(b) The maximum number of shares which may be issued to insiders under the Plan, together with any 
other previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, within any one year 
period shall be 20% of the outstanding issue. The maximum number of shares which may be issued 
to any one insider and his or her associates under the Plan, together with any other previously 
established or proposed share compensation arrangements, within a one year period shall be 10% of 
the shares outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). 

5. ELIGIBILITY 

Options shall be granted only to Eligible Persons, any registered savings plan established by an Eligible 
Person or any corporation wholly-owned by an Eligible Person. The term “Eligible Person” means: 

(a) a senior officer or director of the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries; 

(b) either: 

(i) an individual who is considered an employee under the Income Tax Act, 

(ii) an individual who works full-time for the Corporation providing services normally 
provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and direction by the 
Corporation over the details and methods of work as an employee of the Corporation, but 
for whom income tax deductions are not made at source, or 

(iii) an individual who works for the Corporation on a continuing and regular basis for a 
minimum amount of time per week (the number of hours should be disclosed in the 
submission) providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to 
the same control and direction by the Corporation over the details and methods of work as 
an employee of the Corporation, but for whom income tax deductions are not made at 
source, 

any such individual, an “Employee”; 

(c) an individual employed by a corporation, incorporated association or organization, body corporate, 
partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual (a “Company”) or an 
individual (together with a Company, a “Person”) providing management services to the 
Corporation, which are required for the ongoing successful operation of the business enterprise of 
the Corporation, but excluding a Person engaged in Investor Relations Activities (as hereafter 
defined) (a “Management Company Employee”); 

(d) an individual (or a company or partnership of which the individual is an employee, shareholder or 
partner), other than an Employee, Management Company Employee, director or senior officer, who: 

(i) provides ongoing consulting services to the Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation 
under a written contract; 

(ii) possesses technical, business or management expertise of value to the Corporation or an 
Affiliate of the Corporation; 

 
(iii) spends a significant amount of time and attention on the business and affairs of the 

Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation; 

(iv) spends a significant amount of time and attention on the business and affairs of the 
Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation; 

(v) has a relationship with the Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation that enables the 
individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Corporation; and 

(vi) does not engage in Investor Relations Activities (as hereafter defined) 



 

 

any such individual, a “Consultant”;  

(e) an individual (or a company or partnership of which the individual is an employee, shareholder or 
partner), other than an Employee, Management Company Employee, director or senior officer, that 
falls within the definition of Consultant contained in subsections 5(d)(i) through (iv) which provides 
Investor Relations Activities (an “Investor Relations Consultant”); or 

(f) a Person that falls within the definition of Eligible Person contained in any of subsections 5(a), (b) 
or (d) which provides Investor Relations Activities (an “Investor Relations Person”). 

For purposes of the foregoing, a Company is an “Affiliate” of another Company if: (a) one of them is the subsidiary 
of the other; or (b) each of them is controlled by the same Person. 
 
The term “Investor Relations Activities” means any activities or oral or written communications, by or on behalf of 
the Corporation or shareholder of the Corporation, that promote or reasonably could be expected to promote the 
purchase or sale of securities of the Corporation, but does not include: 
 

(g) the dissemination of information provided, or records prepared, in the ordinary course of business 
of the Corporation 

(i) to promote the sale of products or services of the Corporation, or 

(ii) to raise public awareness of the Corporation, 

(iii) that cannot reasonably be considered to promote the purchase or sale of securities of the 
Corporation; 

(h) activities or communications necessary to comply with the requirements of 

(i) applicable securities laws, policies or regulations, 

(ii) the rules, and regulations of the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) or the by-laws, 
rules or other regulatory instruments of any other self regulatory body or exchange having 
jurisdiction over the Corporation; 

(iii) communications by a publisher of, or writer for, a newspaper, magazine or business or 
financial publication, that is of general and regular paid circulation, distributed only to 
subscribers to it for value or to purchasers of it, if 

(1) the communication is only through the newspaper, magazine or publication, and 

 

(2) the publisher or writer received no commission or other consideration other than 
for acting in the capacity of publisher or writer; or 

(i) activities or communications that may be otherwise specified by the CSE. 

For stock options to Employees, Consultants, Management Company Employees or Investor Relations Persons, the 
Corporation must represent that the optionee is a bona fide Employee, Consultant, Management Company Employee  
or Investor Relations Person as the case may be. The terms “insider”, “controlled” and “subsidiary” shall have the 
meanings ascribed thereto in the Securities Act (Ontario) from time to time. Subject to the foregoing, the board of 
directors or Committee, as applicable, shall have full and final authority to determine the persons who are to be granted 
options under the Plan and the number of shares subject to each option. 
 
6. LIMITS WITH RESPECT TO CONSULTANTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS PERSONS 

(a) The maximum number of stock options which may be granted to any one Consultant under the Plan, 
any other employer stock options plans or options for services, within any 12 month period, must 
not exceed 2% of the shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). 



 

 

(b) The maximum number of stock options which may be granted to Investor Relations Persons under 
the Plan, any other employer stock options plans or options for services, within any 12 month period 
must not exceed, in the aggregate, 2% of the shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant 
(on a non-diluted basis). 

7. PRICE 

The purchase price (the “Price”) for the shares of the Corporation under each option shall be determined by 
the board of directors or Committee, as applicable, on the basis of the market price, where “market price” shall mean 
the prior trading day closing price of the shares of the Corporation on any stock exchange on which the shares are 
listed or last trading price on the prior trading day on any dealing network where the shares trade, and where there is 
no such closing price or trade on the prior trading day, “market price'' shall mean the average of the daily high and 
low board lot trading prices of the shares of the Corporation on any stock exchange on which the shares are listed or 
dealing network on which the shares of the Corporation trade for the five (5) immediately preceding trading days. The 
price may be the market price less any discounts from the market price allowed by the CSE. The approval of 
disinterested shareholders will be required for any reduction in the Price of a previously granted option to an insider 
of the Corporation. 

8. PERIOD OF OPTION AND RIGHTS TO EXERCISE 

Subject to the provisions of this paragraph 8 and paragraphs 9, 10 and 17 below, options will be exercisable 
in whole or in part, and from time to time, during the currency thereof. Options shall not be granted for a term 
exceeding five years. The shares to be purchased upon each exercise of any option (the “optioned shares”) shall be 
paid for in full at the time of such exercise. Except as provided in paragraphs 9, 10 and 17 below, no option which is 
held by a service provider may be exercised unless the optionee is then a service provider for the Corporation. 

9. CESSATION OF PROVISION OF SERVICES 

Subject to paragraph 10 below, if any optionee who is a service provider shall cease to be an Eligible Person 
of the Corporation for any reason (whether or not for cause) the optionee may, but only within the period of ninety 
days (unless such period is extended by the board of directors or the Committee, as applicable, and approval is obtained 
from the stock exchange on which the shares of the Corporation trade), or thirty days if the Eligible Person is an 
Investor Relations Person (unless such period is extended by the board of directors or the Committee, as applicable, 
and approval is obtained from the stock exchange on which the shares of the Corporation trade), next succeeding such 
cessation and in no event after the expiry date of the optionee's option, exercise the optionee's option unless such 
period is extended as provided in paragraph 10 below.  

10. DEATH OF OPTIONEE 

In the event of the death of an optionee during the currency of the optionee's option, the option theretofore 
granted to the optionee shall be exercisable within, but only within, the period of one year next succeeding the 
optionee's death (unless such period is extended by the board of directors or the Committee, as applicable, and approval 
is obtained from the stock exchange on which the shares of the Corporation trade). Before expiry of an option under 
this paragraph 10, the board of directors or Committee, as applicable, shall notify the optionee's representative in 
writing of such expiry. 

11. NON-ASSIGNABILITY AND NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTION 

An option granted under the Plan shall be non-assignable and non-transferable by an optionee otherwise than 
by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and such option shall be exercisable, during an optionee's lifetime, 
only by the optionee. 

12. ADJUSTMENTS IN SHARES SUBJECT TO PLAN 

The aggregate number and kind of shares available under the Plan shall be appropriately adjusted in the event 
of a reorganization, recapitalization, stock split, stock dividend, combination of shares, merger, consolidation, rights 
offering or any other change in the corporate structure or shares of the Corporation. The options granted under the 
Plan may contain such provisions as the board of directors, or Committee, as applicable, may determine with respect 
to adjustments to be made in the number and kind of shares covered by such options and in the option price in the 



 

 

event of any such change. If there is a reduction in the exercise price of the options of an insider of the Corporation, 
the Corporation will be required to obtain approval from disinterested shareholders. 

13. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF THE PLAN 

The board of directors or Committee, as applicable, may at any time amend or terminate the Plan, but where 
amended, such amendment is subject to regulatory approval. 

14. EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE PLAN 

The Plan becomes effective on the date of its approval by the shareholders of the Corporation. 

15. EVIDENCE OF OPTIONS 

Each option granted under the Plan shall be embodied in a written option agreement between the Corporation 
and the optionee which shall give effect to the provisions of the Plan. 

16. EXERCISE OF OPTION 

Subject to the provisions of the Plan and the particular option, an option may be exercised from time to time 
by delivering to the Corporation at its registered office a written notice of exercise specifying the number of shares 
with respect to which the option is being exercised and accompanied by payment in cash or certified cheque for the 
full amount of the purchase price of the shares then being purchased (and, if applicable, the full amount payable in 
respect of tax withholding obligations). 

Upon receipt of a certificate of an authorized officer directing the issue of shares purchased under the Plan, 
the transfer agent is authorized and directed to issue and countersign share certificates for the optioned shares in the 
name of such optionee or the optionee's legal personal representative or as may be directed in writing by the optionee's 
legal personal representative. 

17. VESTING RESTRICTIONS 

Options issued under the Plan may vest at the discretion of the board of directors or Committee, as applicable, 
provided that if required by any stock exchange on which the shares of the Corporation trade, options issued to Investor 
Relations Consultants must vest in stages over not less than 12 months with no more than one-quarter (1/4) of the 
options vesting in any three month period. 

18. NOTICE OF SALE OF ALL OR SUBSTANTIALLY ALL SHARES OR ASSETS 

If at any time when an option granted under this Plan remains unexercised with respect to any optioned 
shares: 

(a) the Corporation seeks approval from its shareholders for a transaction which, if completed, would 
constitute an Acceleration Event; or 

(b) a third party makes a bona fide formal offer or proposal to the Corporation or its shareholders which, 
if accepted, would constitute an Acceleration Event; 

the Corporation shall notify the optionee in writing of such transaction, offer or proposal as soon as practicable and, 
provided that the board of directors or Committee, as applicable, has determined that no adjustment shall be made 
pursuant to section 12 hereof, (i) the board of directors or Committee, as applicable, may permit the optionee to 
exercise the option granted under this Plan, as to all or any of the optioned shares in respect of which such option has 
not previously been exercised (regardless of any vesting restrictions), during the period specified in the notice (but in 
no event later than the expiry date of the option), so that the optionee may participate in such transaction, offer or 
proposal; and (ii) the board of directors or Committee, as applicable, may require the acceleration of the time for the 
exercise of the said option and of the time for the fulfilment of any conditions or restrictions on such exercise. 

 
 
 
 



 

 

For these purposes, an Acceleration Event means: 

(a) the acquisition by any “offeror” (as defined in Part XX of the Securities Act (Ontario)) of beneficial 
ownership of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Corporation, by means of a 
take-over bid or otherwise; 

(b) any consolidation or merger of the Corporation in which the Corporation is not the continuing or 
surviving corporation or pursuant to which shares of the Corporation would be converted into cash, 
securities or other property, other than a merger of the Corporation in which shareholders 
immediately prior to the merger have the same proportionate ownership of stock of the surviving 
corporation immediately after the merger; 

(c) any sale, lease exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of 
all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation; or 

(d) the approval by the shareholders of the Corporation of any plan of liquidation or dissolution of the 
Corporation. 

19. RIGHTS PRIOR TO EXERCISE 

An optionee shall have no rights whatsoever as a shareholder in respect of any of the optioned shares 
(including any right to receive dividends or other distributions therefrom or thereon) other than in respect of optioned 
shares in respect of which the optionee shall have exercised the option to purchase hereunder and which the optionee 
shall have actually taken up and paid for. 

20. HOLD PERIOD 

In addition to any resale restrictions of applicable securities laws, policies or regulations, where options are 
granted by a Tier 2 issuer of the CSE, or where the exercise price of the option is based on the Discounted Market 
Price, as such term is defined by the policies of the CSE, all options and any shares issued on the exercise of options 
must be legended with a four month CSE hold period commencing on the date the options were granted. 

 
21. GOVERNING LAW 

This Plan shall be construed in accordance with and be governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario and 
shall be deemed to have been made in said Province, and shall be in accordance with all applicable securities laws. 

22. EXPIRY OF OPTION 

On the expiry date of any option granted under the Plan, and subject to any extension of such expiry date 
permitted in accordance with the Plan, such option hereby granted shall forthwith expire and terminate and be of no 
further force or effect whatsoever as to such of the optioned shares in respect of which the option has not been 
exercised. 

 

 

 

  



 

 

SCHEDULE “B” 

THREED CAPITAL INC. 

Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 

I PURPOSE 

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is appointed by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of ThreeD Capital 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to financial accounting 
and reporting process and internal controls for the Corporation. The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities 
are to: 
 

• conduct such reviews and discussions with management and the external auditors relating to the 
audit and financial reporting as are deemed appropriate by the Committee; 

 
• assess the integrity of internal controls and financial reporting procedures of the Corporation and 

ensure implementation of such controls and procedures; 
 
• ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, if necessary, adopting a 

corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel; 
 
• review the quarterly and annual financial statements and management's discussion and analysis of 

the Corporation's financial position and operating results and report thereon to the Board for 
approval of same;  

 
• select and monitor the independence and performance of the Corporation's external auditors, 

including attending at private meetings with the external auditors and reviewing and approving all 
renewals or dismissals of the external auditors and their remuneration;  

 
• reviews and approves all non-audit related engagements of the Corporation’s auditors; and  
 
• provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Corporation. 
 

The Committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to its responsibilities, and it may request 
the external auditors as well as any officer of the Corporation, or outside counsel for the Corporation, to attend a 
meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or advisors to, the Committee.  The Committee shall have 
unrestricted access to the books and records of the Corporation and has the authority to retain, at the expense of the 
Corporation, special legal, accounting, or other consultants or experts to assist in the performance of the Committee’s 
duties.  
 
The Committee shall review and assess the adequacy of this Charter annually and submit any proposed revisions to 
the Board for approval. 
 
In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Committee will carry out the specific duties set out in Part IV of this Charter.  
 
II AUTHORITY OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Committee shall have the authority to: 
(a) engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties; 

(b) set and pay the compensation for advisors employed by the Committee; and 

(c) communicate directly with the internal and external auditors. 

(d) set and pay the compensation for advisors employed by the Committee; and 

(e) communicate directly with the internal and external auditors. 



 

 

III COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS 

1. The Committee and its membership shall meet all applicable legal, regulatory and listing requirements, 
including, without limitation, those of the Ontario Securities Commission (“OSC”), the Canadian Securities 
Exchange, the Business Corporations Act (Canada) and all applicable securities regulatory authorities. 

2. The Committee shall be composed of three or more directors as shall be designated by the Board from time 
to time. The members of the Committee shall appoint from among themselves a member who shall serve as 
Chair. 

3. A majority of the members of the Committee shall be “independent” and shall be “financially literate” (as 
each such term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-110). 

4. The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, at the discretion of the Chair or a majority of its members, as 
circumstances dictate or as may be required by applicable legal or listing requirements. A minimum of two 
and at least 50% of the members of the Committee present either in person or by telephone shall constitute a 
quorum. 

5. If within one hour of the time appointed for a meeting of the Committee, a quorum is not present, the meeting 
shall stand adjourned to the same hour on the next business day following the date of such meeting at the 
same place. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present within one hour of 
the time appointed for such adjourned meeting, such meeting shall stand adjourned to the same hour on the 
second business day following the date of such meeting at the same place. If at the second adjourned meeting 
a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present, the quorum for the adjourned meeting shall consist of the 
members then present. 

6. If and whenever a vacancy shall exist, the remaining members of the Committee may exercise all of its 
powers and responsibilities so long as a quorum remains in office.  

7. The time and place at which meetings of the Committee shall be held, and procedures at such meetings, shall 
be determined from time to time by the Committee. A meeting of the Committee may be called by letter, 
telephone, facsimile, email or other communication equipment, by giving at least 48 hours notice, provided 
that no notice of a meeting shall be necessary if all of the members are present either in person or by means 
of conference telephone or if those absent have waived notice or otherwise signified their consent to the 
holding of such meeting. 

8. Any member of the Committee may participate in the meeting of the Committee by means of conference 
telephone or other communication equipment, and the member participating in a meeting pursuant to this 
paragraph shall be deemed, for purposes hereof, to be present in person at the meeting. 

9. The Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings which shall be submitted to the Board. The Committee 
may, from time to time, appoint any person who need not be a member, to act as a secretary at any meeting. 

10. The Committee may invite such officers, directors and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries as 
the Committee may see fit, from time to time, to attend at meetings of the Committee. 

11. Any matters to be determined by the Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of 
the Committee called for such purpose. Actions of the Committee may be taken by an instrument or 
instruments in writing signed by all of the members of the Committee, and such actions shall be effective as 
though they had been decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of the Committee called for such 
purpose. All decisions or recommendations of the Committee shall require the approval of the Board prior to 
implementation. 

12. Any matters to be determined by the Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of 
the Committee called for such purpose. Actions of the Committee may be taken by an instrument or 
instruments in writing signed by all of the members of the Committee, and such actions shall be effective as 
though they had been decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of the Committee called for such 
purpose. All decisions or recommendations of the Committee shall require the approval of the Board prior to 
implementation. 



 

 

The Committee members will be elected annually at the first meeting of the Board following the annual general 
meeting of shareholders. 
 
IV RESPONSIBILITIES 

A Financial Accounting and Reporting Process and Internal Controls 

1. The Committee shall review the annual audited financial statements to satisfy itself that they are presented 
in accordance with applicable international financial reporting standards (“IFRS”) and report thereon to the 
Board and recommend to the Board whether or not same should be approved prior to their being filed with 
the appropriate regulatory authorities.  The Committee shall also review the interim financial statements. 
With respect to the annual audited financial statements, the Committee shall discuss significant issues 
regarding accounting principles, practices, and judgments of management with management and the external 
auditors and have meetings with the Corporation’s auditors without management present, as and when the 
Committee deems it appropriate to do so.  The Committee shall satisfy itself that the information contained 
in the annual audited financial statements is not significantly erroneous, misleading or incomplete and that 
the audit function has been effectively carried out. 

2. The Committee shall review any internal control reports prepared by management and the evaluation of such 
report by the external auditors, together with management’s response. 

3. The Committee shall be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Corporation’s 
public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Corporation’s financial statements, 
management’s discussion and analysis and interim earnings press releases, and periodically assess the 
adequacy of these procedures. 

4. The Committee shall review management’s discussion and analysis relating to annual and interim financial 
statements and any other public disclosure documents, including interim earnings press releases, that are 
required to be reviewed by the Committee under any applicable laws, before the Corporation publicly 
discloses this information. 

5. The Committee shall meet no less frequently than annually with the external auditors and the Chief Financial 
Officer or, in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer, with the officer of the Corporation in charge of 
financial matters, to review accounting practices, internal controls and such other matters as the Committee, 
Chief Financial Officer or, in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer, the officer of the Corporation in charge 
of financial matters, deem appropriate. 

6. The Committee shall inquire of management and the external auditors about significant risks or exposures, 
both internal and external, to which the Corporation may be subject, and assess the steps management has 
taken to minimize such risks. 

7. The Committee shall review the post-audit or management letter containing the recommendations of the 
external auditors and management’s response and subsequent follow-up to any identified weaknesses. 

8. The Committee shall ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, if necessary, 
adopting a corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel. 

9. The Committee shall ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, if necessary, 
adopting a corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel. 

10. The Committee shall establish procedures for: 

(a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, 
internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and 

(b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation of concerns regarding 
questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

11. The Committee shall provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Corporation.  



 

 

B Independent Auditors 

1. The Committee shall recommend to the Board the external auditors to be nominated, shall set the 
compensation for the external auditors, provide oversight of the external auditors and shall ensure that the 
external auditors report directly to the Committee. 

2. The Committee shall be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors, including the 
resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditors regarding financial reporting. 

3. The Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services not prohibited by law to be provided by 
the external auditors in accordance with this Charter. 

4. The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between management and the external auditors and 
monitor, support and assure the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. 

5. The Committee shall review the external auditors’ audit plan, including the scope, procedures and timing of 
the audit. 

6. The Committee shall review the results of the annual audit with the external auditors, including matters 
related to the conduct of the audit. 

7. The Committee shall obtain timely reports from the external auditors describing critical accounting policies 
and practices, alternative treatments of information within IFRS that were discussed with management, their 
ramifications, and the external auditors' preferred treatment and material written communications between 
the Corporation and the external auditors. 

8. The Committee shall review fees paid by the Corporation to the external auditors and other professionals in 
respect of audit and non-audit services on an annual basis. 

9. The Committee shall review and approve the Corporation's hiring policies regarding partners, employees and 
former partners and employees of the present and former auditors of the Corporation. 

10. The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between management and the external auditors and 
monitor and support the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. 

C Other Responsibilities 

The Committee shall perform any other activities consistent with this Charter and governing law, as the Committee 
or the Board deems necessary or appropriate. 
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